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Sustaining profitability



VISION
An African airline with global reach.

MISSION
To deliver sustainable profits and grow our market share  
through world‑class service to our customers internally  

and externally.

CORE BUSINESS
Movement of people and goods by air.

VALUES
SAFETY

Adopting a zero‑defect philosophy and striving for zero accidents 
through proper training, work practices, risk management and 

adherence to safety regulations at all times.

VALUING OUR PEOPLE
Committing to their satisfaction, development and well‑being by 

treating them with respect, dignity and fairness.

CUSTOMER FOCUSED
Striving to meet the unique needs of our customers (internal and 
external) by tailoring each interaction to suit their specific needs.

ACCOUNTABILITY
Taking responsibility for individual and team actions, decisions 

and results by establishing clear plans and goals and measuring 
our progress against them.

INTEGRITY
Practising the highest standards of ethical behaviour in all our 
lines of work and maintaining credibility by making certain that 

our actions consistently match our words.

EXCELLENCE IN PERFORMANCE
Setting goals beyond the best, reinforcing high‑quality 
performance standards and achieving excellence by  

implementing best practices.
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OUR YEAR IN REVIEW
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•	 Appointment	of	the	new	Board	and	CEO.

•	 On	time	performance	consistently	exceeding	the	target	of	85%.

•	 African	routes	remain	our	most	profitable	market	segment.

•	 R596‑million	pre‑tax	profit	at	group	level	despite	an	exceptionally	tough	year	 
for	the	aviation	industry	globally.

•	 Hedging	losses	decline	to	R120‑million	from	the	previous	year’s	R1	046‑million.	

•	 Cash	generated	from	operations	increased	significantly	to	R1,7‑billion	from	a	
deficit	of	R1,8‑billion	in	the	previous	year.

•	 Resolution	of	Airbus	A320	agreement	allows	measured	growth	phase	in	our	fleet.

•	 R1,5‑billion	equity	injection	from	the	Shareholder	used	to	repay	a	R1,5‑billion	
subordinated	loan.

•	 Governance	issues	came	under	the	spotlight.

•	 The	year	under	review	was	an	especially	difficult	one	given	the	worldwide	recession	
and	its	impact	on	the	global	aviation	industry.

•	 The	implementation	of	the	IFRC	13:	Customer	Loyalty	Programme	which	had	
the effect	of	changing	from	providing	for	the	potential	obligation	to	a	frequent	flyer	
member	from	an	incremental	cost	basis	to	a	fair	value	basis.

HIGHLIGHTS

CHALLENGES
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2005/06 2006/07 2007/08 2008/09 2009/10

 Rand million Restated

GROUp STATEMENT OF COMpREHENSIVE 
INCOME DATA

Turnover 15 347 17 021 19 270 20 045 16 941
Total airline income 19 128 20 524 22 257 26 376 22 263

Operating profit/(loss) before fair value movements:

Before restructuring costs (reversals) 395 (650) (27) 2 372 1 067

After restructuring costs (reversals) 395 (650) (1 372) 1 898 1 227

Net profit/(loss) for the year 65 (883) (1 085) 402 581
Earnings/(loss) per share (cents) 2 (12) (10) 4 5

GROUp OpERATING DATA

Capacity – (million)
Available seat kilometres (ASKs)** 35 222 33 671 32 681 29 980 29 850

Traffic

Revenue passenger kilometres (RPKs) (million) 24 488 25 381 24 619 21 935 21 081

Revenue passengers (thousands) 7 158 7 727 7 444 6 898 6 735
Cargo – tons flown (thousands) 185 202 186 138 119

Utilisation

Passenger load factor 70% 75% 75% 73% 71%

Yield (RRPK)(1) – Passenger 0,52 0,56 0,67 0,79 0,68

Passenger revenue (R million) 12 747 14 230 16 527 17 343 14 598

Yield (RASK)(2) – Turnover 0,44 0,51 0,59 0,67 0,57

Yield (RASK)(2) – Total airline income 0,54 0,61 0,68 0,88 0,75
Unit cost (CASKs)(3)* 0,54 0,64 0,68 0,82 0,72

Labour cost 0,09 0,10 0,10 0,11 0,14

Energy 0,14 0,17 0,20 0,29 0,17

Material cost 0,04 0,05 0,06 0,06 0,07

Depreciation and amortisation 0,02 0,02 0,02 0,02 0,03
Other operating cost 0,25 0,30 0,30 0,34 0,31

* Before restructuring costs and exceptional items.
** Lower available seat kilometres due to the grounding of the Boeing 747-400 fleet.
(1) RRPK – Yield per revenue passenger kilometres.
(2) RASK – Revenue per available seat kilometres.
(3) CASK – Cost per available seat kilometres.
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MANGO AIRCHEFS SATCSAA
TECHNICAL

SAA celebrated its 75th anniversary in 2009 and is one of the oldest airlines in the world. SAA is also the 
leading carrier in Africa serving 20 destinations across the continent, as well as major destinations within 
South Africa, from its hub, Johannesburg. It is a member of the largest international airline network, Star 
Alliance. SAA’s core business is the provision of passenger airline and cargo transport services together with 
related services, which are provided through SAA and its four wholly owned subsidiaries.

•   SAA Technical (SAAT) is the sole provider of aircraft maintenance to SAA, and supplies line maintenance 
to over 25 other domestic, regional and international airlines. Major maintenance is supplied to four other 
ongoing customers.

•   Mango is SAA’s low cost carrier and was established in late 2006. Mango pursues the ultra low cost 
model through a young fleet, high utilisation and lean organisation. Mango has four aircraft and operates 
to five destinations, carrying close to 1,5‑million passengers a year.

•   Airchefs, the catering arm of SAA, provides catering services to a number of airlines in addition to SAA.

•   South African Travel Centre (SATC), was set up 15 years ago and is an integral part of SAA’s distribution 
network. SATC is also one of SAA’s most cost effective sales channels and amongst the airline’s best 
contributors in terms of fulfilment of customer service.

ABOUT SOUTH AFRICAN AIRWAYS
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DOMESTIC

SAA has the most extensive domestic 
schedule which is enhanced by its partners, 
South African Express Airways (SAX) and 
SA Airlink. Additionally SAA moves 60% of 
all air cargo in South Africa.

INTERNATIONAL

SAA’s international network creates links 
to all continents from South Africa through 
10 direct routes and 19 code shares. SAA 
accounts for approximately 38% of all 
international arrivals to South Africa and 
through its Star Alliance membership 
offers 19 700 daily flights serving 1 077 
airports in 157 countries.

REGIONAL/AFRICA

SAA is one of the leading carriers in Africa 
offering over 20 destinations across the 
continent.

SAA STRUCTURESAA, Africa’s most awarded 
airline, operates in three 
distinct markets for its core 
services: SAA



AFRICA’S MOST AWARDED AIRLINE
Awards and titles presented to SAA.
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South African Airways receives a host of awards every year  
in support of its position as the top airline in Africa.  

Awards presented to SAA in 2009 were:

Best Scheduled Airline in Africa
Travel Weekly Globe Awards

Africa’s Leading Airline
World Travel Awards

In May 2010 SAA was voted for the 8th consecutive year as 
Best Airline in Africa and winner in the category Staff Service 

Excellence Africa

Best Airline in Africa
Skytrax Customer Satisfaction Survey

Best Airline for flights to Africa
Executive Travel Magazine (USA)

Best African Air Cargo
Air Cargo Magazine

Best Airline Stand at Indaba 
Africa’s annual Travel and Tourism Exhibition 

Coolest Domestic Airline Brand
Sunday Times/Generation Next Awards

Best Airline to Africa 
Tanzania Tourism Award

Best Domestic Airline  
(Business to Consumer)

Sunday Times Top Brands Awards
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CHAIRpERSON’S REpORT
Cheryl Carolus

The global aviation industry 
endured what proved to 
be an exceptionally tough 
year during 2009. Declining 
passenger numbers 
and a slow recovery from 
the effects of the global 
economic crisis posed 
serious challenges for all 
airlines. Despite these 
challenges, SAA managed 
to record positive financial 
results.

The global financial crisis ushered in the deepest recession since 

the 1930s. The downturn affected all airlines, including SAA. 

Prevailing market trends during the reporting period included 

dwindling passenger numbers, and a marked shift from premium 

to low‑cost travel. 

ReTAining The benefiTS of ReSTRuCTuRing

In these challenging circumstances, SAA’s financial and operational 

performance has been exceptional. Given the downturn in the 

aviation industry internationally, SAA’s restructuring programme 

– which began in March 2007 – seems appropriately timed. The 

overarching objectives of this programme have been to reduce 

cost, increase revenue and maximise efficiency gains. The effects 

of the restructuring programme – particularly cost containment 

and revenue improvements have now been integrated into the 

core strategy of the organisation.

SAA intends to maintain and build on the positive effects of the 

restructuring programme, providing us with opportunities for 

further improvements as new priorities emerge.

going ConCeRn

SAA’s successful restructuring has provided assurance that the 

airline should be in a position to continue generating profits, 

provided that the economic environment does not deteriorate 

sharply. Much good work has been done, and I would once again 

like to commend Boards past and present, as well as the executive 

team, for maintaining profitability in difficult circumstances. At the 

same time, I would like to reiterate that more work needs to be 

done to secure our underlying financial stability, particularly to 

strengthen SAA’s financial position.
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In recent years SAA has been severely undercapitalised, which 

has on occasion created a severe handicap, especially given that 

the business can be dramatically affected by the price of fuel 

and the exchange rate. In addition, the airline industry inter‑

nationally has suffered from the impact of fixed operating costs 

and concurrently declining passenger volumes stemming from 

the worldwide downturn.

The positive role played by the Department of Public Enterprises 

has been crucial. During the year, the shareholder agreed to 

SAA’s request for a R1,5‑billion equity injection, which was used 

to repay a R1,5‑billion subordinated loan from government. This 

has relieved the airline’s debt servicing obligation, and significantly 

improved its cash position and profitability.

Over the medium term, the Board intends to develop SAA into 

a self‑sustaining business.

CoRpoRATe goveRnAnCe

In February 2009, the Board commissioned a forensic investigation 

by an independent firm, KPMG, following a number of allegations 

of possible irregularities relating to transactions to which the airline 

was party. In the main, the allegations related to non‑compliance 

with the Public Finance Management Act (1999) (PFMA) in terms 

of tender processes and supply chain management; non‑compliance 

with specific sections of the Companies Act (1973); and non‑

adherence to the airline’s Delegation of Authority Framework.

For the Board, timely conclusion of the investigation with the 

appropriate course of action mapped out was a high priority. To 

this end disciplinary action, as well as measures to recover 

monies where the airline has suffered losses, will form part of 

the Board’s course of action. In deciding on the final action, the 

Board will weigh the costs and benefits of pursuing legal action.

The Board has also taken note of matters emanating from non‑

compliance with competition laws in South Africa and other 

jurisdictions. During the reporting period, the Competition 

Commission began a new investigation into pricing during the 

2010 FIFA World Cup™. SAA is committed to cooperating fully 

with the authorities. The Board takes very seriously any suggestion 

that the airline is abusing its dominant position in the local market, 

and is determined to remain vigilant in ensuring competition 

law compliance.

The Board will focus on ensuring good corporate governance as 

part of our enhanced risk management efforts, and overseeing 

the overall compliance and internal audit environments. We will 

extend our oversight to include responding to the environmental 

impact of our operations. Environmentally harmful practices not 

only affect our natural environment: they also impose higher 

costs. Emissions legislation in Europe, for example, aimed at 

effectively taxing airlines operating in European airspace comes 

into effect in the coming year, and could significantly add to the 

operating costs on these routes. We remain committed to 

running the airline in a manner that causes the least harm to 

the environment.

TRAnSfoRMATion

SAA strives to be exemplary in social responsibility and in 

transformation. We will continue to contribute to the government’s 

developmental objectives. Over and above delivering on the core 

mandate of transporting passengers and cargo – which is key for 

the country’s economic growth and development – SAA remains 

committed to broad‑based black economic empowerment 

(BBBEE) as outlined in the BBBEE charter for the transport 

and aviation sector. As part of the national effort to eradicate 

inequality and discrimination, SAA will also continue its drive to 

improve employment equity and increase management diversity 

in race, gender and disability. Our ultimate objective in this regard 

is to create a competitive, world‑class company that draws on 

the growing pool of highly skilled professionals and reflects the 

diversity of the people of South Africa. As staff development is 

important, we pay a great deal of attention to succession planning, 

training, diversity management and retention of key employees.

boARD

The reporting period has been one of fresh beginnings, with an 

almost entirely new Board appointed, and the appointment of 

the CEO, Ms Siza Mzimela. The Board is delighted to welcome 

Ms Mzimela back to the SAA family. She will have our full support 

as she leads her team in taking SAA to new heights.

I also extend a warm welcome to the new Board members, 

whom I am confident will provide the range of expertise and 

experience needed. They have the passion and commitment to 

deliver the success that our shareholder, passengers and freight 

forwarders expect of SAA.

Our sincere thanks go to Mr Chris Smyth, who, as acting CEO, 

has done outstanding work by piloting the company through 

turbulent times. 

We also extend our thanks and gratitude to former Board 

Chairperson Professor Jakes Gerwel, who for the past six years 

has helped SAA weather some of its harshest storms. We thank 

the members of the outgoing Board whose valuable input and 

insights have contributed to a comparatively smooth year despite 

the harsh economic conditions.

Looking AheAD

The Board looks to the future with cautious optimism. We 

remain committed to SAA’s vision, which is to be an African 

airline with global reach. We will continue to work tirelessly 

to build an airline that is safe, environmentally and socially 

responsible, and sustainably profitable. We will use the platform 

created by the successful restructuring programme to build the 

business over the year ahead and beyond. We take pride in the 

Chairperson’s Report (continued)
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fact that even during this tough economic period, we have been 

able to consolidate and maintain the vast majority of our routes 

while keeping in mind our broad intention to grow – particularly 

where we have a competitive advantage, such as in Africa.

Our optimism is reflected also in South Africa’s successful 

hosting of the 2010 FIFA World Cup™ during the new reporting 

period. The world’s largest sporting event provided an excellent 

opportunity to showcase South Africa in all its diversity and 

splendour.

It was our pleasure to adapt the national carrier’s operations 

and efficiently carry out the demanding schedules for this 

monumental event. Beyond the World Cup, SAA looks forward 

to continuing its collaboration with other key role players in 

promoting South Africa as a business and tourism destination. 

I am sure that our family of 8 034 SAA staff will take to the skies 

to meet the challenges ahead and, by extension, raise South 

Africa’s flag proudly on the global stage. 

 

 

 

 

Cheryl Carolus

29 June 2010

Chairperson’s Report (continued)
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MS CheRyL A CARoLuS 
Chairperson 
BA (Law), BA (Education).

Cheryl Carolus is Executive Chairperson of Peotona Group Holdings. She was appointed Chairperson of the 
Board of South African Airways (2009) and serves on a number of listed and unlisted companies. She also 
works with NGO’s around young people at risk, conservation and conflict prevention. She has held senior 
leadership positions in the liberation movement in South Africa and in the African National Congress since 
its unbanning in 1990 – 1997. She served as Deputy Secretary General under Nelson Mandela in the ANC. 
She was part of the ANC’s teams that negotiated the new Constitution and she coordinated the drafting of 
ANC policy for post apartheid South Africa. She served as South Africa’s High Commissioner to the United 
Kingdom (1998 – 2001). She was the CEO of SA Tourism 2001 – 2004. She was Chairperson of the South 
African National Parks board for six years and currently serves on the boards of WWF SA and WWF 
International and the International Crisis Group.

NON‑EXECUTIVE CHAIRpERSON

MR TeDDy DAkA
Bachelor of Arts honours degree (Business Management), a Certificate in Education, Executive Programmes. 

Teddy Daka is the founder and Executive Chairman of Tedaka Investments (Pty) Ltd, an investment company 
with interests in various industries. He is a director and shareholder in companies including, Aurecon Pte Ltd, 
Ansys Ltd (Chairman), ADC‑Krone Telecommunication Africa (Pty) Ltd, Connection 42 (Pty) Ltd (Chairman), 
Levetec (Pty) Ltd, Tedaka Telecoms (Pty) Ltd (Chairman), Verify Solutions (Pty) Ltd (Chairman), Bearing 
Management Consulting (Pty) Ltd (Chairman); and Chairman of SAA Technical (Pty) Ltd.

MR TukeLA C JAnTJieS
Personnel Management Diploma, Management Development Programme and Personnel  
Management Programme. 

Tukela Jantjies is currently Director and Chairman of the Middledrift Dairy (Pty) Ltd. He is also Chairman of 
the Community Trust. He was CEO of the King Sandile Development Trust; a Director of Management 
Services of Boksburg Municipality, Human Resources Director and later an Area General Manager in Blow 
Moulders of Nampak Ltd.

NON‑EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

MR AbeL i bouChon
BA Economics, Ingeniero Comercial, Chile, Santiago, MBA, Wharton School, University of Pennsylvania, 
Strategic Management and Finance.

Abel Bouchon is CEO of Embotelladora Andina, in Chile, Santiago, the third largest bottler company for Coca 
Cola products in Latin America. Previously he was Chief Executive of LAN Airlines of the International 
Passengers Service Division, SVP Commercial responsible for the entire passenger service business unit and 
Chief Executive of the Chilean Domestic Passengers Service Division. He is also a Board member of three 
companies in Chile.
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Board of Directors (continued)

NON‑EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

MS yAkhe kwinAnA
CA(SA); B Compt Honours; B Com Honours; Diploma in Banking; Higher Diploma in Computer Auditing.

Yakhe Kwinana is currently Managing Director of Kwinana and Associates. She was previously a council 
member of the Air Services Licensing Council, and the Debt Collectors Council and SITA as Chairperson of 
the Audit Committee.

MR RuSSeLL M LoubSeR
CA (SA) and MCom in Statistics. 

Russel Loubser was appointed to the Board in 2009 and member of the Audit and Nominations Committee. 
He is the CEO of the JSE. Until his appointment at the JSE, he was Executive Director of financial markets 
at Rand Merchant Bank Limited (RMB). He joined RMB from Finansbank and was part of the team which 
started the futures industry in South Africa. He was Chairman of SAFEX, is an Extraordinary Professor in 
Mercantile Law at the University of Pretoria and was appointed to the University’s Council in 2007. He is 
a member of the King Committee on and serves on the Board of Directors of the World Federation of 
Exchanges.

MS DuDuziLe C Myeni
B.Admin (2 majors outstanding), Secondary Teachers’ Diploma (Commerce), Business Skills for South Africa 
(BSSA), Advanced Business Management Diploma, Leadership and Management Development Certificate.

Duduzile Myeni was appointed to the SAA Board in September 2009 and to the Air Chefs Board in April 2010. A 
philanthropist and an entrepreneur, she is the CEO of Skills Dynamics, consulting for various blue chip companies. 
Chairperson of the South African Association of Water Utilities (SAAWU), Director of Trade and Investment (KZN), 
Chairperson of Mhlathuze Water Board. Became a member of the Provincial Board of ABSA and Deputy 
President of the Zululand Chamber of Commerce and Industry. She is also a director of Alan Dick SA (Pty) 
Ltd, a total communications infrastructure solutions provider. Currently the Chairperson of the JZ Foundation (SA). 
In her spare time, she gives inspirational talks for corporate and community groups on topics such as 
transformative leadership, diversity dynamics, change management and women in leadership. She participated in 
the Stephen Covey Leadership Conference in Utah, USA.

MR bonAng f MohALe
Chartered Marketer [CM (SA)], diplomas and certificates in Marketing and Sales Management. 

Bonang Mohale was appointed to the SAA Board during September 2009 and was the Chairperson of 
the Audit Committee until 31 March 2010 and is Chairman of South African Travel Centre. He is currently 
the Chairman and Vice President: Sales and Operations of Shell South Africa (Pty) Limited, where he is 
Chairman of the Boards of Shell South Africa Holdings (Pty) Ltd, South African Petroleum Refinery (SAPREF), 
Shell South Africa Marketing (Pty) Ltd and Shell South Africa Refinery (Pty) Ltd. Before Shell he was the CEO 
of Drake & Scull FM SA (Pty) Ltd, CE of Shared Services and Associated Companies of Sanlam, alternate 
director of the Sanlam Limited main Board, Chairman of the Board of TASC, a director of Innofin, Gensec 
Property Services and Fundamo.
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NON‑EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

MR JAbuLAni p nDhLovu 
B.Admin Hons (Organisational Psychology) from the University of KwaZulu-Natal, Oxford Advance 
Management programme (Said Business School, Oxford University, UK).

Jabulani Ndhlovu is the HR Director, Microsoft South Africa since 2008. He joined Microsoft from Barloworld 
where he also held the position of Divisional Human Resources Director, Barloworld Logistics. He started his 
career at Accenture (formerly, Andersen Consulting) as a Business Integration Consultant and, during his time, he 
worked in a number of business integration and organisation development assignments, in various industries and 
clients, in South Africa and in the UK. His industry experience span over retail, oil and energy, banking, 
telecommunications, utilities, ICT and governments. During his time at Accenture, Jabu also worked at the 
Andersen Worldwide Centre of Professional Education, St. Charles, United States of America as Learning Coach 
in Change Management and Organisation Development programmes. 

MR LouiS J RAbbeTS 
Bachelor of Business Science, Actuarial Science (B.Bus.Sc.) UCT, Fellow of the Institute  
of Financial Markets (FIFM).

Louis Rabbets was appointed to the Board in December 2009, is Chairperson of the Procurement and Tender 
Processes Committee and serves on the Finance, Risk and Investment Committee. He is the Executive Chair of 
Quant Capital. Previously he held positions in the investments division of Sanlam, the treasury division of Standard 
Bank and the Asset and Liability Management division of National Treasury where he conducted comprehensive 
best practice reviews of the treasury operations of several major state owned enterprises. He has extensive 
experience in financial markets, treasury and risk management.

MR zAkheLe J SiThoLe
CA(SA), BCom (Accounting), B Accountancy, Certified Fraud Examiner, Higher Diploma in Company Law, 
Higher Diploma in Tax Law.

Zakhele Sithole is currently the Executive Chair of Sithole Inc, and also a director of the Command Holdings 
Ltd, Board Member and Chair Allied Technologies Limited, Board Member and Chair of the Audit Committee 
of SAA, Board Member Public Investment Corporation (PIC), Member of Audit and Risk Committee, Chair of 
the Human Resources and Remuneration Committee, Board of Governors University of Zululand.

ADv LinDiwe g ThoMAS
Practising Advocate of the High Court of South Africa and has been a member of, inter alia,  
the Johannesburg Bar since 1995. 

Lindiwe Thomas was appointed to the Board of SAA in September 2009 and is a member of the Audit 
Committee. She was appointed to the Board of Mango (a subsidiary of SAA) and to its audit committee in 
October 2009 and January 2010 respectively. Advocate Thomas was elevated to the level of Senior Counsel in 
December 2009 by the President of the Republic of South Africa. She has a diverse practice, with special interest 
in commercial, administrative, constitutional, labour, mining, aviation and construction law related litigation and 
arbitrations. She has acted as a Judge of the High Court of South Africa on numerous occasions, in both the 
South Gauteng High Court and North West High Court. She previously served as a Non‑Executive Director of 
the Soul City Broad Based Empowerment Company (Pty) Ltd, a company that invests in South African 
companies to raise endowment equity for its beneficiaries.
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Board of Directors (continued)

MR kAuShik R pATeL
CFO 
Bachelor of Accounting Science (Honours), CA (SA).

Kaushik Patel was appointed as Chief Financial Officer from December 2007. Prior to this he served as CFO 
of Telkom Ltd, Finance Executive for The African Bank Ltd in 1997 and Financial Director of Teba Bank Ltd in 
1999. He has extensive expertise in financial matters, and is well versed in the key financial issues of 
state‑owned enterprises and the requirements of the Public Finance Management Act (PFMA), 
government relations, with extensive commercial experience both locally and internationally, as well as 
being experienced in the turnaround of state owned enterprises. He also has extensive experience in the 
listing of companies as well as financial markets with a strong banking background.

MR ChRiS SMyTh
Acting CEO (Feb 2009 – March 2010), General Manager Operations 
Bachelor of Commerce degree, postgraduate Diploma in Accountancy (University of Natal), CA(SA), 
commercial pilot’s license.

Chris Smyth served as the airline’s acting CEO for the full financial year, but holds the permanent post of 
General Manager of Operations, in which he is responsible for the airline’s pilots, cabin crew, global 
operations control, in‑flight logistics, customer care, airports and terminal staff at all the airports SAA serves, 
aviation security and aviation safety. He has extensive financial experience in the African aviation industry 
having served as Group Finance Director of Kenya Airways, Chief Financial Officer and Board Director of 
Virgin Nigeria Airways in previous positions.

NON‑EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

MS SizAkeLe p MziMeLA
CEO 
BA (Economics and Statistics), Henley Certificate in management, Executive Programmes.

Sizakele Mzimela’s career began in 1991 at Standard Bank SA, followed by tenure at Total SA, where she 
was responsible for managing capital projects. She joined South African Airways (SAA) in 1996, working in 
various senior roles including that of Regional General Manager for Africa and the Middle East. In November 
2001, she was appointed Executive Vice President of Global Passenger Services, overseeing SAA’s airport 
operations both locally and abroad. Soon after, she was responsible for the airline’s core business: Global 
Sales and Voyager, setting the overall strategic direction and actively managing and reducing costs. She was 
also tasked with the strategic positioning of SAA and optimising alliance partnerships. She was appointed 
Chief Executive of SA Express Airways on 1 October 2003. The company registered substantial growth 
under her leadership, resulting in the eradication of the airline’s former state of technical insolvency, without 
recapitalisation. Her experience and intensive knowledge of the aviation industry, business acumen and 
positive attitude culminated in her appointment as Chief Executive of SAA on 1 April 2010. 

MS MARgAReT M whiTehouSe 
BA (Business Science), Honours in Marketing.

Margaret Whitehouse was appointed to the SAA Board since 2006. She is the Chairperson of the Airchefs 
Board and a member of the Procurement and Tender Processes Committee. With a background of working 
in multinationals such as Unilever, as well as extensive work within the South African Government, she has 
experience in building and marketing brands, with a passion for world‑class African brands.

EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS
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REpORT OF THE EXECUTIVE
Siza Mzimela, Chief executive officer

oveRview
The International Air Transport Association (IATA) reported that 

demand for international scheduled air traffic during 2009 

experienced the largest percentage decline since the Second 

World War. Global passenger demand decreased by 3,5%, but 

because capacity was reduced by various airlines, the average 

load factor declined only slightly, to 75,6%. Freight declined by 

10,1%, with an average load factor of 49,1%.

The African market saw an even steeper decline. Passenger 

growth fell by 6,8% with a load factor of 69,9%. Freight in Africa 

had an average load factor of 27,9% in 2009 and demand 

declined by 11,2%. IATA estimates that during 2009 the global 

aviation industry lost 2,5 years of growth in passenger markets 

and 3,5 years of growth in freight markets.

Although the aviation industry returned to growth in the opening 

months of 2010, the rebound in passenger numbers did not 

translate into rapid improvements in revenue. IATA expects that 

revenue will grow at a much slower pace than growth in demand, 

and profitability will be slow to recover. The industry is expected 

to record a small profit of US$2,5‑billion in 2010, largely due to 

better‑than‑expected results during the first half of the year.

In comparison to many other airlines and despite the decline in 

passenger numbers, SAA has reported positive financial results. 

During the year under review, some 6,7‑million passengers flew 

SAA, representing a 2,4% decrease from the previous year. 

Domestic and international passenger numbers decreased by 

6% and 5% respectively, while regional passenger numbers 

increased by 9%.

finAnCe
SAA’s financial position continued to strengthen in 2009/10, with 

the airline reporting a R596‑million pre‑tax profit at Group level 

(R424‑million in 2008/09). The major drivers of this improved 

performance were energy costs for the Group, which declined by 

41% to R5,1‑billion from R8,6‑billion; aircraft lease costs, which 

decreased by 30% to R1,6‑billion from R2,3‑billion; and staff 

costs, which were kept within acceptable parameters.

Total airline income fell by 16%, from R26,4‑billion in 2008/09 to 

R22,3‑billion in 2009/10. This decline underlined the importance 

of SAA’s determined approach to contain costs. 

The reporting period was 
exceptionally challenging 
for the aviation industry 
worldwide, with a large 
decline in passenger 
demand as a result of the 
continuing effects of the 
global economic crisis.
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Operating costs declined from R24,5‑billion in 2008/09 to 

R21‑billion in 2009/10. The most significant contributors to the 

decline were fuel costs, which fell by R3,5‑billion, and aircraft 

lease costs, which decreased by R643‑million. Employee benefit 

expenses, consisting mainly of staff salaries, increased by 14% 

or R513‑million.

Improvements in hedging losses also contributed significantly to 

the improved financial performance. The airline industry is exposed 

to currency and fuel price changes, and SAA’s hedging programme, 

which has a conservative mandate, is intended to reduce exposure 

to the volatility of both exchange rates and fuel prices. The approved 

hedging target range is 40 – 60% of the 12‑month rolling future 

purchase for fuel, and 50 – 75% for currency. During the reporting 

period, fair value movements and translation losses from hedging 

decreased from R1,6‑billion to R601‑million – a 62% decline from 

the prior year.

SAA’s cash position improved considerably during the reporting 

year, with cash generated from operations increasing significantly 

from a deficit of R1,8‑billion in 2008/09 to R1,7‑billion in 2009/10. 

During the year, the airline repaid R1,2‑billion in external loans. 

In addition, SAA issued share capital of R1,5‑billion, which was 

used to repay much of the subordinated loan from government.

opeRATionS 

SAA’s operations continued on the positive trajectory set in 

the previous year. On‑time performance – the key measure of 

operational performance – improved. We breached the 80% level 

consistently last year and achieved an 85% on‑time performance 

for the reporting period. SAA’s on‑time performance is now well 

above the international norm and we aim to continue to perform 

above the norm.

Improvements to our customer satisfaction levels experienced 

in the second half of 2008 continued into the reporting period, 

with levels comparing favourably when measured against inter‑

national benchmarks based on internal and external surveys. 

Customer satisfaction continued to rise in some areas of our 

operations, while overall customer satisfaction has begun to level 

off as international norms fluctuate. 

Like all other world‑class airlines, SAA has strengths and 

weaknesses. We are aware of challenges on some routes and 

are working hard to address these issues. 

Baggage pilferage is one of the biggest detractors from overall 

customer satisfaction and is consequently the subject of ongoing 

joint action with the Airports Company South Africa, Swissport 

(SAA’s baggage handling service provider), the South African 

Police Service and security authorities. During the reporting period, 

Swissport introduced a new loading sequence to combat baggage 

tampering and loading staff are now restricted from entering the 

loading zone when loading is not in progress. Additional supervision 

on the ramp has been deployed and management visibility has 

been increased in this area. Flights identified as high risk are 

closely monitored, and searches on baggage loading vehicles, 

the bag room and on‑board flights are carried out regularly. Other 

surveillance technologies have also been introduced.

RegionAL AnD inTeRnATionAL RouTe neTwoRk

SAA’s fundamental route network is well‑defined and established. 

For the network to remain strong, however, we will continue to 

seek out growth opportunities, particularly in Africa, Asia and 

South America. During the reporting period, SAA’s route network 

was adapted as follows: 

April 2009   Third frequency introduced to successful 

Argentina route

March 2009 Douala route was introduced

April 2009 Gaborone route was introduced

May 2009 Sixth frequency was introduced to Kinshasa

September 2009 Seventh frequency introduced to Luanda

    A one‑stop Johannesburg – Lagos – Accra 

route was introduced

    The Johannesburg – Dar es Salaam route 

grew from seven to nine frequencies

    The Johannesburg – Windhoek route grew 

from 14 to 20 frequencies.

October 2009  A one‑stop Johannesburg – Douala – Libreville 

route was introduced

SAA CARgo

In addition to the fact that air freight is, by nature, a specialist 

and costly form of goods transportation, the effects of the global 

recession added to the complexity of the cargo business. Initially, 

large volumes were recorded, followed by abrupt cost‑cutting in 

the industry in response to adverse economic conditions. This 

was further compounded by strong competition from other players 

in the market and the disadvantageous low strength of the rand 

in an environment where most contracts are denominated in 

dollars. As a result, cargo tonnage declined by 14% from 138 000 

in 2008/09 to 119 000 in 2009/10.

To adapt to these challenges, SAA Cargo operated smaller, more 

efficient aircraft on our existing routes. The last few months of 

the financial year saw marked improvements in volumes, but it 

will take more time to increase yields. 

SAA Cargo posted a turnover of R1,2‑billion. The global downturn 

and the strengthening rand reduced cargo and mail revenue 

by R688‑million from the prior year. International and regional 

revenue accounted for 72% and 20% respectively. Operating 

costs decreased by R455‑million compared to the prior year.

Report of the Executive (continued)
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voyAgeR

Voyager is SAA’s loyalty programme. In 2007, the International 

Financial Reporting Interpretations Committee (IFRIC) issued 

IFRIC 13: Customer Loyalty Programmes. This standard was 

applicable to the reporting period and has been applied to the 

results presented. Voyager has, in applying the standard, reviewed 

and realigned its business model. Effective 1 April 2010, the 

Voyager loyalty programme operates as a profit centre.

During 2009/10, Voyager successfully concluded the outsourcing 

of its call centre operations.

SubSiDiARieS

SAA has four subsidiaries: SAA Technical (SAAT), South African 

Travel Centre (SATC), Airchefs and Mango.

SAA Technical

SAAT, a wholly‑owned subsidiary of SAA, services more than 40 

domestic and foreign airlines in addition to SAA. This technical 

subsidiary maintained its client base during the reporting period. 

SAAT also continued to hold Aircraft Maintenance Organisation 

(AMO) certification from the South African Civil Aviation Authority 

(SACAA), the US Federal Aviation Administration (FAA) and the 

European Aviation Safety Authority (EASA), among others. SAAT 

passed all audits.

SAAT’s technical dispatch reliability – an international benchmark 

for rating technical reliability and records the number of aircraft 

delayed for more than 15 minutes due to technical issues – 

remained above the 98,5% contractual target for the reporting 

period.

SAAT recorded a net profit of R9,5‑million, an improvement of 

R180‑million from the previous year’s loss of R171,2‑million. 

Operating profit improved by 24% from 2008/09. 

The departure of technical staff experienced in preceding years 

was largely reversed during the reporting period. Additionally, 

the intake of apprentices at the technical training centre has been 

increased to address the long‑term requirements for technicians.

SAAT’s strategic intent is to be a world‑class Maintenance Repair 

Organisation (MRO). To achieve this, the airline has contracted 

an external company to conduct an in‑depth analysis of SAAT’s 

operations, including assessing the efficacy of its existing business 

structure and conducting an international benchmarking exercise. 

The process, once completed, will provide a better basis for making 

any decision about the future of this subsidiary.

South African Travel Centre 

SATC is a wholly‑owned subsidiary of SAA. Since its inception 

more than 13 years ago, SATC has generally been a self‑funding 

and profitable operation, save for limited shared services with the 

parent company. SATC intends to support SAA’s growth plans by 

addressing a more comprehensive range of corporate and leisure 

travel needs, making SAA’s offering more competitive in terms 

of quality and value relative to other airlines, especially on the 

African continent.

Through its existing network of franchised retailers and planned 

e‑commerce based sales channels, SATC also intends to com‑

plement other SAA sales channels in pursuit of its own and the 

national carrier’s corporate objectives.

SATC recorded a year‑end loss of R1‑million, which was an 

improvement on a budgeted loss of R2,5‑million, largely as a 

result of cost‑containment measures. This was achieved despite 

the weaker economic environment during the reporting period, 

which led to a decline in the total domestic travel retail market 

of between 25% and 30%, according to statistics from the Galileo 

and Amadeus travel booking systems. 

Airchefs

Despite the difficult year, Airchefs reported a profit of R35,5‑million, 

which was an improvement on the previous year’s loss of 

R12,7‑million. This was due to an increase in meal prices and cost 

containment. Overall operational efficiencies such as on‑time 

performance to Airchefs’ clients have improved substantially 

since the previous year. 

Airchefs’ business plan for 2010/11 proposes a substantial capital 

investment from its shareholder, SAA, to develop it into a world‑

class catering facility over the next two years. This will provide 

Airchefs with the capability and facilities to build on its reputation 

as a well‑respected airline caterer and attract more customers.

Despite the challenges faced, SAA’s catering is still ranked 7 out 

of the 24 Star Alliance airlines.

Mango

SAA’s low‑cost airline, Mango, was introduced into a saturated 

market in 2008 and has performed exceptionally well to date. 

The airline has been producing better‑than‑budgeted profits. 

Mango has highlighted its value to SAA by attracting cost‑

conscious customers who opt for cheaper air travel. Coupled 
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with growing familiarity and use of Mango’s innovative booking 

and payment channels, this has contributed to the airline’s 

success. Despite the strong competition, the Mango team has 

increased market share for the second year running. Mango’s 

low‑cost model has positioned the airline to maintain its pricing 

leadership position within the South African aviation industry 

and to continue making air travel accessible to more South 

Africans. Mango achieved a pre‑tax profit of R18,5‑million, a 

9% improvement on the prior year.

huMAn ReSouRCeS

SAA’s people continue to be the key differentiator that gives the 

airline the required competitive advantage. Consequently, SAA 

staff have to be well trained, appropriately rewarded and well 

managed with a performance management system introduced. 

At 3,84%, staff turnover for 2009/10 was substantially lower than 

the previous year’s 8,6%. This will ensure improved customer 

service and satisfaction. 

SAfeTy

As safety is of critical importance at SAA, we remain focused on 

ensuring the wellbeing of both our customers and staff. The 

airline flew 60 325 sectors during 2009/10 – slightly more than 

the previous year – with 181 394 hours flown, indicating a growing 

trend toward shorter routes as a result of our increased presence 

in Africa.

SAA is implementing the Required Navigation Performance 

(RNP) project. RNP use Global Positioning System technology 

rather than ground‑based infrastructure to navigate aircraft. This 

results in a more accurate flight path, particularly for departures, 

arrivals and approaches to airports, which increases the safety 

and efficiency of aviation worldwide. In addition, decreased fuel 

usage also results in environmental benefits. SAA currently 

spearheads the RNP project in conjunction with IATA. The 

project is expected to be implemented by the end of 2010/11. 

gReeneR SkieS

SAA is committed to becoming an environmentally responsible 

airline. We constantly seek out ways in which we can play an 

active part in carbon emission reduction. Our well‑maintained, 

efficient and modern fleet burns less fuel and contributes to a 

greener future.

Looking foRwARD

SAA has identified five primary objectives over the next three 

years to enhance brand value and ensure financial sustainability. 

We aim to:

 Generate sustainable earnings

 Restore the balance sheet

 Provide a consistently high‑quality service

 Become a performance‑driven organisation

 Enhance corporate governance.

To achieve these objectives, the airline requires a paradigm shift. 

Particular attention needs be paid to breaking the “silo” approach 

to decision‑making, and ensuring an integrated and cohesive 

pursuit of goals by all divisions and entities within the Group. 

Achieving these objectives also requires enhancing the product 

and service offerings – like renewing the fleet – while remaining 

within budget. 

To generate the required returns, SAA will focus on achieving 

sustainable operational efficiencies and maximising the value 

of the network through improved route, fleet and revenue 

management. Achieving this will require SAA to continue with 

an inclusive approach to operating with its alliance partners and 

its subsidiary, Mango, to support better alignment of schedules, 

and to ensure that the network is serviced by matching aircraft 

gauge and operator, with route distance and demand.

Detailed implementation plans will be developed, evaluated and 

refined over the next year. We particularly hope that the value 

of the airline becomes more discernible in the years ahead, not 

only to customers and passengers, but also to the citizens of 

South Africa.

SAA accounts for about 38% of international arrivals and about 

49% of arrivals from elsewhere on the African continent. We 

have the most extensive domestic schedule and by far the 

largest presence in the continental freight market. The extent of 

our operations demonstrates the enormous strategic value of 

the airline to the country. The airline’s importance as a fundamental 

platform for business, trade and tourism cannot be underestimated.

ACknowLeDgeMenTS

There are many people to thank for SAA’s positive results in 

these challenging circumstances. The executive team under the 

leadership of acting CEO Mr Chris Smyth has shown remarkable 

determination, perseverance and teamwork over the past year. 

Our employees have been and remain an indispensable part of 

our organisation. I would like to pay a special tribute to all of 

the men and women of SAA for their loyalty, dedication and 

commitment to the task at hand. 

Finally, I would like to thank our loyal customers who continue 

flying SAA. We are committed to improving our ability to understand 

and deliver on customer expectations. If the current momentum 

can be maintained and we maximise the opportunities of the global 

economic upturn, then there are good reasons to be confident 

about SAA’s future.

 

 

 

Siza Mzimela

29 June 2010



MR ChRiS SMyTh 
Acting CEO (Feb 2009 – March 2010), General Manager Operations
BComm degree, postgraduate Diploma in Accountancy (University of Natal), CA(SA), commercial pilot’s license.

Served as the airlines acting CEO for the full financial year, but holds the permanent post of General Manager of Operations, in which 
he is responsible for the airline’s pilots, cabin crew, global operations control, in‑flight logistics, customer care, airports and terminal staff 
at all the airports we serve, aviation security and aviation safety. He has extensive financial experience in the African aviation industry 
having served as Group Finance Director of Kenya Airways, Chief Financial Officer and Board Director of Virgin Nigeria Airways in 
previous positions. 
 
MR kAuShik pATeL 
CFO
BA Acc Sci (Honours), CA (SA).

He was appointed as Chief Financial Officer from December 2007. Prior to this he served as CFO of Telkom Ltd, Financial Director of 
Teba Bank Ltd in 1999 and Finance Executive for The African Bank Ltd in 1997. He has extensive expertise in financial matters, and is 
well versed in the key financial issues of state‑owned enterprises and the requirements of the Public Finance Management Act (PFMA), 
government relations, with extensive commercial experience both locally and internationally, as well as being experienced in the 
turnaround of state owned enterprises. He also has extensive experience in the listing of companies as well as financial markets with a 
strong banking background.
 
MS noMvuLA nkAbinDe
General Manager Sales, Marketing and Voyager/Acting General Manager Cargo 
B Comm Accounting degree from the University of Fort Hare, a Masters in Business Leadership (MBL) and an Advanced Executive 
Programme from the University of South Africa’s School of Business Leadership.

As General Manager Sales and Marketing she is responsible for the complete global sales function of the Company, as well as marketing, 
and sponsorship. She was appointed from 1 April 2008, from the position of Head of Commercial at SAA Cargo. She joined SAA Cargo from 
Barclays Bank PLC as Marketing and Communications Director. Before this she was Commercial Director at Uthingo Management (Pty) 
Limited and Acting Head of Marketing and Communication at Eskom respectively. She also worked at SA Breweries and Nedbank Limited. 

CApTAin STefAn popRAwA
Acting CEO SAAT 
BSc (Eng) cum laude, MSc Eng, MS Aero, MBA cum laude, Airline Transport Pilot Licenses from South Africa and JAA/EASA, Flight Instructor 
Grade II and Test Pilot Grade II ratings and is registered as a Professional Engineer with the Engineering Council of South Africa.

Captain Poprawa is responsible for the complete functioning of SAA Technical (SAAT), a 100% subsidiary of SAA and is the Accountable 
Manager for the Maintenance Repair Organisation, as approved by the regulatory authorities. His previous positions held were Chief 
Technical Pilot and Postholder Maintenance Standards for SAA, SAA Technical Pilot for the Airbus fleets, Pilot Instructor, SAAT Vice 
President Central Planning and SAA Cargo Manager Special Projects.

MR bhAbhALAzi buLungA
GM Human Resources
BA Social Science degree from the University of Swaziland and completed an Executive Development Programme at Wharton 
University in Philadelphia, USA. 

As General Manager responsible for Human Resources, he is responsible for the complete human resources function of the Company.
He has wide business experience in various sectors, including that for government SARS, pharmaceutical, Aluminium smelters, fast 
moving consumer goods (FMCG) and information technology sectors. Mr Bhabhalazi Bulunga resigned on the 31 January 2010.
 
MS RuTh kibuukA
Company Secretary 
Bachelor of Arts Honours degree majoring in Economics and Social Administration from Makerere University in Kampala, Uganda  
and a CIS Diploma from Intec College in Cape Town. She is a Fellow of the South African Institute of Chartered Secretaries and 
Administrators and of the Chartered Institute of Business Management.

As Company Secretary she provides a secretariat service to the Board of Directors and Committees of the Board of SAA, the Boards of 
SAA’s subsidiaries, as well as the SAA Executive and other governance forums. Previously she held amongst others the position of 
Financial Controller for Export Credit Insurance Corporation of South Africa (ECIC) and Group Accountant at Fedics Group Services. 
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MR JAn bLAke
General Manager Mergers and Acquisitions 
CA(SA).

As General Manager Mergers & Acquisitions from 1 December 2007, he is responsible for the implementation of the corporate structure 
of SAA into various divisions or subsidiaries under a single holding company as set out in the Corporate Plan. In addition, he is responsible 
for the business development including Network Planning, Fleet Planning and Revenue Management. Prior to his appointment as  
GM Mergers and Acquisitions, Jan was the CEO of SAA Technical (SAAT), he headed SAA’s operations and he was Chief Financial Officer 
at SAAT. Before being employed by SAA, he was with Flitestar, the XPS division of the Rennies Group and worked for Iscor.
 
MS LouiSA zonDo 
General Counsel
BProc degree (University of the North), LLB (University of Natal, Durban) and a LLM (London School of Economics and  
Political Science) and is an advocate of the High Court of South Africa. 

As General Counsel Louisa is responsible for all legal matters affecting the airline. Before joining SAA she was CEO of the National 
Nuclear Regulator (NNR), and had spent three years in Vienna with the Preparatory Commission for the Comprehensive Nuclear‑Test‑Ban 
Treaty Organisation as Secretary for the Preparatory Commission. She practised as an advocate at the Johannesburg and Durban Bar. 
Her work experience also includes roles as CEO of the South African Human Rights Commission and Deputy Executive Director in The 
Secretariat of the Constitutional Assembly. 
 
MR JoSeph MAkoRo
Acting Chief Risk Officer
MCom degree in Business Management from the University of Johannesburg, a BCom (Hons) degree in Financial Management  
from the University of South Africa (Unisa) and a BCom from the University of the Witwatersrand, certificate programme in  
Business Project Management, a postgraduate diploma in Company Direction (Graduate Institute of Management and Technology).

As acting Chief Risk Officer Joseph is responsible for Group enterprise risk management including a fraud prevention plan, internal audit, 
aviation compliance and quality assurance, Public Finance Management Act (PFMA) compliance as well as legislative compliance and 
corporate governance. He previously worked as the Head of the Group Risk Management department at SAA, before he was appointed 
as acting Chief Risk Officer in May 2009. Before joining SAA he was Chief Director: SOE Risk Management at the Department of Public 
Enterprises, Risk Manager and General Manager: Assurance Services at Johannesburg City Parks and Specialist: Risk Control at Telkom. 
Joseph is a member of the King III Sub‑Committee on Risk Management and serves on the Executive Committee of the Institute of Risk 
Management South Africa (IRMSA).
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iNdepeNdeNt auditors’ report
to the members of south african airways (proprietary) limited

report on the finanCial stateMents
We have audited the Group annual financial statements of South 
African Airways (Proprietary) Limited, which comprise the Directors’ 
Report, the consolidated and separate statements of financial 
position as at 31 March 2010, and the consolidated and separate 
statements of comprehensive income, the consolidated and 
separate statements of changes in equity and consolidated and 
separate statements of cash flows for the year then ended, a 
summary of significant accounting policies and other explanatory 
notes as set out on pages 24 to 108. 

Accounting authority’s responsibility for the annual 
financial statements
The accounting authority is responsible for the preparation 
and fair presentation of these annual financial statements in 
accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards 
and in the manner required by the Companies Act 61 of 1973 
of South Africa (“Companies Act”) and the Public Finance 
Management Act 1 of 1999 (“PFMA”). This responsibility includes 
designing, implementing and maintaining internal controls 
relevant to the preparation and fair presentation of financial 
statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due 
to fraud or error; selecting and applying appropriate accounting 
policies; and making accounting estimates that are reasonable in 
the circumstances.

Auditors’ responsibility
Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these annual 
financial statements based on our audit. We conducted the audit 
in accordance with International Standards on Auditing. These 
standards require that we comply with ethical requirements 
and plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance 
on whether the annual financial statements are free from 
material misstatement.

An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence 
about the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements. 
The procedures selected depend on the auditors’ judgement, 
including the assessment of the risks of material misstatement 
of the financial statements, whether due to fraud or error. In 
making those risk assessments, the auditor considers internal 
control relevant to the entity’s preparation and fair presentation 
of the financial statements in order to design audit procedures 
that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of 
expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the entities internal 
control. An audit also includes evaluating the appropriateness of 
accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting 
estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the overall 
presentation of the annual financial statements. The audit was 
also planned and performed to obtain reasonable assurance that 
our duties in terms of sections 27 and 28 of the Public Audit Act 
have been complied with.

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient 
and appropriate to provide a basis for our audit opinion.

Opinion
In our opinion, the annual financial statements present fairly, in 
all material respects, the consolidated and separate financial 
position of South African Airways (Proprietary) Limited as of 
31 March 2010, and its consolidated and separate financial 
performance and consolidated and separate cash flows for the 
year ended in accordance with International Financial Reporting 
Standards and the manner required by the Companies Act.

Emphases of matters
Without qualifying our opinion above, we draw your attention to 
the matters listed below. Our opinion is not qualified in respect 
of these matters.

kpMg forensic report
KPMG was appointed during the previous year by the SAA Board 
to conduct a forensic investigation into a number of allegations 
related to contravention of:

•	 tender	and	procurement	procedures,
•	 the	SAA	delegation	of	authority	framework	and
•	 section	51	of	the	PFMA.

This investigation was concluded in the current year and the 
Board considered the appropriate course of action. More 
disclosure around this matter is referred to in paragraph 3.3  
of the Directors’ Report.

Competition matters
There are a number of local and international competition law claims 
against SAA which remain under investigation. These are referred 
to in paragraph 3.2 of the Directors’ Report.

international and air service licence Council guarantee
SAA has been provided an extension by the Air Service Licence 
Council to put a new guarantee in place by November 2010. The 
guarantee provided by government expires on 30 September 2011. 
Refer to paragraph 4 of the Directors’ Report.

report on other legal and regulatory 
reQuireMents
Non‑compliance with the PFMA
predetermined objectives
In accordance with our responsibilities in terms of subsection 
55(2)(a) of the PFMA, we report that we identified certain findings 
with respect to the predetermined objectives as disclosed in the 
Directors’ Report as set out on pages 28 and 29. The findings 
are as follows:

non‑compliance with regulatory and reporting 
requirements
1.  SAA has not reported on all the predetermined objectives 

and indicators, as required by section 40(3)(a)/55(a) of the 
PFMA and Treasury regulation 28.2.2.

2.  Although predetermined objectives were set and measured 
appropriately, the shareholders’s compact for SAA was not 
submitted and approved timeously.
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3.  The shareholder’s compacts for the SAA subsidiary companies 
were not completed.

usefulness of information
1.  In certain instances the predetermined objectives as stated 

in the shareholder’s compact were not well defined, time‑
bound or specific and therefore not measurable.

section 51
Certain transactions were not in accordance with the requirements 
of the PFMA. These matters relate mainly to section 51 where 
systems in place were not always able to:

1.  Ensure goods and services were procured fairly, equitably, 
transparently, competitively and cost effectively.

2.  Prevent, identify and report all irregular, fruitless and 
wasteful expenditure.

Compliance with other laws and regulations
SAA is progressing on its project to identify all legislation 
applicable to it, to enable it to better monitor compliance. As 
disclosed in the Directors’ Report, on pages 26 and 27, as these 
systems are not fully implemented, the Group is still unable to 
conclude that it complied with all relevant legislation.

deloitte & touche 

registered auditors Buildings 1 and 2, Deloitte Place
NP Dongwana The Woodlands
Partner – Audit Woodlands Drive
 Woodmead, Sandton
30 August 2010

Woodmead, Sandton

National Executive: GG Gelink Chief Executive AE Swiegers Chief Operating Officer GM Pinnock Audit 
DL Kennedy Tax & Legal and Risk Advisory L Geeringh Consulting L Bam Corporate Finance CR Beukman Finance 
TJ Brown Clients & Markets NT Mtoba Chairman of the Board MJ Comber Deputy Chairman of the Board

A full list of partners and directors is available on request

B‑BBEE rating: Level 3 contributor/AA (certified by Empowerdex)

Member of Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu Limited
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stateMeNt by the coMpaNy secretary
for the year ended 31 March 2010

The Company Secretary, Ms R Kibuuka, certifies that the Company has lodged with the Registrar of Companies all such returns as are 
required for South African Airways (Pty) Limited in terms of section 268(d) of the Companies Act, No 61 of 1973, as amended, and that all 
such returns are true, correct and up to date in respect of the financial year reported upon. This should be read in conjunction with the 
disclosures made with respect to the Companies Act compliance in paragraph 6.4 of the Directors’ Report.

Company secretary

29 June 2010

seCretary
name Ms R Kibuuka

business address  Airways Park
Jones Road 
OR Tambo International Airport 
Kempton Park 
1619

postal address  Private Bag X13
OR Tambo International Airport 
Kempton Park 
1627
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directors’ report
for the year ended 31 March 2010

Notwithstanding this, the total cash at the end of the year 
remains healthy, although it declined to R3,4‑billion from 
R3,8‑billion at the end of 2008/9 at Group level.

3. CritiCal issues faCing the airline
   SAA has been in the process of dealing with a number of 

critical issues which require some further elaboration. 
These issues constitute major issues of strategy and 
policy, and the directors wish to acknowledge the support 
received from the Department of Public Enterprises (DPE) 
on these issues. Having canvassed these issues in the 
previous annual report, attention is drawn to the further 
developments noted below.

3.1 the airbus a320 order
   During 2001 SAA announced it would embark on a fleet 

acquisition strategy to replace its broadly ageing fleet. 
It was decided the following year to purchase fifteen 
A320‑200 aircraft from the European aircraft manufacturer, 
Airbus. Delivery was scheduled to begin early in 2010.

   However, the Board decided to cancel the purchase in 
2004 due to financial constraints. A dispute then arose 
about whether SAA could unilaterally cancel the contract, 
and in 2007, SAA received a letter from Airbus indicating 
that Airbus considered the purchase agreement as 
remaining in force. Following negotiations between SAA 
management, the DPE and Airbus, a Letter of Intent 
was signed by SAA and Airbus in which it was agreed 
to increase the number of A320 aircraft from fifteen to 
twenty at a total price that does not exceed the indicative 
value of the original order for the fifteen placed in 2002. 
Deliveries that were scheduled to commence in 2010 
have been postponed to 2013. It was also agreed 
to lease six A330‑200 aircraft for a minimum period 
of eight years commencing February 2011 at market 
related terms. 

   This agreement was subject to shareholder approval, 
and a section 54(2)(d) application was sent to the DPE 
in this respect during the year. Approval from DPE was 
sent to the Chairperson of SAA on 30 April 2010.

   The total capital commitment of US$889‑million has been 
acknowledged in the financial statements (see Note 39) 
for this programme. The financing for the purchase of 
each aircraft will only begin on delivery from 2013, and 
the deferred period ought to afford SAA sufficient time 
to source appropriate funding. The deferral and the fact 
that the first pre‑delivery payment only takes place in 
2013 means the programme will not impact on the current 
going concern assessment for SAA.

3.2 antitrust litigation
   SAA is currently facing a range of anti‑trust claims, some 

now fairly dated, emanating in various jurisdictions. 
SAA takes compliance with competition law extremely 
seriously and engagement with business units take 
place on a continuous basis to advise on competition law 

The directors have pleasure in presenting their report, which 
forms part of the annual financial statements of the Company 
and of the Group, for the year ended 31 March 2010. The audited 
annual financial statements set out in this report have been 
prepared by management in accordance with International 
Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS). They are based on 
appropriate accounting policies adopted in terms of IFRS which 
are detailed in Note 1 to these annual financial statements. The 
accounting policies are supported by reasonable and prudent 
judgements and estimates as detailed in Notes 3 and 4 to the 
annual financial statements.

The audited annual financial statements are submitted in 
accordance with the statutory requirements of the Public Finance 
Management Act 1 of 1999 (PFMA) and the South African 
Companies Act. In the opinion of the directors, the annual financial 
statements fairly present the financial position of South African 
Airways (Pty) Limited (SAA) and its subsidiaries as at 31 March 
2010, and the results of their operations and cash flow information 
for the year then ended.

1.  nature of business and CoMpany 
shareholding

   SAA, whose shareholder is the Department of Public 
Enterprises (DPE), has as its principal activities the 
operation of international, regional and domestic scheduled 
air services for the carriage of passengers, freight and 
mail. In keeping with SAA’s mission to be an African 
airline with global reach, SAA is the largest carrier on 
the African continent offering 20 destinations across 
the continent and provides a competitive, quality air 
transport service within South Africa, as well as to major 
cities worldwide.

2.  overall results for the year  
under review

   SAA generated an operating profit of R626‑million at Group 
level (2008/9: restated operating profit of R334‑million), 
and an operating profit at Company level of R636‑million 
(2008/9: restated operating profit R58‑million). This 
increase in profit was achieved despite a marked decline 
in overall Group turnover, compared to the previous period. 
Operating costs decreased from R24,5‑billion in 2008/9 
to R21‑billion in line with a revenue decline from 
R26,4‑billion in 2008/9 to R22,3‑billion this year.

   Significant changes to the financial position were made 
during the year with the conversion of a government loan 
into equity, resulting in total capital and reserves increasing 
to R1,04‑billion, compared with R732‑million in 2008/9 and 
R721‑million in 2007/8. The subordinated loan guaranteed 
by government currently stands at R1,3‑billion, declining 
substantially from R2,9‑billion in the previous year.

   Net cash inflow from operating activities increased 
to R1,4‑billion from a deficit position during 2008/9 
of R384‑million. With the repayment of part of the 
government subordinated loan, the net cash from 
financing activities declined to a deficit of R1,5‑billion. 
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implications and raise awareness of SAA’s competition 
compliance policy and programme.

3.2.1 2010 fifa world Cup™ ticket pricing complaint

   SAA filed a report to the Competition Commission after 
having received correspondence related to ticket pricing 
during the World Cup period. SAA simultaneously 
applied for leniency from prosecution under the  
Competition Act. The Commission has not yet made any 
decision in this regard and SAA maintains its commitment 
to co‑operate fully with the Commission.

3.2.2 Comair/nationwide

   The Competition Tribunal handed down a declaratory 
order in February 2010 ruling that SAA’s incentive schemes 
during the period 1 June 2001 until 31 March 2005 were 
prohibited practices in contravention of section 8 (d)(i) 
of the Competition Act. SAA is appealing the decision 
of the Tribunal and has filed its notice of appeal in the 
Competition Appeal Court.

3.2.3 foreign cases

   SAA is faced with litigation relating to anti‑trust 
investigations imposed by the US Department of Justice 
Antitrust Division, the European Union in Brussels, the 
Swiss Authorities, the Australian Competition and 
Consumer Commission (ACCC) relating to allegations 
of anticompetitive conduct spanning the period between 
1998/9 and 2005/6.

   The EU Competition Commission lodged an investigation 
into alleged anticompetitive conduct in the air cargo 
services industry and issued a Statement of Objection (SO) 
against various air cargo carriers globally, including SAA.

   SAA responded to the SO and presented arguments of 
both a legal and technical nature as well as facts taking 
into account the absence of sufficient evidence to 
substantiate the allegations of fact contained in the SO.

   In light of developments, while taking note of the difficulty 
of accurately predicting what the decision of the 
Commission might be, the SAA legal team has assessed 
the prospect of the Commission issuing a fine against 
SAA to be remote.

   The Commission has not yet issued a decision in this 
matter. Possible exposure in respect of these investigations, 
together with the other antitrust investigations, is currently 
reflected in SAA’s annual financial statements as contingent 
liabilities. (Refer Note 40).

3.3 update on the kpMg investigation
   In February 2009, following various allegations of potential 

misconduct on the part of senior management, the 
Board resolved to appoint KPMG to undertake a forensic 
investigation into the allegations. The scope of the forensic 
investigation addressed all of the allegations made, as 
well as ancillary issues relating thereto. 

   Following extensive interviews and investigations, KPMG 
furnished a draft report in June 2009 and the final report 
was issued in December 2009. The report found evidence 
of failures to comply with certain legislated requirements 
under section 234 of the Companies Act 61 of 1973 (“the 
Companies Act”) and the provisions of section 50(3) of 
the Public Finance Management Act 1 of 1999 (“the 
PFMA”) as well as evidence of decisions on the part of 
certain individuals exceeding their limits of authority in 
terms of the Company’s delegation of authority framework 
potentially resulting in irregular expenditure. 

   Following a detailed analysis of the contents of the report 
by its attorneys, after extensive consultations with its 
attorneys, and the taking of advice from senior counsel on 
various matters, the Board has resolved to institute legal 
action for the recovery of moneys where the Company 
suffered material financial prejudice Furthermore, the 
Company has taken and is in the process of taking 
disciplinary action against a number of its officials who 
were involved in failures to comply with the Company’s 
procurement procedures and policies and the requirements 
of the PFMA. 

   The Company also introduced additional measures to 
improve its financial, risk management and internal controls 
and its procurement practices as detailed below. This 
remains an ongoing process in achieving acceptable 
standards of maturity in compliance and the findings 
of the forensic investigation have prompted further 
improvements in the overall governance framework of 
the Company. 

 breaches of the pfMa 
   Section 51(1)(a)(iii) of the PFMA requires the procurement 

system to be fair, equitable, transparent, competitive and 
cost effective. SAA was unable to claim full compliance 
with section 51 in respect of certain legacy contracts 
and arrangements approved before the implementation 
of the current procurement system, against which 
payments were made. The procurement system has also 
not complied in relation to certain tender processes and 
awards of contracts.

   The SAA Board of Directors established a sub‑committee 
dedicated to the review of procurement tender processes, 
policies and all major transactions prior to the awarding 
of contracts by SAA.  This sub‑committee will, in particular, 
be monitoring the implementation of a three‑year plan 
designed to ensure that systems and procedures with 
clear, effective and consistent controls are re‑established 
and that staff are trained in and are aware of their 
compliance and accountability duties towards sustainable 
change in the procurement environment. The primary 
focus of the past year has been on ensuring PFMA 
compliance. To this end a full tactical review was 
undertaken of all key supplier contracts based on 
their compliance status and where required remedial 
actions instituted. 
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been addressed and SAA is now fully compliant with 

these processes.

   Finally, while much progress has been made, overall 

governance is a key current focus area for SAA in order 

to achieve full compliance at the end of the current 

financial year.

 4.  international guarantee and air serviCe 

liCenCe CounCil
   In terms of both the International Air Services Act No 60 

of 1993, and Domestic Air Services Act No 115 of 1990, 

all South African carriers are obliged to have a guarantee 

in place to cover the passengers, who have purchased 

tickets, but have not yet travelled, against non‑performance 

by the airline. Without a guarantee in place SAA would 

not be permitted to operate any domestic or international 

routes. In order to comply with the requirements of the 

Air Service Licence Council, R615‑million of the R1,6‑billion 

government guarantee has been utilised for the guarantee 

required by the Council.

5. going ConCern assessMent
   Following the airline’s turnaround strategy, the state of the 

business is much improved. With stronger cash resources 

and increasing levels of profitability, the question over 

whether the airline is formally a going concern is much 

less acute. The existing cash resources plus available 

facilities supported by the guarantee received from the 

shareholder, are considered by the directors adequate 

for the going concern requirements in the short‑term, 

being 12‑months from the date of approval of these annual 

financial statements.

6. legislative issues

6.1  Compliance to the public finance Management 

act (pfMa) 
   In accordance with the PFMA (Act No 1 of 1999), the 

SAA Board as the accounting authority has the 

responsibility of ensuring that SAA has and maintains 

effective, efficient and transparent systems of financial 

and risk management and internal control.

   As part of the remedial action plan, a dedicated PFMA 

Compliance Officer who reports to the CRO has been 

appointed. A PFMA Compliance Forum has been 

established. The Forum consists of key personnel from 

Risk and Compliance, Finance, Human Resources, 

Procurement and Petroleum Affairs, the Subsidiary CFOs, 

and Internal Audit. The Forum functions as the monitoring 

body for corrective actions and implementation of 

systems and procedures across SAA and its subsidiaries. 

The Forum has made strides in ensuring that issues 

identified in the previous financial year are addressed and 

progress is verified by Internal Audit. With continued 

focussed efforts we are confident that issues of non‑

compliance will continue to be addressed systematically.

   While full compliance with section 51 cannot be claimed 

in respect of all the legacy contracts, substantial progress 

has been made and SAA remains confident that by March 

2011, the airline will be fully compliant. In addition, 

the re‑implementation of the SAP SRM system as a 

requisitioning and approval system will ensure that 

compliance is maintained systemically in the longer term. 

   Sections 50, 51, 55 and 57 of the PFMA contain certain 

obligations including the prevention, detection, identification 

and reporting of irregular, fruitless and wasteful expenditure, 

irrespective of quantum. SAA was unable to claim full 

compliance with these sections of the PFMA, including 

detailed reporting of all known instances of fruitless, 

wasteful and irregular expenditure.

   The Board of Directors adopted a new policy on fruitless 

and wasteful expenditure in terms of which quarterly 

disclosures are required of all fruitless and wasteful 

expenditure incurred. Furthermore, the Board has, over 

the past year kept the Minister of Public Enterprises 

abreast of the findings of the KPMG forensic investigation 

and has taken legal advice regarding potential claims to 

recover fruitless and wasteful expenditure. 

   Regarding the financial control environment, the Company 

was unable to claim full compliance with section 51(1)(a)

(i) of the PFMA. Accordingly, SAA commenced and 

continues with the implementation of a Critical Financial 

Reporting Controls project designed to address key 

financial control deficiencies in core financial processes 

and full compliance with section 51(1)(a)(i) is expected 

within the 2010/11 financial year.  

   For the year under review a shareholders compact, as 

required by Treasury Regulation 29, was not concluded 

timeously due to inconclusive discussions with the 

shareholder of the Company. However, Key Performance 

Indicators (KPIs) were set to monitor SAA’s performance 

against pre‑determined objectives set out at the 

beginning of the financial year between itself and the 

shareholder. These KPIs have been reported on a 

monthly and quarterly basis to the shareholder and 

included in the annual report as required under section 

55(2) of the PFMA. 

 breaches of the Companies act

   In the prior year, it was reported that sections 234, 235 

and 242 of the Companies Act had not been complied 

with. These sections relate to the duties of directors to 

disclose interests in contracts, and to the keeping of 

minutes of directors and managers meetings.

   The issues of non‑compliance with sections 234, 235 

and 242 of the Companies Act relating to the duties of 

directors to disclose interests in contracts and keeping 

of minutes of directors and managers meetings have 
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6.1.1 procurement 

   SAA has had a legacy of PFMA related non‑compliance. 
The prior year financial statements included reportable 
irregularities regarding procurement breaches of the 
PFMA. Reviews undertaken by the Company’s internal 
and external auditors revealed instances of lack of 
compliance to the following section of the PFMA:

	 	 •	 Section	51(1)(iii)
   –  An accounting authority of a public entity must 

maintain “an appropriate procurement and 
provisioning system which is fair, equitable, 
transparent, competitive and cost effective”.

   –  Prevent irregular expenditure, fruitless and 
wasteful expenditure, losses resulting from 
criminal conduct, and expenditure not complying 
with the operational policies of the public entity.

   As a result of these non‑compliance issues and reportable 
irregularities, a three‑year plan has been put in place with 
the objective of re‑establishing the procurement function. 
The focus of the plan in the first year has been on 
rectifying non‑compliance issues noted in the previous 
years with significant progress being made. The action 
plan takes the form of a “portfolio of initiatives” to 
be executed in order to create sustainable change in 
the procurement function within the framework of: 
Governance, People and Methods and Practices.

   This was designed to move the SAA procurement from 
its current “basic” state of maturity to an “advanced” 
state in line with global best practice. 

   This constitutes a major project given the approximately 
3 500 regular suppliers used by the airline. This project 
is underway, and will span the next two financial years. 
Weaknesses in the level of compliance with the Company’s 
procurement policies and procedures have been 
strengthened and regularised to a great extent. However, 
SAA remains unable to claim full compliance with section 
51 of the PFMA in respect to certain legacy contracts and 
arrangements approved before the implementation of the 
revised procurement system, but remains confident that by 
March 2011, the airline will be fully compliant. The effective 
use of systems is seen as a key enabler in driving this full 
compliance initiative.

6.1.2 irregular, fruitless and wasteful expenditure 

   Sections 50, 51, 55 and 57 of the PFMA oblige the 
Company to prevent, detect, identify and report on 
irregular, fruitless and wasteful expenditure, irrespective 
of quantum. As a consequence of the circumstances 
involved in the KPMG forensic investigation, SAA is 
unable to claim full compliance with all the requirements 
of the PFMA in this regard. However, our remedial action 
plan, initiated by the Board, also covers this aspect of 
the PFMA and substantial strides have been made 
in this regard. In particular, the plan has reinforced 

understanding about approved processes and delegation 

of authority requirements. Many gaps in internal controls 

have been rectified and what is required to achieve formal 

compliance is now better understood throughout the 

organisation. For example, the circumstances in which bid 

adjudication councils are required and how they should 

operate is now firmly rooted in the organisation. 

6.2 internal control 
   The Company has implemented the Critical Financial 

Reporting Controls project designed to address key 

financial control deficiencies in core financial processes. 

The intention was to ensure that key financial controls 

are embedded within the organisation. This project 

involves the CFO meeting regularly with divisional financial 

controllers and internal auditors in a forum designed to 

implement remedial action. These meetings are now 

embedded and continue to operate effectively. Most 

critical risks have been addressed, and directors are 

confident that full compliance with section 51(1)(a)(i) of 

the PFMA is within sight.

6.3 the broader regulatory and legislative universe
   Section 51(I)(h) of the PFMA requires that SAA comply 

with the PFMA and any other legislation applicable to 

the Company. SAA has endeavoured to implement a 

strategy to comply with the many laws and regulations 

affecting its operations. This strategy includes the 

establishment of a compliance division within SAA to 

develop and implement a “regulatory universe”. The 

regulatory universe will cover all legislation which is 

applicable to SAA. Over the past few years, SAA has 

focused on achieving compliance with four key aspects 

of the regulatory universe, the PFMA, the Competition Act, 

the European Union Emissions Regulations (Environmental 

regulations) and the Consumer Protection Act No 68 of 

2008. However, in the ensuing years, the focus will be 

extended to the top ten key legislative requirements 

affecting the Company.

   Efforts in respect of the PFMA and Competition law 

are noted above. In addition, SAA is in the process of 

developing a monitoring plan in respect of these focus 

areas. Until the monitoring plan is fully developed and 

operational, SAA is unable to confirm full compliance 

with all applicable legislation and regulations.

6.4 the Companies act
   SAA is obliged to comply with the Companies Act, and 

during the previous period, in a number of instances, 

sections 234, 235 and 242 of the Companies Act were not 

fully complied with. These sections relate to the duties 

of directors to disclose interests in contracts, and to the 

keeping of minutes of directors’ and managers’ meetings. 

These problems were rectified during the year and the 

Company is now fully compliant with these processes.
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6.5 shareholder’s compact
   KPIs have been set up to monitor SAA’s performance against pre‑determined objectives set out at the beginning of the 

financial year between itself and the shareholder. These KPIs have been reported on a monthly and quarterly basis with regular 
feedback sessions held with the shareholder. The net profit of the SAA Group was the primary KPI for the 2009/10 financial 
year as a consequence of SAA’s financial position.

   Other secondary indicators have been formulated to meet this primary objective and are consistent with SAA’s latest 
Corporate Plan. Meeting the primary KPI may, over the forthcoming year, result in SAA having to adjust to unforeseen market 
conditions which require forfeiting, to a limited extent, delivery against the secondary KPIs set for the financial year. They are 
set out in this table:

key performance indicators (kpis) unit

target for the
year ended

31 March
2010

year to date
actual

profitability

Net profit/(loss) R million (133) 581
EBIT (%) % 0,36 4,38

As a result of the restructuring activities over the last two years and through stringent management control, the airline was able to 
outperform its profit target. The restructuring activities established a programme of cost reductions across the airline which 
management continues to monitor and improve. In addition, there was continued focus on improving revenue generation from the 
airline’s pricing activity and network of flying, noting that many large international airlines have reported losses over the past year. 

traffic

Passenger load factors % 71,00 70,62
Average passenger fare R 2 285 1 964
RASK(1) Cents 81,5 75,3
CASK(2) Cents 80,4 72,0
Cargo revenue to passenger revenue on international routes % 10,60 10,20

The recession had a strongly negative effect on passenger numbers in the industry. SAA worked towards maintaining load 
factors at levels close to those of the prior year through targeted changes in capacity in certain routes and also through some 
price reduction. Average passenger fare and RASK(1) were affected by price reduction. If the effect of the 25% appreciation of 
the ZAR against the airline’s budgeted USD exchange rate is taken out, then these would have outperformed the Target. CASK(2) 
is similarly affected by the ZAR: USD exchange rate. Importantly, the airline managed to grow the gap between RASK(1) and 
CASK(2) when compared against Target. Finally, Cargo is particularly sensitive to economic conditions and struggled with revenue 
demand during the year under review.

fleet

Daily block hours per aircraft (excluding Mango) Hours 09:54 09:48
On time performance % 81,00 85,19
Turnover per aircraft (excluding Mango) R million 477 432
Total staff per aircraft (excluding Mango) 167 155

The airline monitors aircraft utilisation closely, but the airline’s higher priority of revenue and profit generation occasionally necessitated 
reductions in aircraft flying activity. This also impacted on turnover per aircraft. On time performance reflects the significant effort 
made by the airline to manage its own and the airport operations. Total staff per aircraft is mostly a function of the restructuring 
activity mentioned above. The airline’s fleet plan is based on the demand for flying activity in the airline’s 5‑year Corporate Plan. The 
timing and type of fleet acquisitions and disposals is then set having regard to the expiry of existing leases and the arrivals of the 
A320 and A321 orders, as well as the replacement of the outgoing A342s.

(1) RASK – Revenue per available seat kilometre.
(2) CASK – Cost per available seat kilometre.
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6.5 shareholder’s compact (continued)

key performance indicators (kpis)

business risk Mitigation

implement cost effective strategies covering foreign exchange, fuel, fuel levies and interest rates to reduce value at risk 
to within acceptable levels through hedging, cost recovery and product configuration.

SAA Treasury engaged Treasury Advisors on a one‑year contract (from July 2009 to June 2010). They have built three Treasury 
Analytical Tools for SAA:
•	  price projectors – used for simulation of price paths using historic price data and projecting price data for 36‑months 

in the future.
•	 	exposure calculator – used for quantifying the potential negative cost impact due to jet fuel risk, foreign exchange rate risk 

and cash flow at risk metric.
•	 	hedge optimiser – for automating the analysis of different permutations of available specifications for hedging strategies.

The Treasury Advisors have previewed and updated the existing Financial Risk Management Policy, which has been approved 
by the SAA Board on 18 February 2010. They have also provided in‑depth assistance on the Interim Hedging Limits Paper.

voyager Management

improve profitability of Voyager profit centre by 10% per annum in each of the next two financial years.

Revenue reported in 2010 is R362‑million, which is 68% higher than the R216‑million reported in 2009. The implementation of 
IFRIC 13 changed the revenue recognition in 2010 from recognising revenue on the accrual of miles basis used in 2009 to 
recognising revenue on the redemption of miles basis used in 2010. The impact of the change is included in the 2010 Voyager 
revenue with 2009 being restated.

The implementation of IFRIC 13 resulted in a substantial increase in revenue reported (as released from the deferred revenue 
liability) in 2010. Costing models differed between the year under review and for 2009, resulting in the calculation of the profit 
percentage year‑on‑year being distorted. Management have accordingly not reported on a movement in the profit percentage.

gearing

saa has and endeavours to continue to improve its gearing ratio by reporting sustainable profits year‑on‑year. the saa 
Group gearing ratio is as follows:

2009/10

 rand million

On‑statement of financial position debt(1) 11 927
Off‑statement of financial position debt(2) 12 173

Total debt 24 100
Less cash and cash equivalents (3 402)

Net debt 20 698

Equity(3) 1 040
Net debt to equity 20:1

(1) On‑statement of financial position debt includes all current and non‑current liabilities and excludes all provisions.
(2) Off‑statement of financial position debt is calculated on the basis of the annual lease cost.
(3)  The subordinated government guaranteed loans are classified as equity for purposes of capital risk management because it is advanced by 

the shareholder as a form of recapitalisation of the Group. In addition, the Group has no obligations to pay any cash in the form of repayment 
of principal or interest. Although the Group has no obligation in regard to this loan, the Group still considers the impact of any coupon payments 
in its liquidity requirements.
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7.  Corporate governanCe 
and Code of ethiCs

   The Board of Directors and management are committed 
to ongoing improvements in corporate governance 
processes in line with national and international best 
practices, the PFMA, the Protocol on Corporate 
Governance in the Public Sector and the King III Report 
on Corporate Governance for South Africa. As part of 
this commitment to good corporate governance 
principles and compliance with the provisions of the 
PFMA, the Board of Directors and management are con‑
tinually introducing systems, processes and procedures to 
ensure that all reported weaknesses are addressed 
in order to achieve full compliance, for the benefit of 
all stakeholders. The most significant items receiving 
attention and focus include those discussed as part of 
this report. There is also continuous monitoring of SAA’s 
risks at the Finance, Risk and Investment Committee 
(FRIC), Audit Committee and Board. A process is also 
under way to bring environmental management and 
compliance expertise on board as part of a commitment 
to the “greening” of the Group’s operations and to 
ensuring, in the short‑term, compliance with the European 
Union’s environmental legislation. This legislation will have 
a significant impact on the Group’s flight operations in and 
out of the European Union.

   SAA’s Code of Ethics commits the airline to the highest 
standards of integrity, behaviour and ethics in dealing 
with all its stakeholders.

8.  events subseQuent to the stateMent of 
finanCial position date

   The directors are not aware of any events that occurred 
subsequent to the statement of financial position date 
which require disclosure in or adjustments to these annual 
financial statements.

9. CoMplianCe stateMent
   This report is presented in terms of the National Treasury 

Regulation 28.1 of the PFMA, as amended. The prescribed 
disclosure of emoluments in terms of National Treasury 
Regulation 28.1.1 is reflected under Note 42 of these 
annual financial statements titled “Related Parties”.

   The performance information as envisaged in subsection 
55(2)(a) of the PFMA and section 28(l)(c) of the Public 
Audit Act 25 of 2004, has been included in Note 6.5 of 
this report. By virtue of the matters referred to in this 
report, the Board does not consider that the Company 
has complied with the provisions of sections 51 and 57 
of the PFMA throughout the period under review and up 
to the date of the approval of these annual financial 
statements.

   The Board and management have taken and are 
continuing to take steps to ensure that the areas of 
non‑compliance are addressed in the next financial year.

10.  speCial resolutions passed during  
the 2009/10 finanCial year

  special resolutions taken at the annual general 
Meeting held on 28 september 2009
amendment of the articles of association
Special Resolution Number 1
 RESOLVED that the Articles of Association 
be amended to include the following wording: 
“The Company may amend the provisions of 
the Articles of Association of the Company in 
a general meeting of shareholders or under 
approval of the majority of shareholders”.

2009/11

Special Resolution Number 2
RESOLVED that the maximum number of 
directors be increased from thirteen (13) to 
fifteen (15).

2009/12

Special Resolution Number 3
RESOLVED that the quorum applicable to 
all the meetings of the Directors shall be a 
majority of directors. 2009/13

  special resolution taken at the general 
meeting of members of the Company  
held on 15 March 2010

 Special Resolution 1
   RESOLVED that in terms of sections 55, 56 and 62 of the 

Companies Act No. 61 of 1973, as amended, the attached 
revised Memorandum and Articles of Association of the 
Company are hereby approved and adopted in substitution 
for and to the exclusion of all existing Memorandum and 
Articles of Association of the Company.

11. dividends paid and reCoMMended
   No dividends have been recommended, declared or paid 

for the current or prior financial year. The government 
guaranteed subordinated loan has been classified as 
equity in accordance with IAS 39. Accordingly, any interest 
which SAA has elected to pay to the various lenders 
has been classified as equity. For the current year SAA 
elected to pay interest of R233‑million (2008/9: R359‑million) 
on the loan.

12. issue of share Capital
   An ordinary resolution was taken on 31 March 2010 to 

issue 1 549 080 000 class A ordinary shares of R1 each 
to DPE.

13. airChefs
   In 2007/8, a decision was taken to discontinue the Airchefs 

operations whose nature of business is the supply of 
airline catering services, and is a 100% owned subsidiary 
of SAA.

   Based on the planned disposal, Airchefs was reclassified 
as a disposal Group held for sale in the prior year.

   During the year under review, management took a decision 
to cancel the intended sale of Airchefs and to retain 
Airchefs as part of the Group. The decision to retain 
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Airchefs is to reassess its service offering and to ensure 
that SAA’s strategic objective of achieving world class 
customer service is achieved.

14. direCtors
   SAA has a unitary Board comprising 13 non‑executive 

directors and 2 executive directors. All non‑executive 
directors are appointed by the Minister of Public 
Enterprises. The directors are drawn from diverse 
backgrounds (both local and international), and bring  
a wealth of experience and professional skill to the Board.

   Directors’ responsibilities and limitations are primarily 
set out in the Articles of Association, the Board of 
Directors’ Charter, the Companies Act 61 of 1973, as 
amended, the PFMA and/or shareholder’s resolutions 
and directives.

   The Board considers that the balance of executive and 
non‑executive directors is appropriate and effective for 
the control and direction of the business. The Board is 
led by a non‑executive Chairperson and the executive 
management of the Company was led by the acting Chief 
Executive Officer. There is a division of responsibilities 
between the Chairperson and the acting CEO, and their 
respective roles are described in the Board of Directors’ 
Charter and the Executive Committee Charter.

   In terms of the Memorandum and the Articles of 
Association, the Board is responsible for overall Company 
strategy, acquisitions and divestments, major capital 
projects and financial matters. The Board reviews and 
approves the strategic direction, annual budgets and 
Corporate Plans of the Company and its subsidiaries.

   The Board is required to approve all major individual 
items of capital expenditure and monitor the Group’s 
performance against financial objectives and detailed 
budgets through management’s monthly reporting.

   All Board members have separate and independent 
access to the Company Secretary for any information 
they require. The appointment and removal of the 
Secretary is a matter for the Board as a whole.

   Independent professional advice would be available to 
directors in appropriate circumstances, at the Company’s 
expense.

   None of the non‑executive directors participate in any 
bonus, share option or pension scheme of the Company.

14.1 delegation of authority
   The ultimate responsibility for the Company’s operations 

rests with the Board. The Board discharges its obligations 
in this regard through Board committees and necessary 
delegations to the CEO, subject to the statutory and 
legal provisions applicable to SAA.

   The Company’s Executive Committee assists the Chief 
Executive Officer to manage the business of the Company 

when the Board is not in session, subject to the statutory 
limits and the Board’s limits on the delegation of authority 
to the CEO.

14.2 board Committees
   Three standing Board committees have been established 

to assist the Board in discharging its responsibilities. 
Each committee acts within agreed written terms of 
reference which are reviewed on a regular basis.

   The Chairperson of each committee reports at each 
scheduled meeting of the Board. Each of the committees 
has authority to take external advice as required. 
Delegation of authority to Board committees does not in 
any way mitigate or dissipate the discharge by the Board 
of their duties and responsibilities.

   The committees are chaired by non‑executive directors. 
The Company Secretary provides secretarial services to 
all committees.

   The executive directors attend these meetings by 
invitation only.

   The three Board committees established are as follows:

	 •	 Audit	Committee;
	 •	 	Finance,	Risk	and	Investment	Committee;	and
	 •	 	Nominations,	Governance	and	Remuneration	

Committee.

14.2.1 audit Committee
   The Audit Committee comprised the following members, 

up to 28 September 2009:

	 	 •	 Adv	F	du	Plessis	(Chairperson)
	 	 •	 Ms	LM	Mojela
	 	 •	 Dr	ND	Moyo

   The committee comprised the following members, from 
28 September 2009 to 31 March 2010:

	 	 •	 Mr	BF	Mohale	(Chairperson)
	 	 •	 Adv	LG	Nkosi‑Thomas
	 	 •	 Mr	RM	Loubser
	 	 •	 Ms	Z	Manase

   With effect from 1 April 2010, the committee comprises 
the following members:

	 	 •	 Mr	ZJ	Sithole	(Chairperson)
	 	 •	 Mr	BF	Mohale
	 	 •	 Adv	LG	Nkosi‑Thomas
	 	 •	 Mr	RM	Loubser

   The Audit Committee reviews the Company’s annual 
financial statements to ensure that its accounting policies 
are the most appropriate to the Company’s circumstances 
and that its financial reporting presents a balanced and 
understandable assessment of the Company’s position 
and prospects. It also keeps under review the Company’s 
system of internal control.
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   The committee is also responsible for overseeing the 

performance, as well as the objectivity and independence, 

of the auditors and is also required to pre‑approve the 

audit fees.

   Both internal and external auditors have unfettered access 

to the committee. Management is invited to all Committee 

meetings. According to Treasury Regulation 27 issued 

in terms of the PFMA, the Audit Committee is required 

to report on the effectiveness of internal controls and 

to comment on its evaluations of the annual financial 

statements, as reflected on page 35.

14.2.2 finance, risk and investment Committee (friC)

   The FRIC comprised the following members, up to 

28 September 2009:

	 	 •	 Ms	LM	Mojela	(Chairperson)

	 	 •	 Mr	PG	Joubert

	 	 •	 Ms	MM	Whitehouse

   The committee comprised the following members, from 

28 September 2009 to 31 March 2010:

	 	 •	 Ms	MM	Whitehouse	(Chairperson)

	 	 •	 Mr	RM	Loubser

	 	 •	 Mr	T	Daka

   This committee is responsible for assisting the Board 

in discharging its duties relating to corporate and 

investment accountability and the associated risks in 

terms of management assurance and reporting. The 

committee reports to the Board through its chairperson 

and does not absolve the Board of its ultimate accountability. 

The major duties fulfilled by this committee are as 

follows:

	 •	 	Present	the	overall	financial	risk	exposure	to	the	

directors.

	 •	 	Review	and	recommend	any	changes	to	the	Financial	

Risk Management Policy to the Board.

	 •	 	Review	 and	 approve	 treasury	 counterparties	 and	

counterparty limits for banking, investment and 

hedging purposes.

	 •	 	Review	financial	risk	management	activities.

	 •	 	Report	on	the	implementation	and	control	of	financial	

risk management activities to the Board.

	 •	 	Review	investment	decisions	and	make	recommen‑

da tions to the Board.

14.2.3  nominations, governance and remuneration 

Committee (reMCo)

   The Nominations, Governance and Remuneration 

Committee comprised the following members, up to 

28 September 2009:

	 	 •	 Ms	KP	Kalyan	(Chairperson)

	 	 •	 Ms	LM	Mojela

	 	 •	 Mr	BIL	Modise

   The committee comprised the following members, from 
28 September 2009 to 31 March 2010:

	 	 •	 Ms	CA	Carolus	(Chairperson)
	 	 •	 Mr	TC	Jantjies
	 	 •	 Ms	DC	Myeni

   This Board Committee meets at least quarterly and at 
such other times as the Chairperson may determine. The 
responsibilities of the committee include the following:

	 •	 To	review	and	approve	related	policies.
	 •	 	To	 ensure	 that	 the	 Company’s	 directors	 and	 senior	

executives are fairly rewarded for their individual and 
joint contribution to the Company’s overall performance.

	 •	 	To	 demonstrate	 to	 all	 stakeholders	 in	 the	 business	
that remuneration of the senior executives is done 
independently and objectively.

	 •	 	To	 ensure	 that	 remuneration	 of	 senior	 executives 
is determined in accordance with the Company’s 
applicable remuneration philosophies and that such 
policies are reviewed in accordance with the Company’s 
overall business strategy.

	 •	 	To	assist	and	support	the	Board	in	the	implementation	
of the overall corporate governance at SAA.

	 •	 	To	ensure	that	nominations	to	the	Board	of	Directors	
and senior executive appointments and subsequent 
appointees are individuals who have the necessary 
and appropriate expertise in discharging their 
responsibilities.

14.2.4  restructuring sub‑committee (rsC)

  The RSC was formed in 2007 to consider all restructuring 
proposals and to make appropriate recommendations to 
the Board. The RSC was made up of the following members: 

	 •	 Ms	LM	Mojela	(Chairperson)
	 •	 Ms	MM	Whitehouse
	 •	 Adv	F	du	Plessis
	 •	 Mr	PG	Joubert	
	 •	 SAA	Group	CEO

  The role of the RSC was fundamental in the achievement 
of the objectives of the restructuring programme, especially 
in the early phases where executive commitment was key.

  With the conclusion of the restructuring process at the 
end of the financial year, the need for a separate RSC fell 
away, and its functions were assumed by FRIC.
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14.3 directors’ interests in contracts

   Directors’ and employees’ declaration of interests is a standing item at all meetings of the Board and its committees. Directors 
and employees are obliged to submit updated declarations once a year.

   Composition of the Board and changes during the year were as follows:

Number of meetings attended

saa board  
of directors  
at 31 March 2010

date of 
appointment (a)/
resignation (r) board ac Fric reMco rsc

total number of meetings held 11 4 6 5 1

number of meetings held from 28 september 2009 5 2 3 3 0

the board from 28 september 2009
Ms CA Carolus 
(Chairperson) N 28 September 2009 (A) ✓ 5 – – ✓ 3 –
Mr T Daka N 28 September 2009 (A)  ✓ 5 – ✓ 3 – –
Mr TC Jantjies N 28 September 2009 (A)  ✓ 5 – – ✓ 3 –
Mr RM Loubser N 28 September 2009 (A)  ✓ 4 ✓ – ✓ 1 – –
Mr BF Mohale N 28 September 2009 (A) ✓ 5 ✓ 2 – – –
Ms MM Whitehouse N 24 October 2006 (A) ✓ 5 – ✓ 3 – –
Ms DC Myeni N 28 September 2009 (A) ✓ 4 – – ✓ 2 –
Adv L Nkosi‑Thomas N 28 September 2009 (A)  ✓ 4 ✓ 2 – – –
Mr Z Sithole N 02 December 2009 (A) ✓ – – – – –
Ms Y Kwinana N 02 December 2009 (A)  ✓ 1 – – – –
Mr LJ Rabbets N 02 December 2009 (A) ✓ 1 – – – –
Mr JP Ndhlovu N 25 February 2010 (A) ✓ – – – – –
Mr AI Bouchon N 02 December 2009 (A)  ✓ 1 – – – –
Mr FC Smyth E 31 March 2010 (R)  ✓ 4 2* 3* 2* ✓ –
Mr KR Patel (CFO) E 26 October 2007 (A)  ✓ 5 2* 3* – ✓ –

Number of meetings attended

saa board  
of directors  
at 31 March 2010

date of 
appointment (a)/
resignation (r) board ac Fric reMco rsc

number of meetings held until 28 september 2009 6 2 3 2 1

the board until 28 september 2009
Prof GJ Gerwel N 28 September 2009 (R) ✓ 6 1* – – –
Mr BIL Modise N 28 September 2009 (R)  ✓ 6 – – ✓ – –
Ms KP Kalyan N 28 September 2009 (R)  ✓ 5 – – ✓ 2 –
Ms MM Whitehouse N 24 October 2006 (R) ✓ 5 – ✓ 1 – –
Mr PG Joubert N 28 September 2009 (R)  ✓ 6 – ✓ 3 – ✓ 1
Prof JE Schrempp N 28 September 2009 (R)  ✓ 2 – – – –
Ms LM Mojela N 28 September 2009 (R)  ✓ 4 ✓ 2 ✓ 3 ✓ 2 ✓ 1
Dr ND Moyo N 10 September 2009 (R) ✓ – ✓ 1 ✓ – – –
Adv F du Plessis N 28 September 2009 (R)  ✓ 5 ✓ 2 – – ✓ 1
Mr FC Smyth E 13 February 2009 (A)  ✓ 6 2* 3* 2* ✓ 1
Mr KR Patel (CFO) E 26 October 2007 (A)  ✓ 6 2* 3* – ✓ 1

Legend
N Non‑executive Director RSC Restructuring Sub‑committee
E Executive Director REMCO Nominations, Governance and Remuneration Committee
AC Audit Committee * Attendance by invitation
FRIC Finance, Risk and Investment Committee ✓ Membership of Board and Board Committees
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15.  approval of the annual 
finanCial stateMents

   The directors are required, by the Companies Act, 

No 61 of 1973, as amended, and the PFMA to prepare 

annual financial statements which fairly present the 

financial position of the Company and the Group at 

31 March 2010 and the results of their operations and 

cash flows for the year then ended. In preparing these 

annual financial statements, the directors are required to:

	 •	 	select	 suitable	 accounting	policies	 and	apply	 them	

consistently;

	 •	 	make	judgements	and	estimates,	which	are	reasonable	

and prudent;

	 •	 	state	whether	applicable	accounting	standards	have	

been followed; and

	 •	 	prepare	the	annual	financial	statements	on	the	going	

concern basis unless it is inappropriate to presume 

that the Group and/or the Company will continue in 

business for the foreseeable future.

   The directors are of the opinion that they have discharged 

their responsibility for keeping proper accounting records 

that disclose the financial position of the Group and the 

Company with the exception of matters disclosed 

elsewhere in this report with respect to the PFMA 

compliance.

   The directors have every reason to believe that the 

Company and the Group have adequate resources in 

place to continue in operation for the foreseeable future, 

subject to the comments noted above in paragraph 5. 

The directors have continued to adopt the going concern 

concept in preparing the annual financial statements.

directors’ report (continued)

   The external auditors, Deloitte & Touche, are responsible 

for independently auditing and reporting on the annual 

financial statements in conformity with International 

Standards on Auditing. Their report on the annual financial 

statements in terms of the Companies Act, No 61 of 

1973, as amended, the Public Finance Management Act, 

No 1 of 1999, and Public Audit Act, 25 of 2004, appears 

on page 21.

   In preparing the Company and Group annual financial 

statements set out on pages 24 to 108, unless otherwise 

disclosed, the Company and Group have complied with 

International Financial Reporting Standards, the Companies 

Act and the reporting requirements of the PFMA, and have 

used the appropriate accounting policies supported by 

reasonable and prudent judgements and estimates. The 

directors are of the opinion that these annual financial 

statements fairly present the financial position of the 

Company and the Group at 31 March 2010, and the results 

of their operations and cash flows for the year then ended.

   Approved by the Board of Directors and signed on its 

behalf by:

  Ms Cheryl Carolus Ms siza Mzimela

  Chairperson Chief Executive Officer

  29 June 2010 29 June 2010
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The Committee has accordingly resolved to ensure that urgent 
and immediate appropriate steps are taken to rectify these 
matters with particular emphasis on ensuring that the control 
systems that have been established are adhered to.

The Committee has evaluated the annual financial statements of 
South African Airways for the year ended 31 March 2010 and, 
based on the information provided to the Committee, concluded 
that they comply, in all material respects, with the requirements 
of the Companies Act, 1973 (Act No 61 of 1973), as amended, 
and International Financial Reporting Standards.

However, as noted in paragraph 6 of the Directors’ Report, the 
full disclosure requirements of the Public Finance Management 
Act, 1999 (Act No 1 of 1999), as amended, have not been met.

Reportable irregularities regarding Procurement breaches of the 
PFMA were reported in the prior year financial statements, the 
investigation of which was concluded in the current financial 
year. This further compounds non‑compliance with sections 51, 
55 and 57 of the PFMA which require SAA to prevent, detect, 
identify and report on irregular, fruitless & wasteful expenditure. 
A three‑year plan has been finalised to re‑establish the 
Procurement function ensuring over time, full compliance with 
the specified sections of the PFMA.

The Committee agrees that the adoption of the going concern 
premise is appropriate in preparing the annual financial statements, 
with the consideration of the factors highlighted in paragraph 5 
of the Directors’ Report. The Audit Committee has therefore 
recommended the adoption of the annual financial statements 
by the Board of Directors at their meeting held on 29 June 2010.

 
signed by: ZJ sithole
Chairperson

29 June 2010

Audit committee members:
ZJ Sithole
BF Mohale
Adv L Nkosi‑Thomas
RM Loubser

report of the audit CoMMittee in terMs 
of regulations 27(1)(10)(b) and (C) of the 
publiC finanCe ManageMent aCt, no 1 of 1999, 
as aMended
The Audit Committee (‘the Committee’) has adopted appropriate 
formal terms of reference, which have been confirmed by the 
Board, and has performed its responsibilities as set out in the 
terms of reference.

The Committee is constituted in terms of the principles of sound 
corporate governance practices, and operates within those principles. 
The Committee assists the Board to comply with its obligations 
under the applicable legislation including (without limitation) the 
Companies Act, the Public Finance Management Act and common 
law. The Committee provides a forum for communication between 
the Board, management and the internal and external auditors.

In performing its responsibilities the Committee has reviewed 
the following:

•	 The	effectiveness	of	the	internal	control	systems.
•	 The	effectiveness	of	the	internal	audit	function.
•	 	The	risk	areas	of	the	entity’s	operations	to	be	covered	in	the	

scope of the internal and external audits.
•	 	The	adequacy,	reliability	and	accuracy	of	financial	information	

provided to any governmental body or to be made public and 
other users of such information prior to submission and 
approval by the Board.

•	 	The	accounting	or	auditing	concerns	identified	as	a	result	of	
the internal and external audits.

•	 	The	entity’s	compliance	with	legal	and	regulatory	provisions.
•	 	The	activities	of	the	internal	audit	function,	including	its	annual	

work programme, co‑ordination with the external auditors, the 
reports of significant investigations and the responses of 
management to specific recommendations.

•	 	The	independence	and	objectivity	of	the	external	auditors.
•	 The	scope	and	results	of	the	external	audit	function.

While the Committee is satisfied that internal control policies 
and procedures were in place during the period, it has noted 
instances of non‑adherence to the policies and procedures. This 
is supported by the findings from the internal auditors and 
that of the independent forensic investigation. Therefore, the 
Committee is not confident that the Company has complied 
with the internal control policies and procedures or the applicable 
regulatory provisions (such as those in the PFMA) in the period 
under review.

report oF the audit coMMittee
for the year ended 31 March 2010
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Group company

2010 2009 2010 2009

 rand million notes restated restated

reVeNue 6 22 462 26 829 21 521 25 786

Turnover 6 16 941 20 045 15 792 18 732
Other airline income 6 & 7 5 322 6 331 5 393 6 409

total airline income 22 263 26 376 21 185 25 141

operating costs 21 036 24 478 20 016 23 582

Aircraft lease costs 8 1 623 2 266 1 623 2 266
Accommodation and refreshments 741 706 1 054 950
Depreciation and amortisation 8 760 683 709 644
Distribution costs 1 321 1 728 1 279 1 680
Electronic data costs 574 553 570 548
Energy 5 148 8 601 4 921 8 266
Employee benefit expenses 9 4 095 3 582 2 814 2 508
Material 2 117 1 772 2 926 2 522
Navigation, landing and parking fees 1 161 1 214 1 108 1 166
(Profit) loss on sale and scrapping of property,  
aircraft and equipment and assets held for sale 8 (53) 2 (54) 1
Net impairment write‑off (reversal) 10 143 (331) 286 (178)
Other operating costs 3 406 3 702 2 780 3 209

profit before fair value movements  
and translation losses 8 1 227 1 898 1 169 1 559
Fair value movements and translation losses 11 (601) (1 564) (533) (1 501)

operating profit before finance costs  
and investment income 626 334 636 58
Finance costs 12 (229) (363) (265) (404)
Investment income 13 199 453 336 645

profit before taxation 596 424 707 299
Taxation 14 (15) (22) (10) (16)

profit for the year 581 402 697 283

other comprehensive income:
Actuarial losses on defined benefit plans 17 (35) (48) (35) (48)
Taxation related to components of other 
comprehensive income 17 10 16 10 16

other comprehensive loss for the year  
net of taxation 17 (25) (32) (25) (32)

total comprehensive income 556 370 672 251

total comprehensive income/(loss) attributable to:
Equity holders of the parent 323 11 439 (108)
Subordinated loan providers 233 359 233 359
Basic and diluted earnings per share (cents) 16 5 4 – –

stateMeNts oF coMpreheNsiVe iNcoMe
for the year ended 31 March 2010
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Group company

2010 2009 2010 2009

rand million notes restated restated

assets
Non‑current assets
Property, aircraft and equipment 18 6 673 7 073 5 909 6 327
Intangible assets 19 90 103 85 99
Investments in subsidiaries 20 – – 338 338
Reimbursement right 21 – 75 – 75
Deferred taxation asset 22 18 23 – –

total non‑current assets 6 781 7 274 6 332 6 839

current assets
Inventories 23 606 593 57 77
Investments in subsidiaries 20 & 24 – – 1 653 1 798
Derivative financial assets 25 76 140 76 140
Trade and other receivables 26 3 165 4 084 2 683 3 284
Investments 27 122 349 122 349
Cash and cash equivalents 28 3 402 3 778 3 111 3 633

total current assets 7 371 8 944 7 702 9 281

Assets and disposal Group held for sale 29 10 80 10 11

total assets 14 162 16 298 14 044 16 131

eQuity aNd liabilities
capital and reserves
Share capital 30 12 892 11 343 13 126 11 577
Non‑distributable reserves (100) (75) (100) (75)
Shareholder restructuring fund 653 653 653 653
Accumulated loss (13 705) (14 053) (14 233) (14 697)

shareholder’s deficit (260) (2 132) (554) (2 542)
Subordinated loan guaranteed by government 31 1 300 2 864 1 300 2 864

total capital and reserves 1 040 732 746 322

liabilities
Non‑current liabilities
Long‑term loans 32 2 139 3 080 2 139 3 080
Employee benefit obligations 33 41 242 41 242
Provisions 34 399 344 399 344
Deferred revenue on ticket sales 37 1 159 1 352 1 159 1 352
Other long‑term liabilities 35 63 63 – –

total non‑current liabilities 3 801 5 081 3 738 5 018

current liabilities
Derivative financial liabilities 25 – 227 – 227
Trade and other payables 36 4 422 5 127 4 818 5 490
Provisions 34 796 1 064 697 1 096
Deferred revenue on ticket sales 37 3 540 3 314 3 482 3 261
Short‑term portion of long‑term loans 32 553 688 553 688
Finance lease obligations 38 10 29 10 29

total current liabilities 9 321 10 449 9 560 10 791

Liabilities included in disposal Group held for sale 29 – 36 – –

total liabilities 13 122 15 566 13 298 15 809

total eQuity aNd liabilities 14 162 16 298 14 044 16 131

stateMeNts oF FiNaNcial positioN
for the year ended 31 March 2010
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stateMeNts oF chaNGes iN eQuity
for the year ended 31 March 2010

Group

 rand million
share

capital

non‑
distribut‑

able
 reserves

share‑
holder

 restruc‑
turing
 fund

total
reserves

accumu‑
lated
loss

share‑
holder’s

deficit

sub‑
ordinated

 loans
guaran‑
teed by

 govern‑
ment

total
capital

and
reserves

Balance at 1 April 2008  
– as previously reported 11 343 (43) 653 610 (12 321) (368) 2 864 2 496
Restatement(1) – – – – (1 775) (1 775) – (1 775)

balance at 1 april 2008 
– restated 11 343 (43) 653 610 (14 096) (2 143) 2 864 721
Total comprehensive income 
for the year – restated – (32) – (32) 402 370 – 370

– As previously reported – (32) – (32) 398 366 – 366
– Restatement(1) – – – – 4 4 – 4

Dividends paid on 
government subordinated 
loan classified as an equity 
instrument – – – – (359) (359) – (359)

balance at 1 april 2009 
– restated 11 343 (75) 653 578 (14 053) (2 132) 2 864 732
Total comprehensive income 
for the year – (25) – (25) 581 556 – 556
Issue of share capital 1 549 – – – – 1 549 – 1 549
Repayment of subordinated 
loan during the year – – – – – – (1 564) (1 564)
Dividends paid on 
government subordinated 
loan classified as an  
equity instrument – – – – (233) (233) – (233)

balance at 31 March 2010 12 892 (100) 653 553 (13 705) (260) 1 300 1 040

(1) Refer to Note 5 for details of restatement.
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company

rand million
share

capital

non‑
distribut‑

able
 reserves

share‑
holder

 restruc‑
turing
 fund

total
reserves

accumu‑
lated
loss

share‑
holder’s

deficit

sub‑
ordinated

 loans
guaran‑
teed by

 govern‑
ment

total
capital

and
reserves

Balance at 1 April 2008  
– as previously reported 11 577 (43) 653 610 (12 846) (659) 2 864 2 205
Restatement(1) – – – – (1 775) (1 775) – (1 775)

balance at 1 april 2008 
– restated 11 577 (43) 653 610 (14 621) (2 434) 2 864 430
Total comprehensive income 
for the year – restated – (32) – (32) 283 251 – 251

– As previously reported – (32) – (32) 279 247 – 247
– Restatement(1) – – – – 4 4 – 4

Dividends paid on 
government subordinated 
loan classified as an equity 
instrument – – – – (359) (359) – (359)

balance at 1 april 2009 
– restated 11 577 (75) 653 578 (14 697) (2 542) 2 864 322
Total comprehensive income 
for the year – (25) – (25) 697 672 – 672
Issue of share capital 1 549 – – – – 1 549 – 1 549
Repayment of subordinated 
loan during the year – – – – – – (1 564) (1 564)
Dividends paid on 
government subordinated 
loan classified as an  
equity instrument – – – – (233) (233) – (233)

balance at 31 March 2010 13 126 (100) 653 553 (14 233) (554) 1 300 746

(1) Refer to Note 5 for details of restatement.

statements of Changes in equity (continued)
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stateMeNts oF cash Flows
for the year ended 31 March 2010

Group company

2010 2009 2010 2009

rand million notes restated restated

cash Flows FroM operatiNG actiVities
Cash generated from (used in) operations 43 1 700 (1 811) 1 343 (1 408)
Interest income 199 453 336 645
Finance costs (229) (363) (265) (404)
Realised derivatives (283) 1 337 (283) 1 337

Net cash inflow (outflow) from operating activities 1 387 (384) 1 131 170

cash Flows FroM iNVestiNG actiVities
Additions to property, aircraft and equipment 18 (517) (394) (487) (364)
Proceeds on disposal of property, aircraft and equipment 18 69 49 69 37
Proceeds on disposal of assets held for sale – 46 – 46
Additions to intangible assets 19 (17) (21) (14) (20)
Decrease in investments 299 197 299 197
Increase in loans to subsidiaries – – (1) (644)

Net cash outflow from investing activities (166) (123) (134) (748)

cash Flows FroM FiNaNciNG actiVities
Proceeds on share issue 30 1 549 – 1 549 –
Repayment of government subordinated loan 31 (1 564) – (1 564) –
External borrowings repaid (1 288) (564) (1 211) (563)
Dividends paid on government subordinated loans  
classified as equity instruments (233) (359) (233) (359)

Net cash outflow from financing activities (1 536) (923) (1 459) (922)

Net decrease iN cash aNd cash eQuiValeNts (315) (1 430) (462) (1 500)
Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning of the year 3 776 5 390 3 633 5 319
Foreign exchange effect on cash and cash equivalents (59) (184) (60) (186)

cash aNd cash eQuiValeNts at eNd oF the year 28 3 402 3 776 3 111 3 633

Included in cash and cash equivalents at year‑end is restricted cash of R423‑million (2008/9: R2 864‑million).
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on the acquisition of associates is included within the 
carrying amount of the investment and is assessed for 
impairment as part of the investment.

   On disposal of a subsidiary or jointly controlled entity, the 
attributable goodwill is included in the determination of 
the profit or loss on disposal.

 foreign currency transactions
   The individual annual financial statements of each Group 

entity are presented in the currency of the primary 
economic environment in which the entity operates (its 
functional currency). For the purpose of the consolidated 
annual financial statements, the results and financial 
position of each entity are expressed in South African 
Rands, which is the functional currency of the Group, and 
the presentation currency for the consolidated annual 
financial statements.

   In preparing, the annual financial statements of the 
individual entities, transactions in currencies other than 
the entity’s functional currency (foreign currencies) are 
recorded at the ruling rates of exchange, which are 
taken as being the International Air Transport Association 
(IATA) five‑day average rate applicable to the transaction 
month. At each statement of financial position date, 
monetary items denominated in foreign currencies are 
retranslated at the rates prevailing on the statement of 
financial position date. Non‑monetary items carried at fair 
value that are denominated in foreign currencies are 
retranslated at the rates prevailing on the date when the 
fair value was determined. Non‑monetary items that are 
measured in terms of historical cost in a foreign currency 
are not retranslated.

   Exchange differences arising on the settlement of 
monetary items, and on the retranslation of monetary 
items, are included in profit or loss for the period. Exchange 
differences arising on the retranslation of non‑monetary 
items carried at fair value are included in profit or loss 
for the period except for differences arising on the 
retranslation of non‑monetary items in respect of which 
gains and losses are recognised directly in equity.

   For such non‑monetary items, any exchange component 
of that gain or loss is also recognised directly in equity. 
For the purpose of presenting consolidated annual financial 
statements, the assets and liabilities of the Group’s 
foreign operations (including comparatives) are expressed 
in Rands using exchange rates prevailing on the statement 
of financial position date. Income and expense items 
(including comparatives) are translated at the average 
exchange rates for the period, unless exchange rates 
fluctuated significantly during that period, in which 
case the five‑day average exchange rates are used. 
Exchange differences arising, if any, are classified as 
equity and transferred to the Group’s translation reserve. 
Such translation differences are recognised in profit or 
loss in the period in which the foreign operation is 
disposed of.

   Goodwill and fair value adjustments arising on the 
acquisition of a foreign operation are treated as assets 
and liabilities of the foreign operation and translated at 
the closing rate.

1.  basis of preparation and signifiCant 
aCCounting poliCies

 statement of compliance
   The consolidated annual financial statements of South 

African Airways (Pty) Limited (the Group and the 
Company), have been prepared in accordance with 
International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS) and 
AC500 standards as issued by the Accounting Practices 
Board or its successor. The Group annual financial 
statements are presented in South African Rand, which 
is the Group’s reporting and functional currency, rounded 
to the nearest million. The Group annual financial statements 
have been prepared on a historical‑cost basis, except for 
measurement at fair value of certain financial instruments 
as described further in the accounting policy notes below.

   These accounting policies are consistent with the 
previous period, except for the changes set out in Note 5 
“Restatement”.

   The principal accounting policies adopted in the 
preparation of these annual financial statements are set 
out below:

 basis of consolidation
 subsidiaries
   Consolidated financial statements incorporate the financial 

statements of the Company and the entities controlled 
by the Company (subsidiaries). Control is achieved where 
the Company has the power to govern the financial and 
operating policies of an entity to obtain benefits from its 
activities. This is usually the case when the Company owns 
more than one half of the voting rights. The subsidiaries 
are fully consolidated from the effective date of acquisition 
until the effective date of disposal.

 business combinations
   The acquisition of subsidiaries is accounted for using the 

purchase method. The cost of acquisition is measured 
at the aggregate of the fair values, at the date of exchange, 
of assets given, liabilities assumed, and equity instruments 
issued by the Group in exchange for control of the acquiree, 
plus any costs directly attributable to the business 
combination.

 potential voting rights
   The existence and effect of potential voting rights that 

are currently exercisable or convertible are considered 
when assessing whether the Group controls or has 
significant influence over the other entity.

 transactions eliminated on consolidation
   All intra‑group transactions, balances and unrealised 

profits/losses are eliminated in preparing the consolidated 
annual financial statements. Where the Group transacts 
with its jointly controlled entities or with its associates, 
unrealised profits or losses are eliminated to the extent 
of the Group’s interest in the associate or joint venture.

 goodwill
   Goodwill represents the excess of the cost of acquisition 

over the net fair value of the identifiable assets, liabilities 
and contingent liabilities recognised at the acquisition 
date. Goodwill is initially recognised as an asset at 
cost and is subsequently measured at cost less any 
accumulated impairment losses. The goodwill arising 

Notes to the aNNual FiNaNcial stateMeNts
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basis are recognised as revenue when services are 
rendered by reference to the stage of completion of a 
transaction determined based on the proportion that 
costs incurred to date bear to the estimated total costs 
of the transaction.

 Maintenance costs
   Maintenance and repair costs are recognised as an 

expense when incurred.

 Maintenance reserve: group as lessee
   Maintenance reserves are payments made to certain 

lessors in terms of the aircraft lease contract. The lessors 
are contractually obligated to reimburse the Group for the 
qualifying maintenance expenditure incurred on aircraft if 
the Group has a maintenance reserves credit. Unutilised 
maintenance reserves at the expiry of the lease term are 
not refundable. Maintenance reserves are recognised as 
an expense when they become due and payable to the 
lessor in terms of the contract.

   The reimbursement amounts claimed from lessors in 
respect of qualifying maintenance expenditure are 
recognised as current assets, until actually received.

   Amounts are only recognised as assets in respect of 
maintenance costs to be reimbursed if the work has been 
performed and it appears reasonable that the amounts 
claimed are recoverable. Assets are not recognised to 
the extent of work not yet performed as should the work 
not be performed, in terms of the contract, the amounts 
previously paid cannot be recovered.

 Maintenance reserve: group as lessor
   The maintenance reserve received is recognised as 

revenue as and when they become due from the lessee.

   The provision for maintenance claim liability, limited to 
the maintenance reserves credits, is raised on receipt of 
a valid claim for reimbursement in respect of qualifying 
maintenance costs.

 power by the hour
   SAA Group enters into maintenance arrangements 

(known as power by the hour) for aircraft engines with 
technical service providers in respect of which SAA is 
required to make monthly payments based on engine 
flight hours. Where an agreement is for total care 
maintenance services, the technical service provider is 
obligated to provide engine maintenance services when 
a maintenance event occurs. The monthly payments are 
recognised as prepaid expenditure and only expensed 
when the maintenance costs are incurred.

   Where the maintenance services or repairs required on 
the engine is provided only on time and material service 
basis, the maintenance costs, less any discounts, are 
recognised as expenses when incurred.

 borrowing costs
   Borrowing costs that are directly attributable to the 

acquisition, construction or production of a qualifying 
asset form part of the costs of that asset. Other borrowing 
costs are recognised as an expense.

 taxation and deferred taxation
   Deferred tax is provided, using the statement of financial 

position liability method, on all temporary differences, 

 revenue
   Revenue consists of passenger airline revenue, freight 

and mail revenue, revenue from technical services, 
Voyager income, commissions received, interest income 
and income from leased assets, insurance recoveries, 
the release of unutilised air tickets as well as the release 
of frequent flyer deferred revenue. Revenue from services 
is recognised in the statement of comprehensive income 
as and when services are rendered.

   Passenger air ticket and cargo airway bill sales, net of 
discounts, are initially recognised as current liabilities in 
the Air Traffic Liability account and only recognised as 
revenue when the transportation service is provided. 
Commission costs are recognised in the same period as 
the revenue to which they relate.

   Air tickets that remain unutilised after a 12‑month period 
are released to revenue. The estimate is based on 
historical statistics and data that takes into account the 
terms and conditions for various ticket types.

   Interest earned on arrear accounts and bank/other 
investments balances are accrued on a time proportionate 
basis.

 frequent flyer programme
   The airline manages a travel incentive programme, 

whereby frequent travellers accumulate mileage credits 
that entitle them to free travel, and cargo users accumulate 
equivalent awards.

   Voyager revenue consists of annual participation fees, 
sale of miles to Voyager airline partners and non‑airline 
partners. The participation fees are recognised as revenue 
immediately when it becomes due and payable based on 
the terms of the participation agreement. Voyager income 
arising from the sale of mileage to non‑airline participating 
partners, such as hotels and car rental agencies, is 
recognised as revenue on accrual in the period in which 
the miles were sold.

   Until 31 March 2009, the provision for the potential 
obligation that would arise when the member became 
entitled to promised frequent flyer rewards was estimated 
based on incremental costs and an assumed level of 
redemption of frequent flyer miles earned. The provision 
was reduced to reflect the outstanding obligation as 
members redeemed awards or as their entitlement to 
awards expired less the fair value relating to the award 
credits to be redeemed.

   With the application of IFRIC 13, SAA is required to 
recognise two components of the sales price separately. 
Component one will be the value of the consideration 
received for the actual service rendered and component 
two will be the fair value of the miles accumulated as a 
result of the sale of the ticket. Component one will be 
recognised as revenue as per the revenue accounting 
policy. Component two will be deferred until such time 
that award credits are redeemed and it fulfils its obligations 
to supply awards or when such miles expire.

 technical maintenance
   Income receipts for maintenance services rendered, to 

third parties outside the Group, on a power‑by‑the‑hour 
basis are recognised as revenue when services are 
rendered based on the percentage of completion. Other 
maintenance services rendered on time and material 
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 property, aircraft and equipment
 owned assets
 land and buildings
   Land is stated at deemed cost and not depreciated. 

Buildings are stated at deemed cost, less accumulated 
depreciation and impairment losses. Deemed costs were 
determined at the date of transition to IFRS, 1 April 2004 
as the fair value of the land and buildings arrived at by 
applying the relevant property index to the property 
valuations done by professional qualified valuers in 2001.

 aircraft
   Aircraft are stated at cost less accumulated depreciation 

and any recognised impairment losses. Cost includes 
Buyer Furnished Equipment (BFE) costs and is net of 
manufacturer’s discount/credits, with subsequent additions 
to or renewal of exchangeable units also stated at cost. 
Cost includes any fair value gains or losses resulting from 
hedging instruments used to hedge the acquisition of the 
underlying asset, which qualify for hedge accounting. 
Where there are deferred payment terms, the cost is the 
cash price equivalent.

 other property, machinery and equipment
   All other property, machinery and equipment, including 

unit leading devices, are stated at cost less accumulated 
depreciation and any recognised impairment losses. 
Equipment includes major spare parts and standby 
equipment to the extent that SAA is expected to use 
them in more than one accounting period.

 depreciation
   Depreciation is not provided on assets in the course of 

construction and land. All other property and equipment 
are depreciated by recording a charge to the statement 
of comprehensive income, computed on a straight‑line 
basis so as to write off the cost of the assets less 
the anticipated residual value over their estimated 
useful lives.

   When parts of an item of property, aircraft and equipment 
have different useful lives, those components are identified 
and the useful life and residual values are estimated for 
each component. Where the useful lives for the identified 
components are similar, those are aggregated and 
depreciated as one component by applying the useful life 
relevant to that significant component.

   The residual value and the useful life of each asset or 
component thereof will be reviewed at least at each 
financial year‑end and any difference will be treated as a 
change in estimate.

  The following annual rates are applicable:

 asset class useful lives

Aircraft and simulators 8 – 15
Buildings and structures 10 – 50
Furniture 5
Office equipment 5 – 6
Computer equipment 3 – 5
Light motor vehicles 5
General purpose vehicles 10
Containers 5
Machinery 15 – 20
Cabin loaders 10 – 20

other than those listed below as being exempt. Temporary 
differences are differences at the statement of financial 
position date between the tax bases of assets and 
liabilities and their carrying amounts for financial reporting 
purposes.

   Deferred tax liabilities are recognised for all taxable 
temporary differences except when:

	 	 •	 	the	 deferred	 tax	 balance	 arises	 from	 the	 initial	
recognition of an asset or liability in a transaction 
that is not a business combination and, at the time 
of the transaction, affects neither the accounting 
profit or loss nor taxable profit or loss;

	 	 •	 	it	does	not	relate	to	goodwill;	and
	 	 •	 	in	respect	of	taxable	temporary	differences	associated	

with investments in subsidiaries, associates and 
interests in joint ventures, the timing of the reversal 
of the temporary difference can be controlled and it 
is probable that the temporary difference will not 
reverse in the foreseeable future.

   Deferred tax assets are recognised for all deductible 
temporary differences, carry‑forward of unused tax assets 
and unused tax losses, to the extent that it is probable 
that future taxable profit will be available against which 
the deductible temporary differences, carry forward of 
unused tax assets and unused tax losses can be utilised 
except for:

	 	 •	 	where	the	deferred	tax	asset	relating	to	the	deductible	
temporary difference arises from the initial recognition 
of an asset or liability in a transaction that is not 
a business combination and, at the time of the 
transaction, affects neither the accounting profit or 
loss nor taxable profit or loss; and

	 	 •	 	in	 respect	 of	 deductible	 temporary	 differences	
associated with investments in subsidiaries, 
associates and interests in joint ventures, deferred tax 
assets are only recognised to the extent that it is 
probable that the temporary differences will reverse in 
the foreseeable future and taxable profit will be 
available against which the temporary difference can 
be utilised.

   The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed 
at each statement of financial position date and reduced 
to the extent that it is no longer probable that sufficient 
taxable profit will be available to allow all or part of the 
deferred income tax asset to be utilised.

   Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured at the 
tax rates that are expected to apply to the period when 
the asset is realised or the liability is settled, based 
on tax rates (and tax laws) that have been enacted or 
substantively enacted at the statement of financial 
position date.

   The charge for normal taxation is based on the results for 
the year as adjusted for items that are non‑assessable 
or disallowed. The Group’s liability for current tax is 
calculated using tax rates that have been enacted or 
substantially enacted by the statement of financial 
position date.
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   Capitalised leased assets are depreciated using a 
depreciation policy consistent with that of depreciable 
assets that are owned, except where there is no reasonable 
certainty that the lessee will obtain ownership at the end 
of the lease term, in which case the asset is depreciated 
over the shorter of the lease term and its useful life.

   Operating lease payments are recognised as an expense 
in the statement of comprehensive income on a straight‑line 
basis over the lease term.

   Manufacturers’ credits that represent a portion of 
manufacturers’ cash incentives which have not been taken 
into account in determining the lease rentals payable 
on operating leased aircraft are initially recognised as 
liabilities and are amortised on a straight‑line basis over 
the lease term to reduce the net rental expense payable.

   Initial rentals represent amounts paid to the lessor in 
advance. These are recognised as prepaid lease payments 
at the commencement of the lease and are amortised on 
a straight‑line basis over the lease term.

 group as lessor
   Amounts due from lessees under finance leases are 

recorded as receivables at the amount of the Group’s 
net investment in the leases. Finance lease income is 
allocated to the accounting periods to reflect a constant 
periodic rate of return on the Group’s net investment 
outstanding in respect of the leases.

   Rental income from operating leases is recognised on a 
straight‑line basis over the term of the relevant lease.

   Initial direct costs incurred in negotiating and arranging 
an operating lease are added to the carrying amount of 
the leased asset and recognised on a straight‑line basis 
over the lease term.

 non‑current assets held for sale
   A non‑current asset (or disposal Group) will be classified 

as held for sale if its carrying amount will be recovered 
principally through a sale transaction rather than through 
continuing use. Assets classified as such are measured 
using the applicable IFRS immediately before classification. 
Once reclassified, the asset (or disposal Group) is 
recognised at the lower of the carrying amount and the 
fair value less costs to sell at the date when it is initially 
classified as held for sale.

   Impairment losses on initial classification as held for sale 
assets are included in the profit or loss, even for assets 
measured at fair value. Gains and losses on subsequent 
remeasurement are included in the profit or loss for 
the period.

 discontinued operations
   A discontinued operation is a component of the Group’s 

business that represents a separate major line of business 
or geographical area of operations or is a subsidiary 
acquired exclusively with a view to resale.

   Classification as a discontinued operation occurs upon 
disposal or when the operation meets the criteria to be 
classified as held for sale, if earlier.

 residual values
   The aircraft and its components have useful lives ranging 

from eight to fifteen years, with residual values of 
18% on structures and engines. All other property and 
equipment and their components have no residual value.

 Capital work in progress
   Capital work in progress relates to Buyer Furnished 

Equipment (BFE) and PDPs relating to aircraft still being 
constructed. These are released from capital work in 
progress and recognised as part of the asset when the 
construction is complete.

 exchangeable units
   Exchangeable units are classified as equipment and 

are depreciated accordingly. The cost of repairing and 
exchanging such units is charged to the statement of 
comprehensive income as and when incurred. Disposal 
or retirement of property, aircraft and equipment which 
the Group has identified as available for sale immediately 
and in their present condition, subject only to terms 
that are usual and customary for sales of such assets 
and for which its sale is highly probable, are reclassified 
as non‑current assets held for sale.

   The gain or loss arising from the disposal or retirement 
of an asset is determined as the difference between the 
sales proceeds and the carrying amount of the asset is 
recognised in the statement of comprehensive income 
when the risks and rewards related to the assets are 
transferred to the buyer.

  leasehold improvements
 land and buildings
   Improvements to leased premises are recognised as 

an asset and depreciated over the period of the lease 
term, or the useful life of the improvements, whichever 
is shorter.

 aircraft
   In cases where the aircraft held under operating leases 

are fitted with BFE at the cost of the Company, the 
BFE acquired is recognised as an asset (leasehold 
improvements) and depreciated over its useful life or 
over the period of the lease term, whichever is shorter.

 accounting for leases
   Leases are classified as finance leases whenever the 

terms of the lease transfer substantially all the risks and 
rewards of ownership to the lessee. All other leases are 
classified as operating leases.

 group as lessee
   Assets held under finance leases, are recognised as assets 

at the commencement of the lease at the fair value of 
the leased asset or, if lower, at the present value of the 
minimum lease payments. The corresponding liability 
to the lessor is included in the statement of financial 
position as a finance lease obligation. Lease payments 
are apportioned between the finance charges and reduction 
of the lease liability to achieve a constant rate of interest 
on the remaining balance of the liability. Finance charges 
are recognised in the statement of comprehensive income.
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 Calculation of recoverable amount
   The recoverable amount is the higher of the asset’s fair 

value less cost to sell and its value in use. In assessing 
the value in use, the estimated future cash flows are 
discounted to their present value using a pre‑tax discount 
rate that reflects current market assessments of the time 
value of money and the risks specific to the asset. For 
an asset that does not generate largely independent cash 
flows, the recoverable amount is determined for the cash 
generating unit to which the asset belongs.

   If the recoverable amount of an asset or cash‑generating 
unit is estimated to be less than its carrying amount, the 
carrying amount of the asset or cash‑generating unit is 
reduced to its recoverable amount. An impairment loss 
is recognised as an expense immediately.

 reversal of impairments
   Where an impairment loss subsequently reverses, the 

carrying amount of the asset (cash‑generating unit) is 
increased to the revised estimate of its recoverable 
amount. The increased carrying amount does not exceed 
the carrying amount that would have been determined 
had no impairment loss been recognised for the asset 
(cash‑generating unit) in prior years. A reversal of an 
impairment loss is recognised in income immediately. An 
impairment loss in respect of goodwill is not reversed in 
subsequent periods.

 financial instruments
   Financial assets, financial liabilities and equity instruments 

are recognised when the Group becomes a party to the 
contractual provisions of the instruments. Financial assets 
and liabilities are initially measured at fair value plus 
transaction costs that are directly attributable to the 
acquisition or issue of those financial instruments. The 
financial assets and liabilities that are classified as at fair 
value through profit and loss are measured at fair value 
excluding any transaction costs.

 financial assets
   Financial assets for the Group primarily include investment, 

trade and other receivables, cash and cash equivalents, 
and derivative financial assets. A regular‑way purchase of 
financial assets are recognised and derecognised using 
a trade date, i.e. the date that the Group commits to 
purchase the asset.

 loans and receivables
   Loans and receivables are non‑derivative financial assets 

with fixed or determinable payments that are not quoted in 
an active market, such as trade receivables, loans originated 
by the Group, fixed deposit and defeasance deposit.

   Subsequent to initial recognition, loans and receivables 
are measured at amortised cost using the effective interest 
rate method, less any impairment. Interest income is 
recognised by applying the effective interest rate, except 
for trade and other receivables when the recognition of 
interest would be immaterial.

   Assets that are to be abandoned are not classified as 
held for sale as they will not be recovered principally 
through a sale transaction, but may be classified as 
discontinued operations.

  intangible assets
 acquired intangible assets
   Intangible assets that are acquired separately are 

recognised as assets if it is probable that the expected 
future economic benefits will flow and the cost of the 
asset can be measured reliably.

   Intangible assets acquired as part of an acquisition of a 
business are recognised as an asset separately from 
goodwill if the fair value can be measured reliably 
on initial recognition. After initial recognition, acquired 
intangible assets are carried at cost less any accumulated 
amortisation and impairment losses.

 amortisation
   Amortisation is charged to profit or loss on a straight‑line 

basis over the estimated useful lives of intangible assets 
unless such lives are indefinite. Intangible assets assessed 
to have indefinite useful lives and goodwill are not amortised 
but are tested for impairment at each reporting period.

   The tangible assets with finite useful lives are amortised 
from the date they are available for use applying the 
following rates:

 intangible asset class useful lives

Application software 3 – 5
Internet booking site 5

 subsequent expenditure
   Any subsequent expenditure on capitalised intangible 

assets is capitalised only when it meets the recognition 
criteria of an intangible asset. All other expenditure is 
expensed as incurred.

 impairments
 intangible assets
   Intangible assets are tested for impairment wherever 

there are circumstances that indicate that the carrying 
value may not be recoverable. Intangible assets that have 
not yet been brought into use or have an indefinite useful 
life including goodwill will be reviewed for impairment at 
least on an annual basis.

 tangible assets
   The carrying amounts of the Group’s tangible assets, 

which mainly consist of property, aircraft and equipment, 
are reviewed at each statement of financial position 
date to determine whether there is any indication that 
those assets have been impaired. If there is any indication 
that an asset may be impaired, its recoverable amount 
is estimated in order to determine the extent of the 
impairment loss. Where it is not possible to estimate the 
recoverable amount of an individual asset, the Group 
estimates the recoverable amount of the cash‑generating 
unit to which the asset belongs.
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identified portfolio of financial instruments that the Group 
manages together and has a recent actual pattern of 
short‑term profit‑taking.

   After initial recognition, these financial assets are stated 
at fair value, with any resultant gain or loss recognised in 
profit or loss. The net gain or loss recognised in profit or 
loss incorporates any dividend or interest on the financial 
asset. Fair value is determined as stated in Note 46.1.

 Cash and cash equivalents
   Cash and cash equivalents consist of cash on hand, cash 

in banks, short‑term and long‑term deposits, bank overdrafts 
and highly liquid investments, and are initially measured 
at fair value and subsequently measured at amortised cost.

 gains and losses on subsequent measurement
   Gains or losses on investments held for trading are 

recognised in the statement of comprehensive income. 
Gains or losses on available for sale investments are 
recognised as a separate component of equity until the 
investment is sold, collected or otherwise disposed of, or 
until the investment is determined to be impaired, at 
which time the cumulative gain or loss previously reported 
in equity is recognised immediately in the net profit or loss 
for the period.

   For interest‑bearing loans and borrowings, gains and 
losses are recognised in the statement of comprehensive 
income when the liabilities are derecognised or impaired, 
as well as through the amortisation process.

 hedge accounting
   The Group did not have any derivatives that qualified for 

hedge accounting in the current or prior year.

 impairment of financial assets
   Financial assets, other than those at fair value through 

profit and loss, are assessed for indicators of impairment 
at each statement of financial position date. Financial 
assets are impaired where there is objective evidence 
that, because of one or more events that occurred after 
the initial recognition of the financial asset, the estimated 
future cash flows of the investment have been impacted.

   For categories of financial assets, such as trade receivables, 
impairment is assessed on an individual basis. Any assets 
that are assessed not to be impaired on an individual 
basis are subsequently assessed for impairment on a 
portfolio basis. The assets are grouped on a portfolio, 
taking into consideration similar credit risk characteristics. 
The objective evidence of impairment for a portfolio of 
receivables normally includes the Group’s past experience 
of collecting payments, an increase in the number of 
delayed payments in the portfolio past the average credit 
period of between 60 to 90 days, depending on the 
defined credit risk assessment for each type of debtor and 
any dispute of amount receivable from the debtor is also 
considered as part of impairment indicators. For more 
details refer to Note 26.

 available for sale financial assets
   Available for sale financial assets are non‑derivative financial 

assets that are designated as available for sale or that are 
not classified as at fair value through profit and loss, loans 
and receivable or held‑to‑maturity investments.

   This category includes listed and unlisted investments, 
except for investments in subsidiaries, associates and 
joint ventures.

   After initial recognition, available for sale financial assets 
are measured at fair value with unrealised gains or losses 
being recognised directly in other comprehensive income 
in fair value reserves.

   With disposal of financial assets, the accumulated gains 
and losses recognised in equity resulting from measurement 
at fair value are recognised in profit or loss. If a reliable 
estimate of the fair value of an unquoted equity instrument 
cannot be made, this instrument is measured at cost 
less any impairment losses.

   Dividends received from these investments are recognised 
in profit or loss when the right of payment has been 
established. These are included in the revenue. Fair value 
is determined as stated in Note 46.1.

 investments
   Investments in subsidiaries, associates and joint ventures 

are recognised on a trade date basis and are initially 
recognised at cost. After initial recognition, the Company’s 
investment in subsidiaries, associates and joint ventures 
continue to be held at cost, and are reviewed annually 
for impairment.

 derivative financial instruments
   The Group uses derivative financial instruments, such as 

foreign currency contracts, currency options, commodity 
derivative swaps, options and collars, to manage its risks 
associated with foreign currency fluctuations and underlying 
commodity fluctuations. The Group does not hold or issue 
derivative financial instruments for trading purposes. 
Derivative financial instruments are classified as held for 
trading financial asset or financial liabilities.

   The Group’s derivatives normally have a maturity period 
of 12‑months or less and are therefore presented as 
current assets or current liabilities.

   Embedded derivatives in other financial instruments or 
other host contracts are treated as separate derivatives 
when their risks and characteristics are not closely related 
to those of the host contracts and the host contracts are 
not measured at fair value with changes in fair value 
recognised in profit and loss.

  financial assets at fair value through profit and loss
   Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss include 

financial assets held for trading. These mainly include the 
derivative financial assets and commodity derivatives. A 
financial asset is classified as held for trading if it has 
been acquired principally for the purposes of selling in 
the near future, is a derivative that is not designated and 
effective as a hedging instrument and it is part of an 
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   In calculating the value of the future consideration 
receivable, any benefit or loss that will result as a 
consequence of the Group having secured the aircraft at 
the original contractual price as against the fair value of 
the aircraft at the date of delivery to the lessor, which is 
taken into consideration if the future operating lease 
payments forms part of the consideration receivable. Any 
loss arising on remeasurement is classified as impairment.

   Once the operating lease agreement related to the aircraft 
has been formally concluded, the receivable amount so 
arising is transferred from capital work in progress to 
refundable deposits.

   Where an aircraft is delivered under short‑term bridging 
finance, pending the finalisation of an operating lease, 
the related PDPs and the final instalment paid to the 
manufacturer are again remeasured at the present value 
of the expected consideration from the lessor in the same 
manner as outlined above. Under these circumstances 
the full consideration receivable is classified under 
refundable amounts.

  financial liabilities and equity instruments 
issued by the group

   Debt and equity instruments are classified as either 
financial liabilities or as equity in accordance with the 
substance of the contractual arrangement.

 equity instruments
   An equity instrument is any contract that evidences a 

residual interest in the assets of an entity after deducting 
all of its liabilities. The Group’s equity instruments primarily 
include government guaranteed subordinated loans and 
Company shares issued. Equity instruments issued by 
the Group are recorded at the proceeds received, net of 
direct issue costs.

   If the entity reacquires its own equity instruments, these 
instruments are classified as treasury shares and any 
consideration paid is recognised as direct reduction from 
equity. The gains or losses on purchase, sale, issue or 
cancellation of treasury shares are recognised directly 
in equity.

   Interest associated with liabilities classified as equity 
instruments, are accounted for as dividends.

 financial liabilities
   Financial liabilities primarily include trade and other 

payables, bank overdrafts, interest‑bearing borrowings 
from financial institutions denominated in local and 
foreign currency, and other liabilities such as finance 
lease obligations.

   Other financial liabilities are subsequently measured at 
amortised cost, with the exception of finance lease 
obligations, which are measured in terms of IAS 17 
Leases (refer to ‘Accounting policy on leases’).

   Financial liabilities at fair value through profit and loss are 
classified as held for trading. A financial liability is classified 
as held for trading if it is a derivative not designated and 

   For loans and deposits carried at amortised cost, the 
amount of the impairment is the difference between the 
asset’s carrying amount and the present value of estimated 
future cash flows, discounted at the financial asset’s 
original effective interest rate.

   The carrying amount of the financial asset is reduced by 
the impairment loss directly for all financial assets with 
the exception of trade receivables, where the carrying 
amount is reduced using an allowance account. When 
a trade and receivable is considered uncollectable, it is 
written off against the allowance account. Subsequent 
recoveries of amounts previously written off are credited 
against the allowance account. Changes in the carrying 
amount of the allowance account are recognised in 
profit or loss.

   For equity instruments held and classified as available 
for sale, a significant or prolonged decline in the fair 
value is the objective evidence for a possible impairment. 
Impairment losses previously recognised through profit 
and loss are not reversed through profit and loss. Any 
increase in fair value subsequent to an impairment loss 
is recognised directly in equity.

 derecognition
   A financial asset is derecognised when the Group loses 

control over the contractual rights of the asset. This 
occurs when the rights are realised, expire or are 
surrendered. A financial liability is derecognised when it 
is extinguished. When available for sale assets and 
assets held for trading are sold, they are derecognised 
and a corresponding receivable is recognised at the date 
the Group commits the assets. Loans and receivables 
are derecognised on the day the risks and rewards of 
ownership are transferred.

   If the Group neither transfers nor retains substantially all 
the risks and rewards of ownership and continues to 
control the transferred asset, the Group recognises its 
retained interest in the asset and an associated liability 
for amounts it may have to pay. If the Group retains 
substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership of 
a transferred financial asset, the Group continues 
to recognise the financial asset and also recognises 
collateralised borrowing for the proceeds received.

  pre‑delivery payments (pdps) and other  
aircraft deposits

   PDPs paid to the manufacturers of aircraft in terms of 
the contractual arrangements governing the purchase of 
aircraft are initially recognised as part of capital work in 
progress at the cost of the consideration delivered. In 
the event that a decision is taken that it is likely that the 
underlying aircraft will not be purchased at the expected 
delivery date, but will be leased under an operating lease, 
then the related PDPs will be remeasured to the present 
value of the consideration expected to be received from 
the ultimate lessor.

   This consideration will, if it is denominated in a foreign 
currency, be translated to the measurement currency by 
applying the exchange rate ruling at the reporting date.
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 restructuring provision
   A restructuring provision is recognised when the Group 

has a present obligation (legal or constructive) because 
of a past event, it is probable that an outflow of resources 
embodying economic benefits will be required to settle 
the obligation and a reliable estimate can be made of 
the amount of the obligation. The obligation to restructure 
arises when management has made a decision to 
restructure and a detailed formal plan for restructuring is 
put in place, an announcement to stakeholders is made 
and valid expectation to those affected has been raised 
that it will be carried out or has started to be implemented 
before statement of financial position date.

 provision for return conditions
   The provision for aircraft return conditions is raised when 

the obligating event that triggers the return conditions 
occurs; the provision is the estimated costs to be 
incurred by SAA for those aircraft that have fallen short 
of meeting the return conditions, in order to reinstate 
them to expected redelivery conditions.

 employee benefits
 pension benefits
   The Group operates a defined benefit fund as well as 

defined contribution funds. The assets of each scheme 
are held separately from those of the Group and are 
administered by the schemes’ trustees. The funds are 
actuarially valued by professional independent consulting 
actuaries.

   The Group’s contributions to the defined contribution fund 
are charged to the statement of comprehensive income 
during the year in which they relate.

   The benefit costs and obligations under the defined 
benefit fund are determined separately for each fund 
using the projected unit credit method, except for the 
SAA subfund of the Transport Pension Fund, which is 
valued based on the attained age method. The benefit 
costs are recognised in the statement of comprehensive 
income. Actuarial gains and losses are recognised in the 
period in which they occur outside of profit and loss in a 
statement of other comprehensive income.

   Past‑service costs are recognised immediately to the 
extent that the benefits are already vested and are 
otherwise amortised on a straight‑line basis over the 
average period until the amended benefits become vested.

   When the benefits of a plan are improved, the portion of 
the increased benefit relating to past services by the 
employees is recognised as an expense in the statement 
of comprehensive income on a straight‑line basis over 
the average period until the benefit becomes vested. 
To the extent that the benefits vest immediately, the 
expense is recognised immediately in the statement of 
comprehensive income.

   The amount recognised in the statement of financial 
position represents the present value of the defined 
benefit obligation reduced by the fair value of plan assets.

effective as a hedging instrument. Financial liabilities held 
for trading are subsequently stated at fair value, with any 
gains and losses recognised in profit or loss. Fair value 
is determined in a manner described in Note 46.1.

 interest‑bearing loans and borrowings
   All loans and borrowings are initially recognised at fair 

value, being the fair value of the consideration received 
net of issue costs associated with the borrowing.

   After initial recognition, interest‑bearing loans and 
borrowings are subsequently measured at amortised 
cost using the effective interest rate method. Amortised 
cost is calculated by taking into account any issue costs 
and any discount or premium on settlement.

 inventories
   Inventories are stated at the lower of cost and net 

realisable value. In general, the basis of determining cost 
is the weighted average method. Net realisable value 
represents the estimated selling price less all estimated 
costs of completion and costs to be incurred in marketing, 
selling and distribution.

   Redundant and slow‑moving inventories are identified 
on a regular basis and written down to their realisable 
values. Consumables are written down with regard to 
their age, condition and utility.

 provisions
   Provisions are recognised when the Group has a present 

obligation (legal or constructive) as a result of a past 
event, it is probable that an outflow of resources 
embodying economic benefits will be required to settle 
the obligation and a reliable estimate can be made of the 
amount of the obligation. The amount recognised as 
a provision will be reassessed at each statement of 
financial position date taking into account the latest 
estimates of expenditure required and the probability of 
the outflows. If the effect of the time value of money is 
material, provisions are determined by discounting the 
expected future cash flows at a pre‑tax rate that reflects 
current market assessments of the time value of money 
and, where appropriate, the risks specific to the liability 
except those that have been taken into account in the 
estimate of future cash flows. Where discounting is 
used, the increase in a provision due to the passage of 
time is recognised as an interest expense.

   A provision is used only for the expenditures for which 
the provision was originally recognised.

 onerous contracts
   Present obligations arising under onerous contracts are 

recognised and measured as a provision. An onerous 
contract is considered to exist where the Group has a 
contract under which the unavoidable costs of meeting 
the obligations under the contract exceed the economic 
benefits expected to be received under it.

 reimbursements
   Where the Group expects a provision to be reimbursed 

by a third party, the reimbursement is recognised as a 
separate asset but only when the reimbursement is 
virtually certain.
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 standards and interpretations
	 	 •	 	IAS	1	(Revised)	Presentation	of	Financial	Statements
	 	 •	 IAS	18	Revenue:	Consequential	amendments
	 	 •	 	IAS	19	The	Limit	on	a	Defined	Benefit	Asset,	

Minimum Funding Requirements and their 
Interaction In the South African Pension  
Fund Environment

	 	 •	 	IAS	21	The	Effects	of	Changes	in	Foreign	
Exchange Rates: Consequential amendments

	 	 •	 	IAS	23	(Revised)	Borrowing	Costs
	 	 •	 	IAS	32	Financial	Instruments:	Presentation	and	 

IAS 1 Presentation of Financial Statements 
Amendment: Puttable Financial Instruments  
and obligations Arising on Liquidation

	 	 •	 	IAS	36	Impairment	of	Assets:	Consequential	
amendments

	 	 •	 IFRIC	13:	Customer	Loyalty	Programmes
	 	 •	 	Amendments	to	IFRS	7:	Financial	Instruments:	

Disclosures (Improving Disclosures about  
Financial Instruments)

	 	 •	 	Amendments	to	IFRIC	9:	Reassessment	of	
Embedded Derivatives and IAS 39 Financial 
Instruments: Recognition and Measurement  
(Embedded Derivatives)

	 	 •	 	Amendment	to	IAS	39	and	IFRS	7:	Reclassification	
of Financial Assets

	 	 •	 Improvements	to	IFRSs	May	2008

   The adoption of all standards listed above, other than 
IFRIC 13, had no material impact on the results of the 
Group. For the impact of the adoption of IFRIC 13 and 
the revised IAS 1, refer to Note 5.

2.2 standards and interpretations early adopted
   The Group has not chosen to early adopt any standards 

and interpretations.

2.3  standards and interpretations and amendments 
to standards

   The following standards and interpretations, and 
amendments to standards are in issue but not yet effective:

 standards and interpretations
	 	 •	 	IAS	1:	Presentation	of	Financial	Statements:	

Clarification of Statements of Changes in Equity
	 	 •	 	IAS	12:	Income	Taxes:	Consequential	amendments
	 	 •	 IAS	24:	Related	Party	Disclosures
	 	 •	 	IAS	27:	Consolidated	and	Separate	Financial	

Statements (Amended)
	 	 •	 	IAS	28:	Investments	in	Associates:	Consequential	

amendments
	 	 •	 	IAS	31:	Interests	in	Joint	Ventures:	Consequential	

amendments
	 	 •	 	IAS	32:	Financial	Instruments:	Presentation
	 	 •	 	IAS	34:	Interim	Financial	Reporting	(Amended)
	 	 •	 	IAS	39:	Financial	Instruments:	Recognition	 

and Measurement – Amendments for eligible 
hedged items

	 	 •	 	IFRIC	13:	Customer	Loyalty	Programmes	(Amended)
	 	 •	 	IFRIC	14:	Limit	on	a	Defined	Benefit	Asset	(Amended)
	 	 •	 	IFRIC	17:	Distribution	of	Non‑cash	Assets	 

to Owners
	 	 •	 IFRIC	18:	Transfers	of	Assets	From	Customers
	 	 •	 	IFRIC	19:	Extinguishing	Financial	Liabilities	with	

Equity Instruments
	 	 •	 IFRS	3:	(Revised)	Business	Combinations

 post‑retirement medical benefits
   Post‑retirement medical benefits are provided by the 

Group to qualifying employees and pensioners. The 
benefit medical costs are determined through annual 
actuarial valuations by independent consulting actuaries 
using the projected unit credit method.

 short‑ and long‑term benefits
   The cost of all short‑term employee benefits, such as 

salaries, bonuses, housing allowances, medical and 
other contributions is recognised during the period in 
which the employee renders the related service.

   The Group’s net obligation in respect of long‑term service 
benefits, other than pension plans, is the amount of 
future benefit that employees have earned in return 
for their service in the current and prior periods. This 
obligation is calculated using the projected unit credit 
method and is discounted to its present value and the 
fair value of any related assets is deducted.

 termination benefits
   Termination benefits are payable whenever an employee’s 

employment is terminated before the normal retirement 
date or whenever an employee accepts voluntary 
redundancy in exchange for these benefits. The Group 
recognises termination benefits when it has demonstrated 
its commitment either to terminate the employment 
of current employees according to a detailed formal 
plan without the possibility of withdrawal or to provide 
termination benefits because of an offer made to encourage 
voluntary redundancy.

 related parties
   Parties are considered to be related to the Group if the 

Group has the ability, directly or indirectly, to control the 
party, jointly control or exercise significant influence over 
the party in making financial and operating decisions, or 
vice versa, or where the Group and the party are subject 
to common control or common significant influence.

   Related parties also include key management personnel 
who are those persons having authority and responsibility 
for planning, directing and controlling the activities of 
the entity, directly or indirectly, including any director 
(whether executive or otherwise) of the Group.

 Comparative figures
   The comparative information is consistent with the prior 

year except for the restatement as detailed in Note 5. 
These affect balances which are reflected as ‘restated’ 
in the notes to the financial statements.

2. new standards and interpretations
2.1  standards and interpretations effective and 

adopted in the current year
   In the current year, the Group has adopted the following 

standards and interpretations that are effective for the 
current financial year and that are relevant to its 
operations:
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During the year under review the residual values and 
useful lives remained unchanged as they were deemed 
to be appropriate. In the 2008 year, the Group accelerated 
the depreciation of the leasehold improvements on the 
Boeing 747‑400s due to the management decision to 
ground these aircraft.

 employee benefit obligations
   Refer to notes 1 and 41 for details relating to the 

judgements used.

 impairment assessment
   A value in use calculation was used in the assessment 

of the impairment on the 747–  400 aircraft and the 
340 – 600 aircraft.

   Net cash inflows for the remaining expected period of 
use of the aircraft was discounted to obtain the aircrafts’ 
current value which was compared to their book value.

  release of maintenance reserves impairment 
provision

   Amounts in respect of re‑imbursement amounts due 
from lessors for maintenance reserve claims are only 
recognised as assets if the work has been performed 
and it appears reasonable that the amounts to be 
claimed are recoverable. The recognition of the assets 
and values thereof are subject to critical judgements 
followed by management.

4. key sourCes of estiMation unCertainty
   The key assumptions concerning the future, and other 

key sources of estimation uncertainty at the date of the 
statement financial position, that have a significant risk 
of causing a material adjustment to the carrying amounts 
of assets and liabilities within the next financial year, are 
described below.

 power by the hour (pbth)
   Monthly payments are recognised as prepaid expenditure 

and only expensed when the maintenance costs are 
incurred. The asset or liability recorded depends on 
management’s judgement pertaining to future 
maintenance activity levels. In essence, maintenance 
is prepaid and amortised in future periods based on 
anticipated future maintenance.

   At the end of each reporting period, SAA Technical 
calculates the total engine flight hour charges for the 
scope of services as agreed in the contract and paid to 
Rolls‑Royce/Lufthansa and compares the result to the 
amounts that Rolls‑Royce/Lufthansa would have charged 
for actual off‑wing services performed under ‘time 
and material rates’. If the former result exceeds the 
latter amounts, SAA Technical recognises an asset 
(prepayment); if the latter exceeds the former, SAA 
Technical will recognise a provision.

   At year‑end, SAA Technical had recorded a net 
prepayment of R316‑million (2009: R585‑million).

 frequent flyer
   With the adoption of IFRIC 13, the Group has changed 

from providing for the potential obligation to a frequent 
flyer member from an incremental cost basis to a fair 

	 	 •	 	IFRS	7:	Financial	Instruments	Disclosures
	 	 •	 	IFRS	9:	Financial	Instruments
	 	 •	 	May	2008	Annual	Improvements	to	IFRSs:	

Amendments to IFRS 5 Non‑current Assets  
Held for Sale and Discontinued Operations

 amendments to standards
	 	 •	 	Amendment	to	IFRS	1:	Additional	Exemptions	 

for First Time Adopters
	 	 •	 	Amendment	to	IFRS	2:	Group	Cash‑settled	

Share‑based Payment Transactions
	 	 •	 Improvements	to	IFRSs	April	2009

   It is unlikely that the standards and interpretations and 
amendments to standards as detailed above will have 
a material impact on the Group’s consolidated financial 
statements.

3.  CritiCal JudgeMents in applying the 
entity’s aCCounting poliCies

 air traffic liability and revenue recognition
   The air traffic liability balance represents the proceeds 

from tickets and airway bills sold but not yet utilised. 
The balance includes the value of coupons sold by SAA, 
which will be flown and claimed in future periods by 
code‑share and interline partners. The liability is of a 
short‑term nature and is reflected as a current liability.

   SAA is able to accurately compute the forward sales 
liability on a ticket‑for‑ticket basis and management is 
using its revenue accounting system in accounting for 
tickets sold but not yet flown. The system determines 
utilised air tickets that are released to income.

   Unutilised air tickets and airway bills are released to 
income over a 12‑month rolling period. In making its 
judgement, management has considered the following:

	 	 •	 	The	 sales‑based	 revenue	 accounting	 system	 that	
makes it possible to accurately determine what part 
of this liability could be taken to revenue each 
financial year has now been in operation for more 
than four years.

	 	 •	 	The	 terms	 and	 conditions	 of	 the	 air	 tickets	 as	
stipulated in the SAA Conditions of Carriage. In 
terms of the rules, an air ticket is valid in respect of 
full fare tickets (no fare conditions) for a period of 
12‑months from the date of issue in respect of 
international travel and six months from the date of 
issue in respect of domestic travel, subject to first 
travel occurring within 12‑months or six months 
from the date of issue of the ticket then 12‑months 
or six months from the date of first travel. If it is not 
utilised within this period, it expires.

	 	 •	 	Interline	 settlement	 and	 rejections	 can,	 however,	
take longer than 12‑months to be processed.

   The assumptions and judgement in estimating the forward 
sales liability resulted in the release of R645‑million  
to income in the current year. The amount released to 
income in 2009 was R826‑million.

  useful lives and residual values of property, 
aircraft and equipment

   The Group assesses the useful lives and residual values 
of property, aircraft and equipment at each reporting date. 
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value basis. IFRIC 13 does not prescribe a specific 
approach for estimating the fair value of an award credit 
but does require that it is based on the fair value to the 
holder. The fair value of an individual credit was estimated 
based on historical information which provides the best 
information of the redemption rate, the open market ticket 
prices and the current voyager redemption model, as well 
as the conditions of use of free tickets. Should any of the 
key sources of estimation change, a material difference 
in the deferred frequent flyer revenue may occur. IFRIC 
13 clarifies that loyalty programmes are multiple element 
arrangements, in which the consideration received for the 
services earning award credits is allocated to the services 
delivered and the award credits that will be redeemed in 
the future. 

   The value of the award credits is based on the deferred 
revenue approach whereby the estimated fair value for 
the award credits is deducted from the revenue received 
and classified as ‘deferred revenue on ticket sales’ 
under ‘Liabilities’ on the statement of financial position. 
The remainder of the consideration is recognised 
as revenue immediately. The impact of the change in 
accounting policy has been disclosed in Note 5.

  Contingent liabilities and unquantifiable exposures
  Refer to paragraph 3.1 of the Directors’ Report.

5. restateMent
   The financial statements have been prepared in accordance 

with International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS) 
on a basis consistent with the prior year except for the 
adoption of the new or revised standards detailed in 
Note 2. The impact on the financial statements is 
detailed below:

  ias 1 presentation of financial statements 
revised

   During the current year, the Group adopted IAS 1 
Presentation of Financial Statements – Revised.

   The revisions resulted in several changes, including 
terminology changes. As such, the balance sheet will now 
be referred to as the statement of financial position, the 
income statement as the statement of comprehensive 
income and the cash flow statement as the statement 
of cash flows. In addition, the statements of recognised 
income and expenses have been incorporated into the 
statements of comprehensive income and statements 
of recognised income and expenses have not been 
presented.

   In accordance with the revisions, all non‑owner changes 
in equity are now presented in a single statement of 
comprehensive income.

   The revisions also introduced the concept of other 
comprehensive income and require disclosure to be 
made of all reclassification adjustments and all taxation 
implications of each component of other comprehensive 
income. This information has been disclosed in the notes 
to the financial statements.
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   The adoption of IFRIC 13 was applied retrospectively 
for the 2009 financial year. Due to systems and reliable 
information not being available prior to the 2009 financial 
year‑end, only one year of comparative information has 
been disclosed and not two years as required by IAS1.

   Dividend information will now only be disclosed either 
on the face of the statement of changes in equity or in 
the notes.

   The Standard did not provide for any transitional provisions 
for the stated revisions. The changes are required to be 
applied retrospectively.

   The change has been applied retrospectively.

 ifriC 13: frequent flyer programme
   South African Airways has loyalty programmes for both 

its passenger and cargo customers who can earn award 
credits by flying with South African Airways, partner 
airlines, Star Alliance airlines and when using the services 
of non‑airline partners such as hotel, lifestyle, financial 
and car hire partners.

   Until the 2008/9 financial year, SAA recognised the full 
consideration of the sales price of a ticket as revenue and 
provided for the potential obligation that will arise when 
the member becomes entitled to redeem award credits. 
This provision was estimated based on incremental costs 
and an assumed level of frequent flyer miles earned. 
The provision was reduced to reflect the outstanding 
obligation as members redeem awards or as their 
entitlement to awards expires.

   On 28 June 2007, the International Financial Reporting 
Interpretations Committee (IFRIC) issued an Interpretation, 
IFRIC 13: Customer Loyalty Programmes which became 
applicable for annual periods beginning on or after  
1 July 2008.

   The interpretation requires that a portion of the proceeds 
of the initial sale be allocated to the award credits which 
would be recognised as revenue only when the miles are 
redeemed or through breakage. 

   The interpretation in its current form has had a significant 
impact on SAA’s annual financial statements resulting 
in the Group changing its accounting policy for the 
customer loyalty programmes, Voyager and Frequent 
Freighter, by applying IAS 8, Accounting Policies, Changes 
in Accounting Estimates and Errors with retrospective 
application. The prior year financial information has 
therefore been restated.

    The effect of the changes in accounting policy on the 
annual financial statements for the year ended 31 March 
2010 is as follows:
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5. RESTATEMENT (continued)
Group Company

 Rand million Notes 2009 2009

Statements of financial position
provisions
Provision for frequent flyer liability 34
Balance at 31 March 2009 – as previously stated  272  272 
Reversal of frequent flyer liability which is no longer required  
in terms of IFRIC 13  (272)  (272)

Balance at 31 March 2009 – restated  –  – 

Deferred revenue on ticket sales
Frequent Flyer deferred revenue for the Voyager programme 37
Balance at 31 March 2009 – as previously stated  –  – 
Transfer of frequent flyer provision to frequent flyer deferred revenue  
for the Voyager programme  272  272 
Reclassification of revenue previously recognised in accumulated  
losses now requiring deferral under IFRIC 13  1 771  1 771 

Balance at 31 March 2009 – restated  2 043  2 043 

Statements of changes in equity
Accumulated losses
Balance at 1 April 2008 – as previously stated  (12 321)  (12 846)
Reclassification of revenue previously recognised in accumulated  
losses now requiring deferral under IFRIC 13  (1 775)  (1 775)

Balance at 1 April 2008 – restated  (14 096)  (14 621)

Statements of comprehensive income
Revenue
Voyager income 6
Balance for the year ended 31 March 2009 – as previously stated  294  294 
Current year deferral of revenue as required under IFRIC 13  (78)  (78)

Balance for the year ended 31 March 2009 – restated  216  216 

other operating expenses
Incremental costs
Balance for the year ended 31 March 2009 – as previously stated  82  82 
Reversal of the year's incremental cost which is no longer required  
under IFRIC 13  (82)  (82)

Balance for the year ended 31 March 2009 – restated  –  –  

profit for the year
Balance for the year ended 31 March 2009 – as previously stated  398  279 
Net result of the deferral of revenue and the reversal of the incremental  
cost for the year  4  4 

Balance for the year ended 31 March 2009 – restated  402  283 

The restated frequent flyer deferred revenue on ticket sales as at 31 March 2008 is R1 965‑million. This includes R190‑million 
previously accounted for as a provision for frequent flyer liability.

IFRS5: non‑current assets held for sale and discontinued operations
At 31 March 2010, Airchefs (Pty) Limited has been reclassified to continuing operations. In accordance with IFRS5: Non‑current 
Assets Held for Sale and Discontinued Operations, the 2009 statement of comprehensive income has been represented. The 
impact of this reclassification is that the values related to Airchefs in the statement of comprehensive income has been moved 
from discontinuing operations to continuing operations. The statement of financial position have not been represented in 
accordance with IFRS5. Refer to paragraph 13 of the Directors’ Report for further details.
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Group Company

2010 2009 2010 2009

Rand million Notes Restated Restated

6. REVENUE
The analysis of revenue for the year is as follows:

turnover
Passenger revenue 14 598 17 343 13 950 16 620
Freight and mail 1 218 1 561 1 218 1 561
Technical services 544 634 46 50
Voyager income net of deferral 5 & 37 362 216 362 216
Commission received 219 291 216 285

total turnover 16 941 20 045 15 792 18 732
Other airline income 7 5 322 6 331 5 393 6 409
Investment income 13 199 453 336 645

22 462 26 829 21 521 25 786

7. OTHER AIRLINE INCOME
Other airline income is made up of the 
following items:

Handling revenue 114 112 91 100
Income from leased assets 184 493 263 568
Release from prescribed tickets 632 810 632 810
Release from prescribed air waybills 13 16 13 16
Insurance recoveries 22 13 22 13
Fuel levies and other recoveries 4 357 4 887 4 372 4 902

5 322 6 331 5 393 6 409

8. PROFIT BEFORE FAIR VALUE MOVEMENTS  
AND TRANSLATION LOSSES
Profit before fair value movements and 
translation losses is stated after taking into 
account, among others, the following:

Depreciation
Aircraft and simulators 630 570 626 568
Land, buildings and structures 41 38 19 17
Machinery, equipment and furniture 51 41 32 31
Vehicles and cabin loaders 6 3 2 1
Containers 2 2 2 2
Property, aircraft and equipment 
included in disposal Group – 3 – –

total depreciation 730 657 681 619
Amortisation of intangible assets 19 30 26 28 25

total depreciation and amortisation 760 683 709 644
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Group Company

2010 2009 2010 2009

Rand million Note Restated

8. PROFIT BEFORE FAIR VALUE MOVEMENTS  
AND TRANSLATION LOSSES (continued)
operating lease payments
Aircraft 1 623 2 266 1 623 2 266
Buildings 81 75 69 62
Equipment and vehicles 20 15 7 4

1 724 2 356 1 699 2 332

(profit) loss on sale and scrapping 
of property, aircraft and equipment
Profit on sale of property, aircraft and 
equipment (76) (27) (76) (27)
Scrapping costs 23 33 22 32

total (profit) loss on sale and scrapping 
of property, aircraft and equipment (53) 6 (54) 5
Profit on sale of assets held for sale – (4) – (4)

total (profit) loss on sale and scrapping 
of property, aircraft and equipment, 
and assets held for sale (53) 2 (54) 1

Restructuring (reversal) cost
Grounding of Boeing 747‑400 fleet (166) 151 (166) 151
Penalties on late delivery of 747‑400s – 149 – 149
Labour costs 6 174 6 174

total restructuring costs (160) 474 (160) 474

professional fees
Managerial services 5 6 5 6
Technical services 51 87 36 71
Internal audit fees 26 15 23 10

total professional fees 82 108 64 87

Auditors’ remuneration
Audit fees – current year 17 18 16 16
Other services – 1 – 1

total auditors’ remuneration 17 19 16 17

Maintenance reserves released to the 
statement of comprehensive income 26 (495) (583) (495) (583)

Directors’ and executive management’s emoluments are disclosed in Note 42.
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Group Company

2010 2009 2010 2009

Rand million Notes Restated

9. EMPLOYEE BENEFIT EXPENSES
9.1 Short‑term employee benefit expenses

Personnel and labour costs 3 729 3 295 2 544 2 295
Contribution to pension funds 261 225 180 165
Contribution to provident funds 31 31 31 31
Contribution to post‑retirement medical funds 47 46 32 32

4 068 3 597 2 787 2 523

9.2 Post‑employment benefit expenses(1)

Current‑service costs 39 36 39 36
Interest cost 100 108 100 108
Expected return on plan assets (122) (164) (122) (164)
Past‑service costs – 7 – 7
Foreign exchange losses 10 2 10 2
Gains on curtailment – (4) – (4)

27 (15) 27 (15)

total employee benefit expenses 4 095 3 582 2 814 2 508

(1)  These costs relate to other post‑employment  
and other long‑term employee benefit plans for 
the Group. The post‑employment benefit costs 
relating to the SAA subfund of the Transport 
Pension Fund have been disclosed in Note 41.1.2.

10. NET IMPAIRMENT WRITE‑OFF (REVERSAL)
Impairment of loans and receivables  
held at amortised cost
Impairment of accounts receivable 33 80 30 76
Impairment of other assets
Impairment of reimbursement right  
on Frankfurt defined benefit fund 41.4 – 37 – 37
Net impairment of carrying value  
of investment in subsidiaries 24 – – 146 159
Reversal of impairment of property,  
aircraft and equipment (18) – (18) –
Impairment of aircraft(1) 128 – 128 –
Reversal of impairment of PDPs on A320 order – (472) – (472)
Impairment of assets held for sale – 24 – 22

143 (331) 286 (178)

(1)  The impairment of aircraft relates to the impairment processed on the owned 747‑400 aircraft and 340‑600 aircraft.
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Group Company

Rand million 2010 2009 2010 2009

11. FAIR VALUE MOVEMENTS AND 
TRANSLATION LOSSES
Foreign exchange (loss) gain on translation of:
Foreign currency investments (59) (184) (59) (186)
Foreign currency‑denominated long‑term loans (193) 34 (117) 77
Net monetary assets and liabilities (33) (122) (41) (100)

Translation of foreign assets and liabilities (285) (272) (217) (209)

Fair value (loss) gain on derivative 
instruments held for trading:
Realised loss on derivatives (283) (755) (283) (755)
Fair value gain (loss) on derivative financial instruments 163 (291) 163 (291)
Option premiums amortised (196) (246) (196) (246)

net fair value loss on derivative instruments  
held for trading (316) (1 292) (316) (1 292)

total fair value movements and translation losses (601) (1 564) (533) (1 501)

12. FINANCE COSTS
the interest paid related to financial liabilities  
held at amortised cost is detailed below:
Interest paid on long‑term borrowings 227 347 227 347
Interest paid on overdraft 1 14 – 13
Interest on obligations under finance leases 1 2 1 2
Other interest paid – – 37 42

229 363 265 404

Recognised directly in equity
Interest paid on subordinated loans guaranteed 
by government classified as a dividend 233 359 233 359

13. INVESTMENT INCOME
Interest received was derived from:
Cash and bank balances 191 421 191 420
Loans and receivables (defeasance deposit) 8 32 8 32
Other financial assets – held at amortised cost – – 137 193

199 453 336 645
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Group Company

2010 2009 2010 2009

Rand million Restated Restated

14. TAXATION
Major components of the tax expense

South African normal taxation:
Current
Local income tax – current period – – – –

Deferred
Deferred taxation – current year 5 5 – –
Deferred taxation – rate adjustment – 1 – –
Deferred taxation – impairment of net asset raised  
through other comprehensive income 10 16 10 16

15 22 10 16

total taxation
Current – – – –
Deferred 15 22 10 16

15 22 10 16

Reconciliation of the tax expense

Reconciliation between accounting profit and tax expense:
Tax at the applicable tax rate of 28% (2009: 28%) 167 119 198 84

tax effect of adjustments on non‑taxable income
Tax effect of non‑taxable income (18) (132) (18) (132)
Tax effect of non‑deductible expenses 105 51 70 93
Tax effect of rate adjustment – 1 – –
Current year temporary differences not recognised 438 49 529 85
Estimated tax loss utilised (622) (12) (714) (29)
Dividend classified as interest – tax deductible (65) (101) (65) (101)
Current year estimated tax loss not utilised – 31 – –
Release of deferred tax raised in equity 10 16 10 16

15 22 10 16

Estimated tax losses available to be utilised against future 
taxable income 7 642 9 414 6 715 8 705
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15. DISCONTINUING OPERATION AND DISPOSAL GROUP HELD FOR SALE
    The discontinuing operation relates to the previously planned disposal of Airchefs (Pty) Limited, a 100%‑owned subsidiary of 

SAA. Airchefs had been reclassified as a disposal Group held for sale since the 2008 financial year.

    The Group previously made a decision to sell the business of Airchefs (Pty) Limited, a subsidiary whose nature of business is 
the supply of airline catering services.

   During the year under review, management took a decision to cancel the sale of Airchefs and to retain Airchefs as part of the 
Group. Refer to paragraph 13 of the Directors’ Report and note 5.

  Detailed below are the assets and liabilities relating to the discontinuing operation and disposal Group held for sale.

Group

Rand million Note 2010 2009

Assets and liabilities of disposal Group held for sale
Assets
Land, buildings and structures – 33
Machinery, equipment and furniture – 4
Vehicles, cabin loaders and capital work in progress – 1
Inventories – 9
Trade and other receivables – 22
Cash and cash equivalents – –

29 – 69

liabilities
Long‑term loans – (1)
Accounts payable – (28)
Provision for leave – (5)
Bank overdraft – (2)

29 – (36)

16. BASIC AND DILUTED EARNINGS PER SHARE (CENTS)
Group

2010 2009

Rand million Restated

Weighted average number of ordinary shares in issue (millions) 12 056 11 343
Profit for the year (R million) 581 402

Basic and diluted earnings per share (cents) 5 4

The effect of the restatement had no material impact on gain per share.

Weighted average number of shares
Ordinary shares at the beginning of the year 11 343 11 343
Ordinary shares issued during the year 713 –

ordinary shares at the end of the year 12 056 11 343
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17. OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME

Components of other comprehensive 
income – Group 2010

Rand million Gross Tax(1) Net

Actuarial (losses) gains on defined benefit plans
Losses on Frankfurt Pension Fund (4) 1 (3)
Losses on UK Pension Fund (7) 2 (5)
Losses on SAA subfund of Transport Pension Fund (28) 8 (20)
Gains on post‑retirement medical benefits 4 (1) 3

(35) 10 (25)

Components of other comprehensive 
income – Group 2009

Rand million Gross Tax(1) Net

Actuarial (losses) gains on defined benefit plans
Gains on Frankfurt Pension Fund 30 (7) 23
Losses on UK Pension Fund (6) 2 (4)
Losses on SAA subfund of Transport Pension Fund (66) 19 (47)
Losses on post‑retirement medical benefits (6) 2 (4)

(48) 16 (32)

Components of other comprehensive 
income – Company 2010

Rand million Gross Tax(1) Net

Actuarial (losses) gains on defined benefit plans
Losses on Frankfurt Pension Fund (4) 1 (3)
Losses on UK Pension Fund (7) 2 (5)
Losses on SAA subfund of Transport Pension Fund (28) 8 (20)
Gains on post‑retirement medical benefits 4 (1) 3

(35) 10 (25)

Components of other comprehensive 
income – Company 2009

Rand million Gross Tax(1) Net

Actuarial (losses) gains on defined benefit plans
Gains on Frankfurt Pension Fund 30 (7) 23
Losses on UK Pension Fund (6) 2 (4)
Losses on SAA subfund of Transport Pension Fund (66) 19 (47)
Losses on post‑retirement medical benefits (6) 2 (4)

(48) 16 (32)

(1)  The deferred tax arising from the net actuarial losses has been impaired.
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18. PROPERTY, AIRCRAFT AND EQUIPMENT

Group

2010 2009

Rand million
Cost/

valuation
Accumulated
depreciation

Carrying
value

Cost/
valuation

Accumulated
depreciation

Carrying
value

Land, buildings  
and structures 1 425 (218) 1 207 1 385 (173) 1 212
Machinery, equipment  
and furniture 598 (372) 226 509 (310) 199
Vehicles and cabin loaders 68 (53) 15 57 (42) 15
Aircraft and simulators 10 660 (6 004) 4 656 10 442 (5 285) 5 157
Containers 35 (33) 2 34 (31) 3
Capital work in progress 567 – 567 487 – 487

13 353 (6 680) 6 673 12 914 (5 841) 7 073
Classified as part  
of disposal Group  
held for sale – – – 76 (38) 38

total 13 353 (6 680) 6 673 12 990 (5 879) 7 111

Company

2010 2009

Rand million
Cost/

valuation
Accumulated
depreciation

Carrying
value

Cost/
valuation

Accumulated
depreciation

Carrying
value

Land, buildings  
and structures 709 (90) 619 706 (71) 635
Machinery, equipment  
and furniture 270 (167) 103 229 (144) 85
Vehicles and cabin loaders 28 (21) 7 28 (27) 1
Aircraft and simulators 10 618 (6 000) 4 618 10 401 (5 284) 5 117
Containers 35 (33) 2 34 (31) 3
Capital work in progress 560 – 560 486 – 486

total 12 220 (6 311) 5 909 11 884 (5 557) 6 327

Reconciliation Group Cost 2010

Rand million
Opening
balance Additions Disposals

Transfer
 from

disposal
group held

 for sale
Revaluation 

of PDPs Total

Land, buildings and structures 1 385 17 (14) 37 – 1 425
Machinery, equipment and furniture 509 75 (11) 25 – 598
Vehicles and cabin loaders 57 11 (14) 14 – 68
Aircraft and simulators 10 442 239 (21) – – 10 660
Containers 34 1 – – – 35
Capital work in progress 487 174 – 5 (99) 567

12 914 517 (60) 81 (99) 13 353
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18. PROPERTY, AIRCRAFT AND EQUIPMENT (continued)

Reconciliation Group Accumulated depreciation and impairment 2010

Rand million
Opening
balance Disposals

Depre‑
ciation

Transfer
from

disposal
group held

for sale
Impairment

loss Total

Land, buildings and structures (173) – (41) (4) – (218)
Machinery, equipment and furniture (310) 10 (51) (21) – (372)
Vehicles and cabin loaders (42) 13 (6) (18) – (53)
Aircraft and simulators (5 285) 21 (630) – (110) (6 004)
Containers (31) – (2) – – (33)

(5 841) 44 (730) (43) (110) (6 680)

Reconciliation Group Cost 2009

Rand million
Opening
balance Additions Disposals

Revaluation
of PDPs

Transfer
to assets

held for sale Total

Land, buildings and 
structures 1 422 1 (31) – (7) 1 385
Machinery, equipment  
and furniture 484 32 (7) – – 509
Vehicles and cabin loaders 48 10 (1) – – 57
Aircraft and simulators 10 619 292 (469) – – 10 442
Containers 33 2 (1) – – 34
Capital work in progress 504 57 (10) (64) – 487

13 110 394 (519) (64) (7) 12 914

Reconciliation Group Accumulated depreciation and impairment 2009

Rand million
Opening
balance Disposals

Depre‑
ciation

Reversal of
 impairment

of PDPs Total

Land, buildings and structures (137) 2 (38) – (173)
Machinery, equipment and furniture (275) 6 (41) – (310)
Vehicles and cabin loaders (40) 1 (3) – (42)
Aircraft and simulators (5 172) 457 (570) – (5 285)
Containers (30) 1 (2) – (31)
Capital work in progress (472) – – 472 –

(6 126) 467 (654) 472 (5 841)
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18. PROPERTY, AIRCRAFT AND EQUIPMENT (continued)

Reconciliation Company Cost 2010

Rand million
Opening
balance Additions Disposals

Revaluation
of PDPs Total

Land, buildings and structures 706 17 (14) – 709
Machinery, equipment and furniture 229 51 (10) – 270
Vehicles and cabin loaders 28 8 (8) – 28
Aircraft and simulators 10 401 237 (20) – 10 618
Containers 34 1 – – 35
Capital work in progress 486 173 – (99) 560

11 884 487 (52) (99) 12 220

Reconciliation Company Accumulated depreciation  
and impairment 2010

Rand million
Opening
balance Disposals

Depre‑
ciation

Impairment
loss Total

Land, buildings and structures (71) – (19) – (90)
Machinery, equipment and furniture (144) 9 (32) – (167)
Vehicles and cabin loaders (27) 8 (2) – (21)
Aircraft and simulators (5 284) 20 (626) (110) (6 000)
Containers (31) – (2) – (33)

(5 557) 37 (681) (110) (6 311)

Reconciliation Company Cost 2009

Rand million
Opening
balance Additions Disposals

Revaluation
of PDPs

Transfer
to assets

held for sale Total

Land, buildings and structures 743 1 (31) – (7) 706
Machinery, equipment and 
furniture 220 20 (11) – – 229
Vehicles and cabin loaders 28 1 (1) – – 28
Aircraft and simulators 10 587 284 (470) – – 10 401
Containers 33 1 – – – 34
Capital work in progress 493 57 – (64) – 486

12 104 364 (513) (64) (7) 11 884

Reconciliation Company Accumulated depreciation  
and impairment 2009

Rand million
Opening
balance Disposals

Depre‑
ciation

Reversal of
 impairment

of PDPs Total

Land, buildings and structures (56) 2 (17) – (71)
Machinery, equipment and furniture (123) 10 (31) – (144)
Vehicles and cabin loaders (27) 1 (1) – (27)
Aircraft and simulators (5 174) 458 (568) – (5 284)
Containers (29) – (2) – (31)
Capital work in progress (472) – – 472 –

(5 881) 471 (619) 472 (5 557)
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18. PROPERTY, AIRCRAFT AND EQUIPMENT (continued)
   A register of land and buildings and of leased assets is available for inspection at the registered office of the Group.

   Certain aircraft are encumbered as security for the financing thereof. The net book value of capitalised aircraft encumbered in 
respect of financing raised by the Group amounts to R3,2‑billion (2009: R3,6‑billion).

   Certain aircraft are held under suspensive sale agreements with title only passing to SAA once all obligations to the seller have been 
settled and the seller in turn has settled all its obligations under a finance lease. These events are expected to occur simultaneously.

   The category of aircraft includes the refurbishment costs of both the owned and leased aircraft. This refurbishment is amortised 
over the shorter of the useful life of the refurbished equipment or the lease term of the leased aircraft. The net book value 
of the financed improvements amounts to Rnil (2009: Rnil) and the outstanding lease finance in regard thereto amounts to 
R10‑million (2009: R29‑million).

19. INTANGIBLE ASSETS

Group

2010 2009

Rand million
Cost/

valuation

Accumulated
amortisation

and 
impairment

Carrying
value

Cost/
valuation

Accumulated
amortisation

and 
impairment

Carrying
value

Software development 366 (281) 85 352 (252) 100
Internet booking site(2) 42 (37) 5 39 (36) 3
Goodwill(1) 35 (35) – 35 (35) –

total 443 (353) 90 426 (323) 103

Company

2010 2009

Rand million
Cost/

valuation

Accumulated
amortisation

and 
impairment

Carrying
value

Cost/
valuation

Accumulated
amortisation

and 
impairment

Carrying
value

Software development 358 (278) 80 347 (251) 96
Internet booking site(2) 42 (37) 5 39 (36) 3

total 400 (315) 85 386 (287) 99

Reconciliation Group Cost 2010

Rand million
Opening
balance Additions Total

Software development 352 14 366
Internet booking site(2) 39 3 42
Goodwill(1) 35 – 35

426 17 443

Reconciliation Group Accumulated 
amortisation and impairment 2010

Rand million
Opening
balance Amortisation Total

Software development (252) (29) (281)
Internet booking site(2) (36) (1) (37)
Goodwill(1) (35) – (35)

(323) (30) (353)
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19. INTANGIBLE ASSETS (continued)

Reconciliation Group Cost 2009

Rand million
Opening
balance Additions Total

Software development 331 21 352
Internet booking site(2) 39 – 39
Goodwill(1) 35 – 35

405 21 426

Reconciliation Group Accumulated 
amortisation and impairment 2009

Rand million
Opening
balance Amortisation Total

Software development (226) (26) (252)
Internet booking site(2) (36) – (36)
Goodwill(1) (35) – (35)

(297) (26) (323)

Reconciliation Company Cost 2010

Rand million
Opening
balance Additions Total

Software development 347 11 358
Internet booking site(2) 39 3 42

386 14 400

Reconciliation Company Accumulated 
amortisation and impairment 2010

Rand million
Opening
balance Amortisation Total

Software development (251) (27) (278)
Internet booking site(2) (36) (1) (37)

(287) (28) (315)
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19. INTANGIBLE ASSETS (continued)

Reconciliation Company Cost 2009

Rand million
Opening
balance Additions Total

Software development 327 20 347
Internet booking site(2) 39 – 39

366 20 386

Reconciliation Company accumulated 
amortisation and impairment 2009

Rand million
Opening
balance Additions Total

Software development (226) (25) (251)
Internet booking site(2) (36) – (36)

(262) (25) (287)

(1) The goodwill arose from acquisition of Airchefs (Pty) Limited and has been impaired in full.
(2) SAA’s internet booking site (www.flysaa.com) has been impaired to a carrying value of R5‑million (2009: R3‑million).

 The additions to intangible assets in the current financial year are due to the capitalisation of software development costs.
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Company

Rand million Note 2010 2009

20. INVESTMENTS IN SUBSIDIARIES
total investment in subsidiaries
Shares at cost 570 570
Net amounts owing by subsidiaries 24 3 293 3 292

3 863 3 862
Impairment of investments in subsidiaries and loans to subsidiaries (1 872) (1 726)

1 991 2 136

Presented as part of non‑current assets 338 338
Presented as part of current assets 1 653 1 798

1 991 2 136

Subsidiary place of incorporation nature of business
Airchefs (Pty) Limited South Africa Airline catering
SAA City Centre (Pty) Limited South Africa Travel agency
SAA Technical (Pty) Limited South Africa Maintenance of aircraft
Tulca (Pty) Limited, trading as Mango South Africa Airline business

Name of subsidiaries
Shares
million

% holding
Shares at cost 
Rand million

2010 2009 2010 2009

Airchefs (Pty) Limited (1) 100 100 72 72
SAA City Centre (Pty) Limited 2 100 100 2 2
SAA Technical (Pty) Limited 160 100 100 160 160
Tulca (Pty) Limited, trading as Mango (1) 100 100 336 336

570 570
Impairment of investment in subsidiaries (232) (232)

338 338

(1) Less than one million shares.

The share of the net aggregate profits of the subsidiaries for the year amounted to R57‑million (2009: losses of R172‑million).

Company

Directors’ valuation(2) 2010 2009

Airchefs (Pty) Limited 13 –
SAA City Centre (Pty) Limited 4 2
SAA Technical (Pty) Limited – –
Tulca (Pty) Limited, trading as Mango 525 505

542 507

(2)  The companies were valued by the directors in the current year. Airchefs (Pty) Limited, SAA City Centre (Pty) Limited and SAA Technical (Pty) 
Limited were valued using the net asset value method, whilst Tulca (Pty) Limited was valued using a discounted cash flow model.
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Group Company

Rand million Note 2010 2009 2010 2009

21. REIMBURSEMENT RIGHT
Cost – 112 – 112
Impairment – (37) – (37)

– 75 – 75

Refer to Note 41.4 for further details.

22. DEFERRED TAXATION ASSET
Deferred tax asset
Temporary differences in respect of property, 
aircraft equipment and intangibles (1 461) (1 425) (1 378) (1 339)
Doubtful debts 69 82 65 77
Air traffic liability and other deferred income 949 761 842 746
Provisions 1 072 746 1 030 750
Prepayments (24) (24) (23) (24)
Maintenance reserve payments 515 454 515 454
Differences due to mark‑to‑market of financial 
instruments (22) 24 (22) 24
Other assets – (16) – (16)
Assessed loss 2 178 2 706 1 880 2 507

3 276 3 308 2 909 3 179
Deferred tax asset not recognised (3 258) (3 285) (2 909) (3 179)

Deferred tax asset recognised 18 23 – –

It is the Group’s policy to only recognise deferred 
tax assets if it is probable that sufficient future 
taxable profit will be available against which the 
unused tax losses and unused tax credits can be 
utilised. The deferred tax asset recognised in 
the current year relates to Tulca (Pty) Limited.

23. INVENTORIES
Maintenance inventories 835 796 3 3
Capital work in progress 40 61 – –
Consumables 117 126 55 75

992 983 58 78
Provision for obsolescence (386) (390) (1) (1)

total inventories – continuing operations 606 593 57 77
Classified as part of disposal Group  
held for sale 15 – 9 – –

606 602 57 77
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Company

Rand million 2010 2009

24. AMOUNTS OWING BY (TO) SUBSIDIARIES
Subsidiaries
SAA Technical (Pty) Limited 3 248 3 256
Airchefs (Pty) Limited 44 44
SAA City Centre (Pty) Limited 1 (8)

Subtotal 3 293 3 292
Impairment of loans to subsidiaries (1 640) (1 494)

1 653 1 798

 The loans to subsidiaries bear interest at rates ranging between the South African prime overdraft rate less 200 basis points and 
prime. The balances on the loan accounts fluctuate in line with the financing requirements of the subsidiaries and are repayable 
on demand except as detailed below. The loans have, therefore, been classified as current assets in accordance with IAS 1.

 The loan to SAA Technical (Pty) Limited has been subordinated in favour of the Company’s creditors until their assets, fairly 
valued, exceed their liabilities. The loans, where required, have been impaired to the extent of the continued technical insolvency 
of the Company.

Group and Company

Rand million
Jet fuel 

derivatives
Currency

options

Forward 
exchange 
contracts Total

25. DERIVATIVE FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS  
AND HEDGING INFORMATION
Fair value at 1 April 2008 58 73 73 204
Made up as follows:

Assets 58 73 73 204
Liabilities – – – –

Fair value adjustments reported in net profit (285) 24 (30) (291)

Fair value at 1 April 2009 (227) 97 43 (87)
Made up as follows:

Assets – 97 43 140
Liabilities (227) – – (227)

Fair value adjustments reported in net profit 292 (86) (43) 163

65 11 – 76

Group and Company

Rand million 2010 2009

Total derivative financial assets 76 140

Jet fuel derivatives 65 –
Currency options 11 97
Forward exchange contracts – 43

Total derivative financial liabilities – (227)

Jet fuel derivatives – (227)

76 (87)
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Group Company

Rand million Note 2010 2009 2010 2009

26. TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES
Gross accounts receivable 1 853 2 350 1 788 2 243
Allowance for impairment (218) (226) (204) (209)

Net trade receivables 1 635 2 124 1 584 2 034
Prepayments and other receivables 1 530 1 960 1 099 1 250

net trade and other receivables  
– continuing operations 3 165 4 084 2 683 3 284
Classified as part of disposal Group  
held for sale 15 – 22 – –

3 165 4 106 2 683 3 284

Reconciliation of impairment of trade  
and other receivables
Opening balance (226) (292) (209) (276)
Provision raised (33) (81) (30) (77)
Amounts utilised for write‑offs 41 146 35 143
Reversal of impairments – 1 – 1

Closing balance (218) (226) (204) (209)

The trade receivables portfolio impairment loss relates to:

•	 debtors	in	dispute	which	are	provided	for	immediately	when	they	become	known;
•	 	defaulting	billing	and	settlement	plan	(BSP)	and	general	sales	agents	(GSA)	that	have	exceeded	90	days	past	their	due	date;	and
•	 omissions	and	errors	due	to	uncaptured	sales.

The accounts receivable is analysed below based on the risk profile of the Group linked to the nature of the distribution network 
and the nature of operations within the Group.

Group 2010

Rand million Gross amount
Current 

not yet past due
Past due 

but not impaired Impaired amount

BSP 836 618 197 21
Credit card 186 180 – 6
GSA 129 72 47 10
Stations 7 3 – 4
Cargo freight and mail 243 118 74 51
Airline catering 2 1 – 1
Travel services 2 – – 2
Technical maintenance 67 56 – 11
Other trade debtors 381 269 – 112

1 853 1 317 318 218

Company 2010

Rand million Gross amount
Current 

not yet past due
Past due 

but not impaired Impaired amount

BSP 836 618 197 21
Credit card 186 180 – 6
GSA 129 72 47 10
Stations 7 3 – 4
Cargo freight and mail 243 118 74 51
Other trade debtors 387 275 – 112

1 788 1 266 318 204
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26. TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES (continued)

Group 2009

Rand million Gross amount
Current 

not yet past due
Past due 

but not impaired Impaired amount

BSP 909 861 – 48
Credit card 162 158 – 4
GSA 115 83 – 32
Stations 9 6 – 3
Cargo freight and mail 261 74 140 47
Airline catering 5 4 1 –
Travel services 4 3 – 1
Technical maintenance 98 72 10 16
Other trade debtors 787 437 275 75

2 350 1 698 426 226

Company 2009

Rand million Gross amount
Current 

not yet past due
Past due 

but not impaired Impaired amount

BSP 909 861 – 48
Credit card 162 158 – 4
GSA 115 83 – 32
Stations 9 6 – 3
Cargo freight and mail 261 74 140 47
Other trade debtors 787 435 277 75

2 243 1 617 417 209

Group Company

Rand million 2010 2009 2010 2009

The past due but not impaired can be analysed further  
in terms of ageing as follows:
30 – 60 days 200 263 200 262
61 – 90 days 103 59 103 53
91 – 120 days 11 104 11 102
<121 days 4 – 4 –

318 426 318 417

Included in other receivables are amounts in respect of 
maintenance payments made to lessors. Refer to the 
accounting policies section for details of the treatment of 
these claims.

Maintenance reserve receivable 1 712 1 620 1 712 1 620
Impairment provision (1 712) (1 620) (1 712) (1 620)

net maintenance reserve receivable – – – –

Reconciliation of movement in impairment provision
Opening balance (1 620) (1 689) (1 620) (1 689)
Maintenance reserve payment expenses (587) (514) (587) (514)
Total release to the statement of comprehensive income  
in the year 495 583 495 583

Maintenance reserve claims received 190 293 190 293
Maintenance reserve claims receivable 305 290 305 290

Closing balance (1 712) (1 620) (1 712) (1 620)
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Group Company

Rand million Note 2010 2009 2010 2009

27. INVESTMENTS
Investment in unlisted shares at cost
SA Airlink (Pty) Limited 35 35 35 35
Impairment of unlisted investment (35) (35) (35) (35)

Directors’ valuation of unlisted investment(1) – – – –

(1)  The valuation is based on future anticipated cash flows  
from the investment.

Investment in share trust
South African Airways Employee Share Trust – – 157 157
Impairment of the loan to South African 
Airways Employee Share Trust – – (157) (157)

– – – –

loans and receivables
Defeasance deposit 122 349 122 349
The defeasance deposit arose on the back of the 
sale and operating leaseback of two Boeing 
747‑400s. These deposits are held in two 
US$‑denominated bank accounts bearing interest 
at 6,77% per annum. The capital and interest 
earned on the deposits will be used to pay the 
related lease payments. As a result of the 
remaining two aircraft being returned in the next 
six months, the full deposit will be utilised to settle 
the obligations arising from termination of the 
lease contracts within the next financial year. 
Hence, the amount is shown as a current asset.

122 349 122 349

28. CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS
Domestic bank accounts 1 804 2 385 1 506 2 220
Foreign bank accounts 769 805 776 825
Short‑term investments – call deposits 
(US$‑denominated) 829 588 829 588

total cash and cash equivalents 
– continuing operations 3 402 3 778 3 111 3 633
Classified as part of disposal Group  
held for sale 15 – (2) – –

3 402 3 776 3 111 3 633

Cash and cash equivalents consist of cash on hand, balances with banks and investments in money market instruments.  
Cash and cash equivalents included in the statement of cash flow are as detailed above.

The cash injections from the government subordinated loan amounting to R423‑million (2009: R2 864‑million) are restricted, the 
use of which is subject to approval from the shareholder.
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Group Company

Rand million Notes 2010 2009 2010 2009

29. ASSETS AND DISPOSAL GROUPS  
HELD FOR SALE
non‑current assets held for sale
Carrying value of land and buildings  
held for sale 29.1 10 11 10 11

Assets of disposal Groups
Carrying value of assets in disposal  
Group held for sale 15 – 69 – –

10 80 10 11

liabilities of disposal Groups
Carrying value of liabilities in disposal  
Group held for sale 15 – 36 – –

29.1 Land and buildings
Management has made a decision to dispose of 
certain land and buildings. These have been 
reclassified as non‑current assets held for sale. 
The land and buildings were disposed of after 
year‑end.

30. SHARE CAPITAL
Authorised
 9 000 000 000 class A ordinary shares of R1 each 9 000 9 000 9 000 9 000
 3 000 000 000 class B ordinary shares of R1 each 3 000 3 000 3 000 3 000
 1 500 000 000 class C ordinary shares of R1 each 1 500 1 500 1 500 1 500
 750 000 000 class D ordinary shares of R1 each 750 750 750 750
 750 000 000 class E ordinary shares of R1 each 750 750 750 750

15 000 15 000 15 000 15 000

Reconciliation of number of shares issued:
Opening balance 11 343 11 343 11 577 11 577
Issue of 1 549 080 000 class A ordinary shares 1 549 – 1 549 –

Closing balance 12 892 11 343 13 126 11 577

Issued
 8 786 771 465 class A ordinary shares of R1 each 8 787 7 238 8 787 7 238
 2 412 563 822 class B ordinary shares of R1 each 2 413 2 413 2 413 2 413
 1 206 281 911 class C ordinary shares of R1 each 1 206 1 206 1 206 1 206
 603 140 956 class D ordinary shares of R1 each 603 603 603 603
 117 578 795 class E ordinary shares of R1 each 117 117 117 117
Less: Treasury shares held in Employee share trust (234) (234) – –

12 892 11 343 13 126 11 577

All shares in the classes A to D are held by the South African Government, represented by the Department of Public Enterprises, 
and enjoy the same rights. The E class shares are held by the Share Trust.
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Group Company

Rand million 2010 2009 2010 2009

31. SUBORDINATED LOANS GUARANTEED 
BY GOVERNMENT
Balance at the beginning of the year 2 864 2 864 2 864 2 864
Repaid during the year (1 564) – (1 564) –

Balance at the end of the year 1 300 2 864 1 300 2 864

The loans were secured from domestic market sources and are secured by a government guarantee. These are perpetual loans 
repayable only at the issuer’s (SAA) option. The Group has no obligation to repay the capital or the interest on the loans except 
on final liquidation after all the creditors have been paid but ranking prior to the ordinary shareholders’ right to participation. 
Should SAA elect not to make payment, the government guarantee will become effective. Should the government settle any 
amounts which SAA has elected not to pay, it will have no recourse to SAA.

The loan of R1,3‑billion bears interest at an aggregate of three months JIBAR plus 55 basis points and is payable quarterly from 
June 2007 at the sole discretion of the issuer. This loan has been classified as an equity instrument and interest paid accounted 
for as a dividend.

The loan of R1,6‑billion bore interest at an aggregate of three months JIBAR plus an average of 140 basis points and was payable 
quarterly from June 2008 at the sole discretion of the issuer. These loans have been classified as equity instruments and interest 
paid accounted for as a dividend. The loan was repaid during the year under review.

Group Company

Rand million Note 2010 2009 2010 2009

32. LONG‑TERM LOANS
Secured loans
External loans 2 692 3 768 2 692 3 768

the loans are repayable as follows:
On demand or within one year 553 688 553 688
Two to five years 1 603 2 076 1 603 2 076
Later than five years 536 1 004 536 1 004

2 692 3 768 2 692 3 768
Less: Current portion repayable on demand 
or within one year (553) (688) (553) (688)

2 139 3 080 2 139 3 080

the carrying amounts of long‑term loans  
are denominated in the following currencies:
Rand‑denominated
 Domestic loans(1) 1 613 1 934 1 613 1 934
US$‑denominated
 Foreign loans(2) 1 079 1 834 1 079 1 834

total loans – continuing operations 2 692 3 768 2 692 3 768
Classified as part of disposal Group  
held for sale 15 – 1 – –

2 692 3 769 2 692 3 768

(1)  Domestic secured loans amounting to R300‑million (2009: R378‑million) bear a fixed interest rate of 11,8% (2009: 11,8%), and represent loans 
secured over aircraft (Note 18). The balance of the loans bears interest at JIBAR plus a margin ranging from 1,48% to 2,4% and represents 
loans secured over aircraft.

(2)  The foreign secured loans in US$ bear interest between LIBOR + 0,02% and LIBOR flat and are secured over aircraft and capitalised lease 
improvements (Note 18).
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Group Company

Rand million Notes 2010 2009 2010 2009

33. EMPLOYEE BENEFIT OBLIGATIONS
Post‑retirement medical benefits 41.2.1 41 45 41 45
SAA (Germany) Pension Fund obligation 41.4 – 197 – 197

41 242 41 242

*  Refer to Note 41.2.1 and 41.4 for further information relating to these post‑retirement benefit funds.

34. PROVISIONS

Reconciliation of provisions Group 2010

Rand million
Opening
balance Additions

Utilised
 during 

the year

Released 
during 

the year Total

Short‑
term 

portion

Non‑
current 
portion

Provision for accumulated leave(1) 372 195 (140) – 427 (427) –
Provision for service bonus(2) 99 122 (98) – 123 (123) –
Provision for onerous contracts(3) 367 – (165) (166) 36 (36) –
Provision for return conditions(4) 570 39 – – 609 (210) 399

1 408 356 (403) (166) 1 195 (796) 399

Reconciliation of provisions Group 2009 – restated

Rand million
Opening
balance Additions

Utilised
 during 

the year Total

Short‑
term 

portion

Non‑
current 
portion

Provision for accumulated leave(1) 371 158 (157) 372 (372) –
Provision for service bonus(2) 91 99 (91) 99 (99) –
Provision for onerous contracts(3) 1 065 118 (816) 367 (367) –
Provision for return conditions(4) 600 121 (151) 570 (226) 344

2 127 496 (1 215) 1 408 (1 064) 344
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34. PROVISIONS (continued)

Reconciliation Company Cost 2010

Rand million
Opening
balance Additions

Utilised
 during 

the year

Released 
during 

the year Total

Short‑
term 

portion

Non‑
current 
portion

Provision for accumulated leave(1) 288 189 (149) – 328 (328) –
Provision for service bonus(2) 74 121 (102) – 93 (93) –
Provision for onerous contracts(3) 508 – (165) (277) 66 (66) –
Provision for return conditions(4) 570 39 – – 609 (210) 399

1 440 349 (416) (277) 1 096 (697) 399

Reconciliation of provisions Company 2009 – restated

Rand million
Opening
balance Additions

Utilised
 during 

the year Total

Short‑
term 

portion

Non‑
current 
portion

Provision for accumulated leave(1) 282 158 (152) 288 (288) –
Provision for service bonus(2) 77 74 (77) 74 (74) –
Provision for onerous contracts(3) 1 159 165 (816) 508 (508) –
Provision for return conditions(4) 600 121 (151) 570 (226) 344

2 118 518 (1 196) 1 440 (1 096) 344

(1)  The provision mainly relates to the accumulated leave days due to employees.
(2)  This consists of a thirteenth cheque payable to all employees for the period worked, ie if the employee completed a full year. If an employee 

works part of the year (ie starts mid‑way through the year or leaves before bonuses are paid), the employee is entitled to the thirteenth cheque 
pro rata for the months worked. The service bonus is paid annually in November. Flight deck crew receive their thirteenth cheque annually 
in April.

(3)  The onerous contract raised during the 2008 year related to the early termination of the operating leases on the Boeing 747s, due to the 
management decision to ground these aircraft in November 2007. Management took a decision to return these aircraft earlier than per the 
lease contract term. The onerous lease has been determined as the lower of the net costs for fulfilling the lease contract and the termination 
costs. The lease asset due to lease smoothing has also been reversed. The onerous lease contract also includes a provision raised, relating 
to leases between SAA and its subsidiary. The amounts receivable are onerous due to the currency and interest rate impact.

(4)  The provision for aircraft return conditions is raised when the obligating event that triggers the return conditions occurs. The provision is the 
estimated costs to be incurred by SAA for those aircraft that have fallen short of meeting the return conditions, in order to reinstate them to 
expected redelivery conditions. The outflow of economic benefits to meet this obligation only occurs when the aircraft due to be returned to 
the lessor does not meet the return conditions during the normal course of business. There is no expected reimbursement (from the lessor) 
in respect of this provision.
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Group Company

2010 2009 2010 2009

Rand million Note Restated Restated

35. OTHER LONG‑TERM LIABILITIES
Holding company loan to South African Airways 
Employee share trust 63 63 – –

The holding Company loan to the South African 
Airways Employee share trust was created 
when the E‑class shares were transferred into 
the South African Airways Employee share trust 
from the holding Company. The loan is interest 
free and is repayable on the winding up of the 
South African Airways Employee share trust. At 
the date of this report management has no 
intention to wind up the South African Airways 
Employee share trust. The Board resolution for 
this is still pending.

36. TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES
Trade payables 782 837 1 055 1 193
Other payables 3 438 4 036 3 725 4 227
Accruals 202 254 38 70

Interest accruals 32 57 32 57
Power plant accrual 170 197 6 13

total trade and other payables  
– continuing operations 4 422 5 127 4 818 5 490
Classified as part of the liabilities held for sale 15 – 28 – –

4 422 5 155 4 818 5 490

37. DEFERRED REVENUE ON TICkET SALES
Frequent Flyer deferred revenue – long‑term 1 159 1 352 1 159 1 352

Frequent Flyer deferred revenue – short‑term 769 691 769 691
Net air traffic liability – short‑term 2 771 2 623 2 713 2 570

3 540 3 314 3 482 3 261

Air traffic liability
This balance represents the unrealised income resulting from tickets and airway bills sold, but not yet utilised. The balance 
includes the value of coupons sold by SAA, which will be flown and claimed in future periods by code‑share and interline 
partners. The liability is of a short‑term nature and is reflected as a current liability. Refer to Note 3 for the critical judgements 
applied by management to the value and recognition of this liability.

Frequent flyer deferred revenue
Refer to Notes 4 and 5 for details on the Frequent Flyer deferred revenue liability.
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Group Company

Rand million 2010 2009 2010 2009

38. FINANCE LEASE OBLIGATIONS
Minimum lease payments due
 – within one year 10 30 10 30

10 30 10 30
Less: Future finance charges – (1) – (1)

present value of minimum lease payments 10 29 10 29

Finance lease liabilities relate to the in‑flight entertainment 
system installed into the Boeing 747 aircraft, and are 
denominated in US$, bearing interest at 5,63% per annum. 
As a result of the two remaining aircraft being returned 
in the next six months, these liabilities are classified as 
current liabilities.

39. COMMITMENTS
Authorised capital expenditure

Already contracted for but not provided for
Capital commitments – contracted in US$ 889(1) 1 075 889(1) 1 075

889 1 075 889 1 075

(1)  Contractual value confirmed with Airbus – Refer to paragraph 3.1 
of the Directors’ Report for details.

Capital commitments relate to the Airbus A320 order as detailed 
in paragraph 3.1 of the Directors’ Report. The amount disclosed 
includes escalations to 2013 being the financial year in which 
the first delivery is expected.

operating leases – as lessee (expense)

operating lease commitments for property, aircraft, 
equipment and vehicles are expected to be incurred  
as follows:
– within one year 1 445 2 184 1 445 2 184
– in second to fifth year inclusive 3 633 5 627 3 633 5 627
– later than five years 3 227 1 840 3 227 1 840

8 305 9 651 8 305 9 651

operating leases – as lessor (income)

Minimum lease payments due
 – within one year – 1 – 1

Included in the operating lease commitments are US$‑based 
lease commitments. Currency risks associated with these 
commitments are not hedged. The table below sets out the 
foreign denominated lease commitments.

uncovered lease commitments (uS$ million)
– One to 12‑months 164 184 164 184
– One to two years 169 165 169 165
– Two to three years 166 118 166 118
– Three to four years 162 89 162 89
– Four to five years 150 82 150 82
– Five years plus 558 120 558 120

1 369 758 1 369 758
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40. CONTINGENT LIABILITIES AND UNQUANTIFIABLE EXPOSURES
40.1 Competition Tribunal proceedings in South Africa
   Comair referred a complaint to the Competition Tribunal in regard to SAA’s Voyager Programme and Corporate Agreements. 

Nationwide joined as an applicant in the matter. The Tribunal ruled against SAA in this matter. SAA has lodged an appeal during 
February 2010 in the Appeal Court against the decision of the Competition Tribunal. The appeal will be heard in December 2010.

40.2 Competition Law Investigations Internationally
   In regard to the EU Competition Commission Investigation SAA has argued in its reply to the Statement of Objection (SO) issued 

by the EU Competition Commission (the Commission) that there are many legal/technical weaknesses in the case against SAA 
and that the allegations of fact against SAA are not substantiated by sufficient evidence.

   The SAA legal team is strongly of the view that the evidence against SAA is fragmented and inconclusive and is insufficient to 
constitute an infringement of Article 81(1), let alone a single and continuous infringement and that SAA ought to be removed 
from the Commission’s final decision and not be subject to a fine.

   The SAA legal team is also strongly of the view that the arguments SAA advanced in its reply to the SO are sound and will prevail 
on appeal to the Court of First Instance (CFI) in the event that the Commission includes SAA in an adverse decision. It is, 
however, not possible to accurately predict what the Commission’s decision will be or to estimate the extent of the fine that 
might be imposed in the event that the Commission decides to impose a fine against SAA. While the possibility exists that the 
Commission might not find against SAA and therefore impose no fine, the possibility also exists that the Commission might 
impose a fine within a wide range.

   A decision of the EU Competition Commission is still awaited and there is no official notification as regards to the expected time 
frame for the decision to be issued.

 The US Department of Justice (DoJ)
    In 2006, the Anti‑trust Division issued subpoenas for SAA to provide information and documentation in respect of a price‑fixing 

inquiry in progress within the USA. The allegation is that SAA may have been involved in price fixing in respect of its cargo 
operations in the USA. The DoJ is investigating this allegation in respect of several other airlines globally. SAA is confident about 
its prospects of success in refuting the allegations. While maintaining confidence that it was not involved in the anti‑competitive 
conduct under investigation, SAA continues with its preparations to defend the matter in the event that an indictment is 
nevertheless issued against SAA. During the reporting period SAA legal representatives in the USA have held meetings with the 
DoJ representatives to discuss the investigation against SAA.

   Civil claims in the USA normally arise from anti‑trust investigations of the nature reported above. In this regard, plaintiffs in a 
district court class action included SAA as a defendant in their action which relates to alleged conspiracy and price fixing in the 
air cargo industry by airlines and various cargo operators through the introduction and implementation of fuel, security, and/or 
war surcharges.

   On 29 April 2008 the Magistrate Judge in the civil case heard oral arguments on various motions to dismiss the plaintiff’s 
amended complaint. Whereas the magistrate judge recommended dismissal of the Plaintiffs’ claim as it stands and an 
opportunity to be provided for the plaintiffs to state their case with the required level of particularity, the District Judge did not 
confirm the Magistrate Judges’ recommendation in this regard on the grounds that the defendants had pleaded guilty in the DoJ 
process. SAA is currently involved in responding to motions filed by the plaintiffs to compel discovery of documents and 
responses to the interrogations.

 Australian Competition and Consumer Commission
   In March 2007 SAA received notification that the Australian Competition and Consumer Commission (ACCC) had initiated an 

investigation into allegations that SAA may have colluded with other airlines, internationally, in the alleged fixing of fuel and war/
security surcharges as well as general freight rates. In the same notice, SAA was required to furnish information to the ACCC. 
SAA has secured legal representation to protect its rights and at this stage SAA legal representatives are keeping watch over 
developments in Australia.

   SAA is not in a position to assess the extent of the exposure that may attach to this investigation as we have received no further 
communication regarding this matter.

 Swiss Competition Commission
   In March 2008 the Swiss Competition Commission issued SAA with notification that it had initiated an investigation into 

anti‑competitive activities in the air freight services industry and that it intended to investigate the activities of SAA in that regard. 
The notification is similar to the one issued by the EU Commission and required the submission of documentation. SAA has 
engaged legal representation in Switzerland and submitted its response to the Swiss Commission. The Commission has not yet 
communicated any further developments to SAA.

   SAA is not yet in a position to assess the extent of the exposure that may attach to this investigation.
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40.3 Other court cases pending
   There are various other court cases in which SAA is a defendant. SAA’s maximum exposure in this regard is estimated at 

R50‑million.

   SAA is also exposed to liabilities associated with changes in the regulatory framework governing travel agent agreements and 
the collection of taxed fees and charges globally. SAA cannot, as yet, quantify the value of these potential exposures.

41. EMPLOYEE BENEFIT INFORMATION
41.1 SAA Group pension benefits
   The Group offers pension benefits through one defined benefit pension fund and one defined contribution fund. The Transport 

Pension Fund was previously known as Transnet Pension Fund, the name was amended in November 2005. The Transnet 
Pension Fund Amendment Act restructured the Transport Pension Fund into a multi‑employer pension fund. From the date this 
Act came into operation, all existing members, pensioners, dependant pensioners, liabilities, assets, rights and obligations of the 
Transport Pension Fund are attributable to a subfund, with Transnet as the principal employer.

   The amended Rules of the Fund establish a subfund in the name of South African Airways (Pty) Limited (SAA Group) from  
1 April 2006. A further subfund in the name of South African Rail Commuter Corporation Limited was established with effect 
from 1 May 2006. The third subfund currently in existence is the Transnet subfund.

41.1.1 Transnet Retirement Fund (TRF)
   The fund was structured as a defined contribution fund from 1 November 2000 and is now closed to new members from the 

Group. Members may only transfer into the fund from the SAA subfund of the Transport Pension Fund. There were 6 342 
members (2009: 6 556) at 31 March 2010. Actuarial valuations are done, at intervals not exceeding three years, to determine its 
financial position. An actuarial valuation was performed at 31 March 2008. The actuaries were satisfied with the status of the 
members’ credit account then. The Group’s contributions for the period to 31 March 2010 amounted to R294‑million (2009: 
R150‑million).

41.1.2 SAA subfund of the Transport Pension Fund
   The fund is a closed defined benefit pension fund. Members are current employees of the SAA Group who elected to remain as 

members of the fund at 1 November 2000 and pensioner members who retired subsequent to that date. There were 158 active 
members (2009: 189) and 247 pensioners (2009: 235) at 31 March 2010. An actuarial valuation was done as at 31 March 2010 
based on the projected unit credit method.

   The benefits for the members of the fund are determined based on formula below:

   A member with at least 10 years’ pensionable service is entitled to the following benefits on attaining the minimum retirement 
age: An annual pensionable salary equal to average pensionable salary multiplied by pensionable service multiplied by accrual 
factor plus a gratuity equal to 1/3 of annual pension multiplied by gratuity factor. A member with less than 10 years of pensionable 
service is entitled to a gratuity equal to twice the member’s own contributions without interest on attaining the age limit.

   The asset splits between three subfunds of the Transport Pension Fund were calculated, based on the proportional allocation of 
benefit liabilities to be transferred to each subfund, and presented to the Board of the fund. The physical split has been agreed 
by the principal employers and the subfunds’ Boards.

2010 2009

% %

principal actuarial assumptions used:
Discount rate 9,16 8,24
Inflation 5,54 4,59
Salary increases
  Inflation 6,54 5,59
Pension increases
  First three years 2,00 2,00
  After three years 2,00 2,00
Expected return on assets 10,29 9,64
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41. EMPLOYEE BENEFIT INFORMATION (continued)
41.1.2 SAA subfund of the Transport Pension Fund (continued)

2010 2009

R million R million

Benefit asset/liability
Present value of obligation (1 067) (1 089)
Fair value of plan assets 1 399 1 224

Surplus 332 135
Unrecognised asset (332) (135)

net liability per the statement of financial position – –

Reconciliation of movement in present value of obligation
Opening benefit liability at the beginning of the year (1 089) (1 207)
Service cost (12) (14)
Interest cost (89) (91)
Actuarial gain (loss) 10 (34)
Benefits paid 113 104
Defined benefit obligation settled – 153

Closing present value of obligation (1 067) (1 089)

Reconciliation of fair value of plan assets
Opening of plan assets 1 224 1 599
Expected return 116 156
Actuarial gain (loss) 159 (287)
Contributions 13 14
Benefits paid (113) (104)
Transfer to defined benefit contribution fund – (154)

Closing fair value of plan assets 1 399 1 224

2010 2009

% %

the major categories of plan assets as a percentage of total plan assets are:
Equity 41 44
Property 11 11
Bonds 24 30
Cash(1) 3 (6)
International 21 21

total 100 100

(1) Cash includes net current liabilities.

2010 2009

R million R million

Current‑service costs 12 14
Interest on obligation 89 91
Expected return on plan assets (116) (156)

(15) (51)
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41.2 Medical benefits
41.2.1 SAA Group employees’ post‑retirement medical benefits
   SAA Group has an arrangement with its employees whereby SAA subsidises eligible pensioners for post‑retirement medical 

benefits.

   Post‑retirement medical aid subsidy is paid to eligible pensioners, who are members of Transmed Medical fund or Discovery 
Medical Health Scheme, who retired after 31 March 1990 or are still employees of SAA, employees who participate in the 
Discovery Health Medical Scheme and those that do not belong to a medical scheme.

   SAA subsidises continuation and in‑service members with a fixed amount of R213 per month in retirement. The amount is fixed 
irrespective of the number of dependants on the medical scheme. Dependants of members who die while in service continue 
to receive this amount.

   To enable the SAA Group to fully provide for such post‑retirement medical aid liabilities, since April 2000 actuarial valuations are 
obtained annually, as required by IAS 19: Employee Benefits. There are no assets held to fund the obligation.

 Allocation of liability to SAA Group
   The net benefit costs are allocated to subsidiaries of Transnet based on the demographic distribution of the Transnet Medical 

Scheme members, across units.

   Any deficit or liability for post‑retirement medical benefits, incurred prior to 31 March 1999, is by agreement between Transnet 
Limited and SAA, for the account of Transnet Limited. Any liability directly attributable to the airline after 1 April 1999 will be for 
SAA’s account.

   The projected unit credit method has been used for the purposes of determining an actuarial valuation of post‑retirement medical 
benefits as at 31 March 2010.

   The table below summarises the components of net benefit expense recognised in both the statement of comprehensive 
income and statement of financial position for the SAA Group as at 31 March 2010 for the SAA Group employees.

   The principal actuarial assumptions used were as follows:
2010 2009

% %

Discount rate 8,89 8,41

2010 2009

R million R million

net benefit liability
Present value of unfunded benefit obligations 41 45

Changes in the present value of defined benefit obligations are as follows:
Opening liability 45 33
Service costs 4 4
Past‑service costs – 7
Interest cost 1 2
Actuarial (gain) loss (4) 5
Benefits paid (5) (2)
Effect of curtailment of settlement – (4)

Benefit liability at year‑end 41 45

Amounts recognised in the statement of comprehensive income
Current‑service costs 4 4
Interest on obligation 1 2

5 6
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41. EMPLOYEE BENEFIT INFORMATION
41.3 SAA (Uk) Pension Fund benefits
    SAA operated the SAA (UK) Pension Fund for employees based in the United Kingdom. The fund used to have both a defined 

benefit (final salary) and defined contribution (money purchase) sections.

   In view of the risks associated with defined benefits, at the request of the Company, this section was closed to new members 
in 1996, to existing members under the age of 53 in 2003 and to the remaining members in December 2009.

   The rationale for this was to remove future liabilities from the Company and to reduce annual running costs. The Trustees 
arranged a buy out of the liabilities for members (active, deferred and pensioners) and completed the exercise in February 2010.

    Benefits for a money purchase member are determined by the contributions paid into a member’s pension account, the 
investment returns on those contributions and the cost of purchasing an annuity at retirement.

   The fund had nil (2009: nil) active members. Nil (2009: 21) deferred members still accruing final salary benefits and nil (2009: 28) 
pensioners as at 31 March 2010.

   Some members have entitlements in both the final salary section and the money purchase sections.

   The following only refers to the final salary section and specifically excludes all money purchase assets and liabilities, including 
annuities purchased at retirement in respect of money purchase entitlements.

 Actuarial valuations
   Actuarial valuations were carried out, at intervals not exceeding three years, to determine the financial position of the final salary 

section. The fund was valued using the projected unit credit method as required by IAS 19: Employee Benefits in March 2009. 
The fund had a surplus of R25‑million at the end of March 2009. Due to the arranged buy‑out of the liabilities, no valuation was 
completed for 2010.

  The principal actuarial assumptions used were as follows:

Valuation at

2010 2009

% %

Discount rate – 6,7
Expected return on assets – 6,7
Price inflation – 2,7
Pension increases in payment
– Pre‑April 2007 (4%) – 2,7
– Post April 1997 (5%) – 2,7
Pension increases during deferment – 2,7
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41. EMPLOYEE BENEFIT INFORMATION (continued)
41.3 SAA (Uk) Pension Fund benefits (continued)

2010 2009

R million R million

Benefit asset/liability
Present value of obligation – (54)
Fair value of plan assets – 79

Surplus – 25
Unrecognised asset – (25)

net liability recognised in the statement of financial position – –

Change in the present value of defined benefit obligations are as follows:
Defined benefit obligations at the beginning of the year 54 66
Service cost – 1
Interest cost – 4
Actuarial gain – (6)
Exchange loss on foreign plans – (8)
Benefits paid – (3)
Buy‑out of fund (54) –

– 54

Changes in the fair value of plan assets as follows:
Fair value of plan assets at the beginning of the year 79 100
Expected return – 8
Contributions by employer – 7
Actuarial loss – (19)
Exchange (loss) gain on foreign plans – (14)
Benefits paid – (3)
Buy‑out of fund (79) –

– 79

2010 2009

% %

the fair value of plan assets at the statement of financial position date is analysed as 
follows:
the major categories of plan assets as a percentage of total plan assets
Equity instruments – –
Debt instruments – 100

– 100
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41. EMPLOYEE BENEFIT INFORMATION (continued)

41.3 SAA (Uk) Pension Fund benefits (continued)
2010 2009

R million R million

the amounts recognised in profit or loss are as follows:
Current‑service costs – 1
Interest on obligation – 4
Expected return on plan assets – (8)
Foreign exchange loss (gain) – 4

– 1

Change to statement of other comprehensive income
Actuarial gains at the beginning of the year (8) 6
Actuarial loss recognised – (14)
Derecognition of actuarial gain on buy‑out of fund 8 –

– (8)

2010 2009 2010 2009

R million R million R million R million

Summary of actuarial valuation results for past periods:
Present value of defined benefit obligation – (54) (66) (68)
Fair value of plan assets – 79 100 88

Surplus – 25 34 20
Asset not recognised – (25) (34) (20)

total – – – –

41.4 SAA (German) Pension Fund benefits
   SAA operates a retirement plan for its German‑based permanent employees. The scheme is a defined benefit fund. The scheme 

consists of three groups which are entitled to different benefits as follows:

   Group 1: Those in the employment of SAA before 1976. All employees who were members in this group have retired and the 
scheme has therefore been closed with effect from March 2004.

  Group 2: Those in the employment of SAA from April 1976 to December 1988.

  Group 3: All new employees who joined SAA after 1 January 1989.

   The benefits payable to groups 2 and 3 are determined with reference to the rules of the scheme and are based on the 
percentage of the average salary for the last 12‑months multiplied by the number of years of pensionable service plus a cash 
lump sum. The retirement age for all employees is 63 years.

   During the year, the Protector Committee of the German Pension Scheme, with Board approval, entered into an agreement with 
the German Group Trust company, Mercer for the establishment of a Trust to house the assets of the Pension Scheme and 
manage the assets so as to match the liabilities of the Scheme. The Contractual Trust Agreement (CTA) that was set‑up resulted 
in the assets relating to the fund qualifying for set‑off in terms of IAS 19 as all assets transferred to the CTA are ring‑fenced with 
the members as beneficiaries. The value of the life insurance policies (reimbursement right), the fixed deposit and the balance 
of the deficit were then transferred to the CTA. The respective breakdown at 30 September 2009 can be seen below:

2010

R million

Reimbursement right 78
Fixed deposit 59
Balance of deficit paid into CTA 73

210
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41. EMPLOYEE BENEFIT INFORMATION (continued)

41.4 SAA (German) Pension Fund benefits (continued)
 Actuarial valuation
   Actuarial valuations in terms of the rules of the scheme are done at intervals not exceeding three years, to determine its financial 

position. The most recent actuarial valuation of plan assets and the present value of the defined benefit obligation were carried 
out in April 2010 using the Projected Unit Credit Method.

  The principal actuarial assumptions used as at the statement of financial position date were as follows:

Valuation

2010 2009

% %

Discount rate 5,3 5,5
Expected rate of salary increases 2,0 2,0
Future pension increases 4,5 4,5

2010 2009

R million R million

Results of the actuarial valuation
Benefit obligation recognised 159 197

Change in the present value of defined benefit obligations are as follows:
Defined benefit obligations at the beginning of the year 197 175
Service cost 23 17
Interest cost 10 11
Exchange differences on foreign plans (48) 2
Benefits paid (10) (8)
Actuarial gain (13) –

159 197

Changes in the fair value of plan assets are as follows:
Fair value of plan assets at the beginning of the year – –
Transfer of reimbursement right 75 –
Revaluation of reimbursement right at date of transfer to CTA fund 3 –
Transfer of cash asset 59 –
Additional amount paid in relation to contractual trust arrangement 73 –
Exchange differences on foreign plans (45) –
Member contributions 4 –
Actuarial gain 1 –
Expected return 6 –

176 –

Summary of actuarial valuation results:
Present value of defined benefit obligation (159) (197)
Fair value of plan assets 176 –

Surplus (deficit) 17 (197)
Asset not recognised (17) –

net liability per statement of financial position – (197)

Reimbursement right
Fair value of reimbursement right at the end of the year – 75

   The insurance policy was taken to finance a portion of the benefit obligations at retirement age. When each employee covered by 
the insurance policy retires, SAA receives a lump sum amount. SAA uses these funds to fund a portion of the pension benefits. 
The balance was transferred into the Contractual Trust Arrangement (CTA) set up in the current year.
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41. EMPLOYEE BENEFIT INFORMATION (continued)
41.4 SAA (German) Pension Fund benefits (continued)
 Fixed deposit
   Recognised previously as part of the cash equivalents (Note 28) was an investment raised from the proceeds paid by the insurer 

to fund pensioners’ benefit obligations. The cash available previously did not qualify as plan assets in terms of IAS 19. However, 
due to the setup of the CTA in the current year, this fixed deposit has been transferred into the CTA. This cash amounted to 
R59‑million at the end of 2010 (2009: R56‑million).

41.5 Flight Deck Crew (FDC) disability benefit
   SAA has an agreement with the Flight Deck Crew (FDC) members who are on permanent employment to top up the disability 

benefits payable by the Transnet defined contribution fund. In terms of the rules of the Transnet defined contribution fund 
all employees are entitled to 75% of the members’ pensionable salary payable when a member becomes disabled before 
the normal retirement age of 63. The agreement with FDC members is for SAA to pay a further 25% in addition to what the 
member would receive from the pension fund in the case of disability. The members or SAA makes no additional contribution 
towards these benefits, and these benefits are therefore unfunded.

   In the past, SAA has recognised the full obligation in the financial statements as there was no planned assets or insurance cover 
in place of these promised benefits. In 2007, SAA took an insurance policy to cover the 25% additional benefit to pilots, which 
resulted in SAA having a legal or constructive obligation to fund the disability benefit.

   In terms of ‘IAS 19’ an entity may pay insurance premiums to fund an employment benefit plan. An entity shall treat such a plan 
as a defined contribution plan unless the entity will have a legal or constructive obligation to either:

	 	 •	 pay	the	employee	benefits	directly	when	they	fall	due;	or
	 	 •	 	pay	further	amounts	if	the	insurer	does	not	pay	all	future	employee	benefits	relating	to	employee	service	in	the	current	and	

prior periods.

  SAA has therefore derecognised the full disability obligation during the 2007 financial year.

41.6 Share‑based payments
 Cash‑settled share‑based payments
   During the current and two prior years, SAA (Pty) Limited operated, via the South African Airways Employee Share Trust, three 

share incentive schemes, namely the Flight Deck Crew (FDC) Share Scheme, the Share Incentive Scheme and the Employee 
Share Ownership Programme. These schemes were created for the benefit of the employees of SAA. These schemes were 
classified as cash‑settled because the employees could, at their discretion exercise the option and immediately sell them back 
to the Trust for cash. These share options pertain to 156 336 120 E class shares of SAA.

   The share options not exercised lapse when an employee leaves SAA for reasons other than normal retirement as stipulated in 
the rules of the pension fund.

   In the 2008 year, the inspectors’ report in terms of section 258 of the Companies Act’ held that the trading of shares in all three 
of the schemes operated by the Share Trust were invalid. The report recommended that the Trust should recover moneys from 
incentive scheme participants to whom payment were made, tender to the participants the return of the shares and pay over 
moneys recovered to Transnet and SAA in settlement of their loans used to fund these invalid share trades. The inspectors 
concluded that although the above was recommended, Transnet, SAA, the present Trustees and all three scheme participants 
should endeavour to settle the claims arising from the invalid trading of shares. Previously, SAA entered into negotiations with 
the representatives of the scheme participants to regularise the transactions of all three share schemes. The negotiations 
resulted in an agreement for a buy‑back of all shares owned by employees under all three schemes. In addition, SAA management, 
in agreement with the representatives of scheme participants, made a final settlement to all holders of outstanding share options 
under the scheme.

   The explanations of all the share schemes that existed from April 1999 to August 2006 are detailed below. The scheme has been 
discontinued following the share buy‑back and settlement of all outstanding share options.
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41. EMPLOYEE BENEFIT INFORMATION (continued)
41.6 Share‑based payments (continued)
41.6.1 FDC Share Scheme
   The FDC Share Scheme was created for the Flight Deck Crew. Transnet Limited allocated 40 150 000 E class ordinary R1,00 

shares of SAA to this scheme. These shares are held as follows:

2010 2009

Number 
of shares

Number 
of shares

Employees – –
South African Airways Share Trust 40 150 000 40 150 000

40 150 000 40 150 000

41.6.2 Share incentive scheme
The scheme granted two types of shares, i.e. joining and promotional shares to 
management. The promotional shares had a 12‑month vesting period and the joining 
shares had a 24‑month vesting period. Vesting was calculated from 1 April 1999 or when 
the employee joined the Company. The employees could exercise these options at 25% 
per annum after vesting took place. These shares are held as follows:

South African Airways Share Trust 58 018 060 58 018 060

58 018 060 58 018 060

41.6.3 Employee Share Ownership Programme (ESOP)
This scheme was implemented in March 2001, granting employees in service of SAA on 
or before 1 April 1999 options to purchase shares at R1,00 per share. These shares vested 
over a three‑year period and were fully vested as at 31 March 2004. These shares are 
held as follows:

South African Airways Share Trust 93 168 060 93 168 060

93 168 060 93 168 060

41.7 HIV/AIDS benefits
The Group offers certain assistance to employees diagnosed with AIDS. As this programme is in its infancy, the related data is 
not sufficient to actuarially value any liability the Company may have in this regard.

41.8 Travel benefits
The Group offers certain air travel benefits to both current employees and retirees. As a percentage of the face value of the air 
ticket is normally paid in respect of the benefit (with such percentage exceeding the marginal cost of supplying the service) and 
as the ticket is only issued on a ‘standby’ basis, with fare‑paying passengers always having preference, employees or retirees 
may only fly if there is available space on the flight.

42. RELATED PARTIES
  SAA (Pty) Limited is wholly owned by the Department of Public Enterprises, a South African Government National Department. 

SAA (Pty) Limited is a Schedule 2 Public Entity in terms of the Public Finance Management Act (PFMA). It therefore has a 
significant number of related parties including other state owned entities, Government departments and all other entities within 
the national sphere of Government. Accordingly, the quantum of related parties is significant.

  The revenue from the sale of tickets to related parties has been quantified based on the information available from frequent flyer 
corporate contracts entered into with the Group. The frequent flyer participants qualify for some rebates when reaching a 
specified qualifying limit, which are similar to all other third parties who participate in this frequent flyer programme for 
corporates. Other ticket sales with related parties were made on terms equivalent to those that prevail in arms’ length 
transactions. The revenue from the sale of tickets that are not reported in terms of these contracts have not been disclosed as 
it is, and will continue to be, impossible to quantify these sales due to the nature of the distribution network. In addition, there 
is no requirement or obligation for any related party to purchase its tickets from SAA with the result that SAA’s relationship with 
these parties has no impact on related party sales and would not negatively impact results should the relationship be terminated.

  Included in the Company accounts payable is an amount of R155‑million (2009: R228‑million) relating to leases entered into 
during the prior financial year with a subsidiary of SAA.
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42. RELATED PARTIES (continued)
  The Group and its subsidiaries, in the ordinary course of business, enter into various other sales, purchase and service agreements 

with other parties within the SAA Group. The transactions entered into by entities within the Group are eliminated on consolidation.

Group Company

Rand million 2010 2009 2010 2009

Related party balances

Amounts receivable from related parties
Subsidiaries and joint ventures – – 3 311 842 3 383 275
State‑controlled entities 125 2 514 125 2 514

125 2 514 3 311 967 3 385 789

Amounts payable to related parties
Subsidiaries and joint ventures – – 1 165 579 1 089 806
State‑controlled entities 3 379 2 995 1 283 2 970
Key management personnel 21 – 21 –

3 400 2 995 1 166 883 1 092 776

•   Amounts receivable represent short‑ and long‑term amounts 
receivable.

•   Amounts payable represent short‑ and long‑term amounts payable.

Related party transactions

Sales of goods/services
Holding company 1 090 2 407 1 090 2 407
Subsidiaries and joint ventures – – 199 876 171 184
State‑controlled entities 182 670 233 168 171 143 222 789
Key management personnel 81 173 81 173
National government departments 194 157 292 040 194 157 292 040

377 998 527 788 566 347 688 593

purchases of goods/services
Subsidiaries and joint ventures – – 2 977 941 2 803 813
State‑controlled entities 570 367 642 265 568 593 640 210
National government departments 850 1 050 850 1 050

571 217 643 315 3 547 384 3 445 073

other transactions
Holding company(1) 233 328 358 749 233 328 358 749
Subsidiaries and joint ventures – – 110 315 150 379

233 328 358 749 343 643 509 128

(1) Interest paid on government subordinated loan classified as a dividend.

  Services rendered to related state‑owned entities relate mainly to transportation services. Services received from related state 
owned entities included the provision of energy, telecommunication services and financial‑related services.

  Services rendered to related national government departments relate mainly to transportation services. Services received 
from related national government departments included training, personnel services and management services.

  Key management personnel and wider SAA Group employees are entitled to concession tickets which are free or discounted 
to a nominal amount depending on the terms of the employment contract. Transactions with members of the Board of 
Directors and Group management are limited to compensation and allowances paid in the ordinary course of the business. 
There are a variety of transactions under investigation which may meet the definition of related parties and have not been 
disclosed as such.

  Details on subordination of loans by SAA (to its subsidiaries) amounting to R1,7‑billion (2009: R1,8‑billion) are included in  
Note 24.
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42. RELATED PARTIES (continued)

travel benefits 2010 travel benefits 2009

number of flights number of flights

Fees
R 000

Inter‑
national Domestic Regional

Fees
R 000

Inter‑
national Domestic Regional

Key management 
personnel 
compensation 
is set out below:

Board of Directors

non‑executive
Gerwel GJ(2) 250 – – – 500 – – –
Joubert PG(2) 150 – – – 310 2 2 –
Modise B(2) 150 – 5 – 330 – 2 –
Mojela LM(2) 185 3 4 2 350 10 4 7
Whitehouse MM 522 – 1 – 320 2 2 –
Schrempp JE(2) 150 4 – – 300 4 – –
Du Plessis F(2) 175 4 2 – 350 5 – –
Moyo ND(6) 75 3 2 4 300 8 – 5
Kalyan KP(2) 175 3 6 1 350 1 9 –
Semenya IAM(1) – – – – 20 2 7 14
Loubser RM(3) 148 – – – – – – –
Nkosi‑Thomas L(3) 146 – – – – – – –
Myeni DC(3) 135 – – – – – – –
Jantjies TC(3) 135 – 2 – – – – –
Mohale BF(3) 331 – – – – – – –
Daka T(3) 435 – – – – – – –
Carolus CA(3) 414 – – – – – – –
Kwinana Y(4) 71 – – – – – – –
Rabbets LJ(4) 71 – – – – – – –
Sithole ZJ(4) 71 – – – – – – –
Ndhlovu J(5) 36 – – – – – – –
Bouchon AI(4) 71 – – – – – – –

3 896 17 22 7 3 130 34 26 26

(1) SAA City Centre (Pty) Limited.
(2) Resigned 28 September 2009.
(3) Appointed 28 September 2009.
(4) Appointed 2 December 2009.
(5) Appointed 25 February 2010.
(6) Resigned 10 September 2009.
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42. RELATED PARTIES (continued)

Short‑term employee benefits 2010

R 000 Salaries
Allow‑
ances

Fund
contri‑

butions

Termi‑
nation

 benefits
Retention
 Premium(1)

Repay‑
ment of 

retention
 premium

Restruc‑
turing 
bonus Total

executive Committee
Smyth FC(2) 2 011 480 279 – 55 – 500 3 325
Patel KR (2) 2 271 780 341 – – – 800 4 192
Blake J 1 651 – – – – – 274 1 925
Makobe MJ(3) 291 – – – – – – 291
Nkabinde JN 1 610 – 190 – 429 – – 2 229
Zondo LB 1 682 158 – – 510 – – 2 350
Bulunga B(4) 1 333 125 165 – 297 (363) – 1 557
Poprawa SAH 1 196 449 160 – 314 – – 2 119

Total 12 045 1 992 1 135 – 1 605 (363) 1 574 17 988

(1)  Retention premiums were approved by the Remuneration Committee and are payable over a three‑year period with a clawback clause in the 
event of resignation.

(2)  Executive director and member of the Executive Committee.
(3) Resigned 30 April 2009.
(4) Resigned 31 January 2010.

Short‑term employee benefits 2009

R 000 Salaries
Allow‑
ances

Fund
contri‑

butions

Termi‑
nation

 benefits
Retention
 Premium(1)

Repay‑
ment of 

retention
 premium

Restruc‑
turing 
bonus Total

executive Committee
Ngqula KN(2) 3 831 – 1 051 9 350 756 (1 337) – 13 651
Smyth FC(3) 1 754 119 277 – 330 – 500 2 980
Patel KR(4) 1 921 960 319 – 250 – 207 3 657
Blake J 1 505 – – – – – 274 1 779
Melk T 504 48 69 68 80 (192) – 577
Dlamini P 915 79 135 289 125 (167) 254 1 630
Makobe MJ 1 827 – – – – – – 1 827
Nkabinde JN 1 379 81 160 – 429 – – 2 049
Else CR(5) 1 362 42 129 92 220 (242) 376 1 979
Naicker VK 104 11 9 198 21 (227) 375 491
Zondo LB 1 526 158 – – 510 – – 2 194
Lehetso JLR 556 – 51 1 522 37 (223) – 1 943
Bulunga B 1 290 150 172 – 396 – – 2 008

total 18 474 1 648 2 372 11 519 3 154 (2 388) 1 986 36 765

(1)  Retention premiums were approved by the Remuneration Committee and are payable over a three‑year period with a clawback clause in the 
event of resignation.

(2) K Ngqula was an executive director of the Board as well as a member of the Executive Committee before his resignation.
(3) FC Smyth was on the Executive Committee and thereafter was the acting CEO and executive director.
(4)  Executive director and member of the Executive Committee.
(5) CR Else was on the Executive Committee as well as the CEO of SAA Technical (Pty) Limited for the full financial year.
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42. RELATED PARTIES (continued)

travel benefits 2010 travel benefits 2009

number of flights number of flights

Inter‑
national Domestic Regional

Inter‑
national Domestic Regional

executive Committee
Ngqula KN(1) – – – 5 90 1
Smyth FC(2) 7 24 3 3 21 –
Patel KR(2) 11 6 5 7 4 2
Blake J 2 3 2 2 4 –
Melk T – – – 1 – –
Dlamini P – – – 8 10 –
Jordaan CF – – – – 3 –
Makobe MJ 2 – – – 6 –
Nkabinde JN 3 17 2 – 12 –
Else CR – – – 7 4 1
Naicker VK – – – – 5 –
Zondo LB 12 39 – 4 28 1
Lehutso JLR – – – – 3 –
Bulunga B 11 2 – 9 7 4
Poprawa SAH(3) – – – – – –

48 91 12 46 197 9

(1)  K Ngqula was an executive director of the Board as well as a member of the Executive Committee before his resignation.
(2)  Executive director and member of the Executive Committee.
(3)  Included in Mr Poprawa’s total cost to Company are certain rebate ticket allowances. These form part of Mr Poprawa’s total cost to Company 

as he is a SAA pilot and is entitled to these benefits under his employment contract.
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Group Company

2010 2009 2010 2009

Rand million Restated Restated

43. CASH GENERATED FROM (USED IN) OPERATIONS
Profit before taxation 596 424 707 299

Adjustments for:
Amortisation of intangible assets 30 26 28 25
Depreciation and amortisation on property,  
aircraft and equipment continuing operations 730 654 681 619
(Profit) loss on sale and scrapping of property,  
aircraft and equipment (53) 6 (54) 5
Reversal of impairment of PDPs – (472) – (472)
Profit on sale of assets held for sale – (4) – (4)
Impairment of assets held for sale – 22 – 22
Impairment of aircraft 128 – 128 –
Reversal of impairment on property, aircraft and equipment (18) – (18) –
Impairment of subsidiaries – – 146 159
Impairment of reimbursement right – 37 – 37
Transfer of reimbursement right to Frankfurt defined  
benefit fund 75 – 75 –
Derivative market movements 120 (1 046) 120 (1 046)
Investment income (199) (453) (336) (645)
Finance costs 229 363 265 404
Impairment of assets less maintenance reserve 
written back 33 80 30 76
Movement in onerous contract provision (331) (698) (442) (651)
Release from air traffic liability (645) (826) (645) (826)
Movement in employee benefit obligations (69) 34 (69) 34
Foreign exchange effect on working capital 33 (3) 41 (25)
Impairment of accounts receivables 41 147 35 144
Non‑cash movement on non‑distributable reserves (35) (48) (35) (48)
Release from passenger tax levies (179) (176) (179) (176)
Unrealised foreign exchange gain of PDPs 99 64 99 64
Unrealised foreign exchange loss on revaluation of loans 193 211 117 211
Unrealised foreign exchange gain on security deposits (72) (85) (72) (85)
Unrealised foreign exchange loss on cash and 
cash equivalents 59 184 59 186

Changes in working capital:
Inventories (4) (144) 20 21
Trade and other receivables 736 (716) 405 (543)
Trade and other payables (560) 37 (493) 225
Air traffic liability 793 511 788 506
Frequent Flyer deferred revenue (115) 78 (115) 78
Provisions 118 (21) 98 (27)
Foreign exchange effect on working capital (33) 3 (41) 25

1 700 (1 811) 1 343 (1 408)
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44. FINANCIAL LIABILITIES BY CATEGORY
   Set out below is an analysis of all of the Group’s financial liabilities that are carried at either fair value or amortised cost in the 

annual financial statements depending on their classification:

Group 2010

Rand million Notes

Financial 
liabilities at 

amortised 
cost

Fair value 
through 
profit or 

loss – held 
for trading Total

Long‑ and short‑term liabilities 32 2 692 – 2 692
Finance lease obligation 38 10 – 10
Holding company loan to Share Trust 35 63 – 63
Trade and other payables 36 4 422 – 4 422

7 187 – 7 187

Group 2009

Rand million Notes

Financial 
liabilities at 

amortised 
cost

Fair value 
through 
profit or 

loss – held 
for trading Total

Long‑ and short‑term liabilities 32 3 768 – 3 768
Finance lease obligation 38 29 – 29
Holding company loan to Share Trust 35 63 – 63
Trade and other payables 36 5 127 – 5 127
Jet fuel derivatives 25 – 227 227

8 987 227 9 214

At Company level, the net amounts owing by subsidiaries are held at amortised cost.
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45. FINANCIAL ASSETS BY CATEGORY (continued)
   Set out below is an analysis of all of the Group’s financial assets that are carried at either fair value or amortised cost in the annual 

financial statements depending on their classification:

Group 2010

Rand million Notes

Amortised 
cost – 

loans and 
receivables

Fair value 
through 
profit or 

loss – held 
for trading Total

Options and swaps 25 – 11 11
Jet fuel derivatives 25 – 65 65
Trade and other receivables 26 2 679 – 2 679
Cash and cash equivalents 28 3 402 – 3 402
Defeasance deposit 27 122 – 122

6 203 76 6 279

Group 2009 – Restated

Rand million Notes
Loans and 

receivables

Fair value 
through 
profit or 

loss – held 
for trading Total

Forward contracts 25 – 43 43
Options and swaps 25 – 97 97
Trade and other receivables 26 3 362 – 3 362
Cash and cash equivalents 28 3 778 – 3 778
Defeasance deposit 27 349 – 349
Reimbursement right 21 – 75 75

7 489 215 7 704

Notes to the annual financial statements (continued)



South African Airways   95 AnnuAl RepoRt 2010

46. RISk MANAGEMENT
46.1 Financial instruments categories:
 Fair value of financial instruments
  The Group has estimated fair values where appropriate, by using the following methods and assumptions:

 Investment in unlisted shares classified as available for sale financial assets
  The investment in the unlisted shares is held as an ancillary investment, and is not considered a material holding to the Group. 

The value of the shares has been impaired to zero in the prior years. The Directors’ valuation based on the dividends yield model 
is utilised to determine fair value of this investment at each reporting date. This was considered an appropriate valuation basis 
as the Group holds a minority interest of less than 5%.

 Derivative assets and liabilities
  The derivative assets and liabilities are entered into to manage Group exposure to foreign currency, interest rates and jet fuel 

price risks. The Group derivatives include Brent oil and Brent oil commodity derivatives entered into mainly to manage jet fuel 
price risk, the forward contracts and call options. All these instruments are quoted on the market, and their fair value is therefore 
determined based on quoted market prices at specific dates.

  Foreign currency forward contracts are measured using the quoted forward exchange rates and yield curves derived from quoted 
interest rates matching maturities of the contracts.

  All other financial assets and liabilities are measured at amortised cost.

46.2 Governance structure
  The SAA Board is charged with the responsibility of managing the airline’s financial risks. It is assisted by the Financial, Risk and 

Investment Committee (FRIC). The FRIC is a committee of the Board and it meets at least once per quarter. The FRIC is 
supported by the Financial Risk Sub‑committee (FRSC), which meets on a bi‑weekly basis. The FRSC is chaired by the Chief 
Financial Officer and its membership is made up of key representatives: Treasurer, Corporate Finance, Cash Management, Chief 
Dealer, Risk Manager, Financial Risk Manager, Revenue, Pricing and Fuel Affairs.

  The Minister of Finance has given approval, on 30 January 2008, to delegate certain of the powers of the SAA Board in terms 
of section 66(6) of the PFMA, to the Finance Risk Sub‑committee (FRSC), which is limited to operational treasury functions as 
stated in the PFMA Approval from the National Treasury, via the DPE.

 Risk management department
  SAA has established an independent enterprise‑wide risk management department. This department is headed by a Chief Risk 

Officer who also oversees SAA’s compliance and internal audit functions. SAA Group Treasury has a separate risk management 
department, which oversees day‑to‑day risk measurement and monitoring and treasury operations.

 Risk management systems
  SAA has implemented a risk management system with advanced analytics to assist SAA’s risk department to accurately measure 

the diverse risks that the Company faces regarding the foreign exchange risk and fuel pricing risk. The treasury analytical toll is 
used to assist the management of the forward exchange risk and Jet fuel price risk exposure in the decision process of the 
hedging strategy.

  The capital risk and financial risk management is described below.

46.3 Capital risk management
  The Group manages its capital to ensure that entities in the Group will be able to continue as a going concern while maximising 

the return to stakeholders through the optimisation of the debt and equity balance.

  The capital structure of the Group consists of share capital and a government subordinated guaranteed loan that is classified as 
an equity instrument. The non‑distributable reserves include general reserves and government restructuring funds, which are 
ringfenced for funding of the Group’s restructuring activities to ensure that the entity returns to profitability with financial 
performance metrics similar to those of its world‑class peers. The debt included long‑term interest‑bearing borrowings and 
short‑term borrowings, including accounts payable and bank overdrafts.

  The cash injection from the government subordinated loan amounting to R423‑million is restricted.

  The Group retains a positive cash position and uses short‑term investment instruments to ensure continued funding of 
operations.

  Refer to the going concern details as per the Directors’ Report, note 5.
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46.3 Capital risk management (continued)
 Aircraft and engine financing
  Aircraft financing is typically conducted using specialised finance transactions, which are structured through bankruptcy remote 

special purpose vehicles (SPVs) that further syndicates the debt to a range of possible lenders. The SPV itself is simply a legal 
entity with an administrator and a single asset offset by the financing structure. In addition to the above, aircraft financing 
facilities tend to be concluded a short time before delivery of the aircraft and then become fully drawn when the aircraft is 
delivered.

 Gearing ratio
  The Board, through its Financial Risk and Investment Committee (FRIC) is responsible for the capital risk management of the 

Group. This committee meets regularly to review the capital risks, and their review includes considering the cost of capital and 
the risks associated with each class of capital. This committee sets targets and policies within which the Financial Risk 
Sub‑committee, and the Group Treasury, operates to execute the Board’s mandate.

  The gearing ratio in 2010 and 2009 respectively were as follows:
Group

2010 2009

Rand million Note Restated

Debt(1) 11 927 14 158
Less: Cash and cash equivalents 28 (3 402) (3 778)

Net debt 8 525 10 380

equity(2) 1 040 732
Net debt to equity ratio 8:1 14:1
Equity before government subordinated loan (260) (2 132)
Net debt to equity before government subordinated loan ratio 33:1 5:1

(1) Debt includes all current and non‑current liabilities and excludes all provisions.
(2)  The subordinated government guaranteed loan is classified as equity for purposes of capital risk management as it is advanced by the 

shareholder as a form of recapitalisation of the Group. In addition, the Group has no obligations to pay any cash in the form of repayment of 
principal or interest. Although the Group has no obligation in regard to this loan, the Group still considers the impact of any coupon payments 
in its liquidity requirements.

46.4 Financial risk management
   The fundamental objective of financial risk management at SAA is to protect and, where possible, improve on future budgeted 

and forecast cash flows, and the financial performance and financial position of the Group, by:

	 	 •	 	protecting	the	Group	from	adverse	market	movements	that	manifest	as	financial	downside	for	the	business	and	endanger	
stakeholders (shareholder, employees and the community), and threaten the sustainability and competitive position and 
reputational	risk	of	the	SAA	Group	in	the	market;

	 	 •	 		reducing	 the	 volatility	 and	 resultant	 uncertainty	 of	 operating	 revenues	 and	 cash	 flows	 that	 result	 from	 financial	 market	
volatility;	and

	 	 •	 	providing	some	price	stability	through	improving	the	transparency	of	price	mechanisms.

   The main financial market risks faced by the Group are liquidity, credit risk and market risk which consist of interest rate risk, 
currency risk and commodity price risk.

   The Board has a clear financial risk management policy with clearly defined objectives. This policy presents a framework and control 
environment that sets the limits within which management can leverage their experience and knowledge of the business together 
with financial risk management skills and a degree of innovation, to manage and mitigate financial risk on a day‑to‑day basis.
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46.4 Financial risk management (continued)
 Liquidity risk
   Liquidity risk is the risk that the Group may not meet its financial obligations on a cost‑effective and a timeous basis, and it could 

result in reputational damage in the event of default.

   The cash management and liquidity risk management processes are aimed at ensuring that the Group is managing its cash 
resources optimally, has sufficient funds to meet its day‑to‑day financial obligations, has established prudent limits on the 
percentage of debt that can mature in any financial year, is investing any cash surpluses in an appropriate and authorised way 
and has sufficient facilities in place to provide its required forecast liquidity requirement.

   The principles for cash and liquidity management at SAA as Group are as follows:

	 	 •	 	Transactional	banking	relationships	must	be	reviewed	every	five	years.	SAA	Treasury	is	responsible	for	the	recommendation	of	
bankers, and the Board through the Tender Board and the normal tendering process must approve the appointment of bankers.

	 	 •	 	All	 requests	 for	 the	 opening	 and	 closing	 of	 bank	 accounts	 and	 the	 management	 of	 bank	 account	 signatories	 are	 to	 be	
reviewed and approved by the Chief Financial Officer and the Group Treasurer.

	 	 •	 	Prudent	cash	management	practices	must	be	implemented,	 including	the	use	of	a	centralised,	pooled	cash	management	
bank account structure and systems, and the maintenance of minimum cash balances at operational level.

	 	 •	 		All	 companies	 within	 the	 Group	 are	 included	 in	 the	 cash	 management	 structure	 and	 form	 part	 of	 the	 cash	 and	 liquidity	
management practices of the Group.

   Cash and liquidity management takes into account the medium‑to‑long‑term funding plans of SAA as developed by the Funding 
and Capex Committee.

   The following are the contractual maturities of financial liabilities based on undiscounted cash flows, excluding the impact of 
netting agreements and the derivative financial instruments that are out‑of‑the‑money at year‑end. The derivative financial 
instruments that are in‑the‑money are reflected as financial assets.

Group and Company 31 March 2010

Rand million

Carrying
 principal

amount(1)

Contrac‑
tual 

amount(1)

Less 
than 

1 month
1 – 3 

months
3 – 6 

months
6 – 12

 months
1 – 5 

years
Over 

5 years

non‑derivative  
financial liabilities
US$‑denominated  
secured loans 148 162 – 15 2 16 102 27
US$‑denominated finance 
lease obligations 1 1 – 1 – – – –

total (uS$) 149 163 – 16 2 16 102 27

ZAR‑denominated  
secured loans(1) 1 613 2 392 – 140 121 260 1 410 461
Accounts payable 4 422 4 422 4 422 – – – – –
Holding company  
loan to Share Trust 63 63 – – – – 63 –

total (ZAR) 6 098 6 877 4 422 140 121 260 1 473 461

Derivative financial 
instruments
Fixed swaps 65 – – – – – – –
Fixed swaps 11 817 124 248 197 248 – –

total (ZAR) 76 817 124 248 197 248 – –

(1) The carrying principal amount excludes interest whilst the contractual amount includes interest.
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46. RISk MANAGEMENT (continued)

Group and Company 31 March 2009 – Restated

Rand million

Carrying
 principal 

amount(2)

Contrac‑
tual 

amount(2)

Less 
than 

1 month
1 – 3 

months
3 – 6 

months
6 – 12

 months
1 – 5 

years
Over 

5 years

non‑derivative  
financial liabilities
US$‑denominated  
secured loans 193 290 – 19 4 23 122 122
US$‑denominated finance 
lease obligations 3 3 – – 3 – – –

total (uS$) 196 293 – 19 7 23 122 122

ZAR‑denominated  
secured loans(1) 1 934 2 742 – 148 122 265 1 584 623
Accounts payable 5 127 5 127 5 127 – – – – –
Holding company 
loan to Share Trust 63 63 – – – – 63 –

total (ZAR) 7 124 7 932 5 127 148 122 265 1 647 623

Derivative financial 
instruments
Fixed swaps (229) (20) – (16) (3) (1) – –

Fixed swaps 96 22 – 9 8 5 – –
Forward exchange contracts 43 458 42 170 128 118 – –

total (ZAR) 139 480 42 179 136 123 – –

(1)  Non‑derivative liabilities included as part of disposal Group held for sale amounted to R1‑million (2008: R2‑million). There were no other 
financial liabilities or derivative assets from other companies within the Group.

(2) The carrying principal amount excludes interest whilst the contractual amount includes interest.

 Other risks
 Facilities held for Boeing 747 lease commitments
   The defeasance deposit is utilised mainly to fund the operating lease commitments relating to the B747 fleet. This was 

previously reported as held to maturity financial instrument category. Due to a decision made by the Board in 2008 to ground 
the whole Boeing 747 fleet, the defeasance deposit would be utilised to settle the outstanding liabilities and lease termination 
penalties;	any	shortfall	would	be	funded	from	the	Company’s	cash	and	cash	equivalents.	This	was	hence	classified	as	a	current	
asset. The aircraft have not been returned early hence this deposit is still classified as current due to the leases terminating 
within 12‑months after year‑end.

 Facilities held for unfunded post‑employment benefit obligations
  Previously the fixed deposit amounting to R58,7‑million at 31 March 2009 was utilised mainly to fund the unfunded pension 

obligation relating to the German outstation employees and was not available for any other short‑ or long‑term cash requirements. 
The deposit was created from the proceeds of the insurance policy lump sum payout when the employee reached retirement. 
During the current year, this deposit was transferred into the CTA. Refer to Note 41.4 for details.

 Undrawn commitment
  SAA has issued a debt facility to Mango, a 100%‑owned subsidiary in 2007. This facility remains open for Mango to utilise at its 

own discretion as and when they need cash funding. SAA does not expect Mango to utilise this facility within the next 12‑months. 
There were no other undrawn commitments at year‑end.
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 Interest rate risk
  Interest rate risk is the risk of increased financing cost due to adverse movements in market interest rates. Interest rate risk 

impacts SAA in the following forms:

	 	 •	 Increased	cash	costs	in	an	increasing	interest	rate	environment	due	to	the	Group’s	floating	aircraft	funding	structures.
	 	 •	 	The	opportunity	cost	of	funding	at	a	higher	rate	 in	a	declining	interest	rate	environment	due	to	the	Group’s	fixed	funding	

structures.
	 	 •	 	The	bulk	of	the	Group’s	interest	rate	exposure	is	as	a	result	of	US$‑denominated	aircraft	financing	structures.	This	portfolio	

is made up of operating leases, finance leases and loans. The portfolio is highly sensitive to the movement of US interest rates. 
The Group is continually monitoring and adjusting its fixed/floating ratio to adapt to the changing dynamics of its business 
operations and to protect its statement of comprehensive income and statement of financial position.

  The objectives of managing interest rate risk are to:

	 	 •	 	design	appropriate	funding	structures	(fixed	versus	floating,	and	local	versus	foreign	currency)	through	the	Funding	and	
Capex	Committee;

	 	 •	 reduce	the	cost	of	capital;
	 	 •	 minimise	the	effect	of	interest	rate	volatility	on	the	Group’s	financing	expenditure;
	 	 •	 manage	the	ratio	of	floating	rate	exposures	to	fixed	rate	exposures;
	 	 •	 obtain	optimal	investment	returns	on	surplus	cash,	whilst	ensuring	that	credit	risk	is	managed;
	 	 •	 ensure	that	appropriate	levels	of	liquidity	are	maintained,	while	remaining	within	the	guidelines	set	by	this	policy;
	 	 •	 ensure	efficiency	by	restructuring	interest	rate	exposure	as	and	when	necessary;	and
	 	 •	 the	current	policy	applied	to	interest	rate	risk	is	60%	fixed	and	40%	floating.

46.5 Credit risk management
   Credit risk is the risk of losses (realised or unrealised) arising from a counterparty defaulting on a financial market instrument 

where the Group is a party to the transaction or failure to service debt according to contractual terms. Credit risk encompasses 
both the direct risk of default and the risk of deterioration of creditworthiness and the respective concentration risk.

   The objectives of managing counterparty risk are to avoid contracting with any party that is not of an acceptable credit standing, 
formulate evaluation criteria of potential counterparties and implementing monitoring measures and control processes for 
counterparty risk.

   The Group is exposed to a number of types of counterparty risk as part of its normal business operations as described below:

 Investment risk
   Cash balances and investments held in a range of local and offshore bank accounts, in a range of currencies, which form part of 

SAA’s cash management and revenue collection infrastructure.

 Committed funding facilities
   SAA depends on funding in the form of leases and loans in foreign currency and local currency, mainly for the purchase of aircraft 

and aircraft components. The volatility of the financial markets, SAA’s financial standing and the difficulties experienced by the 
airline industry in general affect the availability of funding to airlines. Funding can sometimes be constrained to a limited number 
of counterparties at any given time. The underlying risk manifests in three forms:

	 	 •	 	SAA	 loses	 committed	 funding	 from	 a	 particular	 counterparty	 due	 to	 that	 counterparty	 defaulting	 on	 an	 existing	 funding	
arrangement.

	 	 •	 SAA	is	unable	to	secure	new	funding	at	a	particular	time.
	 	 •	 SAA	loses	assets	deposited	as	security	deposits,	defeasance	deposits,	or	cash	collateral	on	funding	structures.

 Marginal risk
   The Group makes use of derivative instruments in the foreign exchange, interest rate and commodity markets to mitigate the 

risk of adverse changes in cash flow and earnings that result from fluctuations in the financial markets. Counterparty risk arises 
on these derivative instruments when the hedging positions with counterparties have a positive net present value to SAA and 
are providing SAA with protection against adverse market movements in future. In this scenario SAA would lose the protection 
if the counterparty defaults on its obligation and SAA will have to replace this protection with similar hedging transactions at a 
higher cost. It is also important to note that, in the event that a counterparty goes into liquidation and its marginal risk position 
(net present value) is positive (an asset to the counterparty) with SAA, the Company may be called on by the creditors of the 
counterparty to crystallise and settle the positions in question earlier than anticipated.
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46. RISk MANAGEMENT (continued)
  Counterparties are grouped in two major groups from a credit risk perspective:

 Rated counterparties
   The assessment of rated counterparties follows the guidelines as set out in the Treasury Regulations issued in terms of section 

313 of the Public Finance Management Act of 1999, as amended, with further refinements in the approach to scoring and ranking 
of approved counterparties. Local and international banking and financial institutions, rated by major rating agencies with audited 
accurate and readily available financial information. 

 Unrated counterparties
   SAA needs to deal with and hold bank accounts in various exotic locations (where there are sales points and stations) with local 

banking institutions that may not be rated and for which there is very little or no financial information available. This is typically 
the case where there is no representation of any of the rated counterparties in such a location and SAA has to use an unrated 
counterparty to fulfil normal operational banking requirements, or where it is agreed by the Board as a prerequisite for specific 
operating bases. The Group has therefore a very restricted mandate when dealing with any unrated counterparties.

   The Group has operating accounts in some African countries which are not rated. The exposure to these banks is kept at a 
minimum.

 Loans and receivables credit risk
   The Group is exposed to credit risk relating to the nature of the distribution network for airline operations. The Group airline 

distribution network includes BSP (these are IATA‑accredited travel agents), and general sales agents (GSAs), who are used in 
countries where there are no IATA‑accredited travel agents. Credit card debtors arise from the customers paying their fares using 
credit cards and the Group has to recover the money through the credit card financial institutions clearing houses around the world.

   Other debtors mainly consist of loans receivable and fuel trading debtors. These are classified as other because they do not form 
part of the Group’s normal operating activities. The Group manages its credit risk from trade receivables on the basis of an 
internally developed credit management policy. This policy sets out the credit limits and requirements for any credit enhancements. 
The Group holds a guarantee from each GSA as a prerequisite before it can accredit it to be part of its distribution network. The 
Group also requires some counterparties to provide guarantees in the form of cash and letters of credit as security for exposure. 
This is prevalent mainly on GSAs. The amount of guarantees is agreed upon based on the risk profile of the counterparty. The fair 
value of these guarantees could not be reliably estimated. The guarantees relating to BSP debtors are held directly by IATA for the 
benefit of all exposed airlines to a particular BSP.

 Maximum exposure to credit risk
   The carrying amount of financial assets represents the maximum credit risk exposure. The maximum exposure to credit risk at 

the reporting date was as follows:

Group Company

Financial instruments 2010 2009 2010 2009

Rand million

Cash and cash equivalents 3 402 3 778 3 111 3 633
Investments – defeasance deposit 122 349 122 349
Derivative financial assets held for trading 76 140 76 140
Trade and other receivables 2 679 3 362 2 592 3 185

Financial instruments Group Accounts receivable 31 March 2010

Foreign 
currency 
amount

 ’000

Carrying 
amount 

R 000

+19%(1) 
‑19% 
US$ 

R 000

+11%(1) 
‑11% 
Euro 

R 000

+10%(1)

‑10% 
GBP 

R 000

US$‑denominated 180 358 1 313 608 244 599 – –
EUR‑denominated 8 658 85 185 – 6 886 –
GBP‑denominated 8 878 98 173 – – 6 498

244 599 6 886 6 498

(1) The percentages used are based on the average movement of these currencies over the past four years.
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46. RISk MANAGEMENT (continued)

Financial instruments

Group Accounts receivable 31 March 2009

Rand million

Foreign 
currency 
amount

 ’000

Carrying 
amount 

R 000

+19%(1) 
‑19% 
US$ 

R 000

+11%(1) 
‑11% 
Euro 

R 000

+10%(1) 
‑10% 
GBP 

R 000

US$‑denominated 187 346 1 782 110 338 600 – –
EUR‑denominated 5 517 71 280 – 7 850 –
GBP‑denominated 3 638 50 424 – – 4 460

338 600 7 850 4 460

	 	 	The	Group	does	not	 charge	 interest	 on	 any	overdue	 accounts;	 therefore	 the	 accounts	 receivable	 are	mainly	 sensitive	 to	
movements in major foreign currencies as detailed above.

46.6 Market risk management
  Market risk comprises currency risk, interest rate risk and other price risk.

  Set out below is the impact of market risk on the Group’s annual financial statements:

 Currency risk
   Foreign exchange risk is the risk of loss as a result of adverse movements in currency exchange rates. The biggest contributors 

to currency risk for the Group are foreign revenues earned at operating unit level, aircraft financing transactions and the 
covariance risks inherent in the Group’s revenue and cost streams. The Group’s approach to foreign currency risk management 
is to protect the Group and its shareholder against exchange rate volatility and adverse movements in the exchange rate of the 
Rand in relation to other currencies that the Group is exposed to. The Board made a decision to manage its foreign exchange 
risk exposures on net exposure basis, i.e. taking into account the different currencies it receives in its revenue stream, the 
different currencies in which its cost base is denominated, and the underlying natural hedges that exist in its business operations. 
Foreign exchange risk management is managed through the use of cash collection and conversion strategies and approved 
derivative financial instruments which are market‑to‑market on a daily basis. The Group’s policy on foreign exchange risk 
management is to hedge between 50% and 75% of its exposure on a 12‑month rolling basis.

   The Group’s currency risk is represented by the increased financial cost and/or cash requirements due to the net exposure 
between foreign revenue generated, foreign expenditure commitments and domestic revenues and expenditure commitments. 
The main objective of the currency risk management policy is to mitigate the potential for financial loss arising through 
unfavourable movements in exchange rates relative to the budget.

   Foreign exchange risk will be managed on a net basis, including operating and capital exposures after taking the following into 
consideration:

	 	 •	 Source	currencies	for	revenue	and	costs	(US$,	GBP	and	EUR).
	 	 •	 	Both	 direct	 and	 indirect	 foreign	 exposure.	 Indirect	 foreign	 exposure	 is	 where	 SAA	 pays	 in	 ZAR,	 but	 the	 exposure	 is	

determined by using a US$ price, for example jet fuel uplifted in South Africa.
	 	 •	 Volatility	of	the	Rand	versus	US$,	GBP	and	EUR	and	the	correlation	between	these	currencies.
	 	 •	 	Foreign	currency	exposures	are	determined	from	the	12‑month	rolling	ZAR	and	foreign	cash	budget.	Foreign	currency	risk	

will be monitored and managed under the following principles:
   –  The net foreign currency position will be monitored on a monthly basis, by obtaining the net foreign currency position in 

all currencies from the 12‑month rolling cash budget, including forecast foreign cash balances.
   –  The accuracy of forecast revenues and costs are of critical importance when determining net foreign currency exposure. 

Management should take care to establish the levels of confidence in achieving forecast revenues and costs on an 
ongoing basis when designing hedging strategies.

   –  The foreign versus domestic currency funding decision (loans/leases) should always consider current foreign currency 
risk management position and practices, since these decisions are a significant source of foreign currency exposure for 
the Group.

   The decision to manage capital foreign currency exposures (such as leases and loans) should be combined with the business 
strategy, route planning and funding decisions (as appropriate), to ensure that funding and foreign currency risk management 
strategies are complementary to the business strategy and present the most relevant overall solution to the Group.
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46.6 Market risk management (continued)
 Foreign exchange risk basis risk
   The Group collects revenues in approximately 30 currencies other than ZAR, EUR, GBP and US$. The foreign risk of exotic 

currencies cannot be practically managed at the local currency level, therefore the cash management structure rolls local 
currency balances up into hard currency pool accounts on a weekly basis. Currency risk exposures are managed at the hard 
currency level, i.e. in US$, GBP and EUR versus ZAR.

  The Group did not have any derivatives that qualified for hedge accounting in the current or prior year.

  The year‑end exchange rates applied in the translation of the Group’s foreign monetary assets and liabilities are as follows:

exchange rates used expressed in the number of Rands per unit of foreign currency:

2010 2009 2008

United States dollar (US$) 7,28 9,51 8,09
Euro 9,84 12,92 12,78
Pounds sterling (GBP) 11,06 13,86 16,09

 Foreign currency exposure at statement of financial position date
   The following debtors and creditors amounts included in the statement of financial position have not been covered by 

forward exchange contracts:

2010 2009 2010 2009

Rand million
Foreign
amount

Foreign
amount

ZAR
amount

ZAR
amount

Accounts receivable
US$ 180 187 1 314 1 782
Euro 9 6 85 71
UK pound 9 4 98 50
Hong Kong dollar 22 13 21 16
Danish krone 3 4 5 7
Canadian dollar – – 2 –
Swiss franc 1 – 6 –
Australian dollar 3 1 18 10
Brazilian real 20 11 86 47
Thailand baht 15 15 3 4
Malawian kwacha 233 206 12 14
Other – – 320 280

1 970 2 281

Accounts payable
US$ 144 14 1 052 136
Euro 37 9 362 113
UK Pound 23 1 251 10
Cape Verde escudo – 1 503 – 157
Benin CFA Franc BCEAO 2 803 – 42 –

(1 707) (416)
Accounts receivable as above 1 970 2 281

net exposure 263 1 865

   The Group reviews its foreign currency exposure, including commitments on an ongoing basis. The Company expects to hedge 
foreign exchange exposure with foreign exchange contracts and currency options.
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46.6 Market risk management (continued)
 Price risk
   Jet fuel consumption is SAA’s biggest cost contributor, representing approximately 30% of the Group’s cost base. Jet fuel prices 

have a high level of uncertainty caused by supply shocks, demand patterns, currency fluctuations, market sentiment and political 
events. Jet fuel price risk is the risk of increased cash cost of jet fuel due to an increase in the prices of the various jet fuel 
product prices that the Group pays for physical jet fuel purchased around the globe.

   SAA currently consumes approximately 100‑million litres (2009: 123‑million litres) of jet fuel per month. This means that any 
change in price will have a significant impact on the Group’s performance.

  The objectives of managing jet fuel price risk are to:

	 	 •	 reduce	the	volatility	of	jet	fuel	costs	and	the	effect	of	this	volatility	on	cash	flows	and	earnings,	i.e.	price	stability;
	 	 •	 limit	the	impact	of	derivative	instruments	on	the	Group’s	financial	position	and	performance;
	 	 •	 	occupy	a	competitive	position	 in	the	airline	 industry	 in	terms	of	 jet	fuel	price	risk	management,	negating	the	competitive	

advantage	that	competitors	derive	from	their	jet	fuel	risk	management	strategies;
	 	 •	 utilise	any	backwardation	in	the	energy	forward	curves	to	reduce	future	jet	fuel	costs;
	 	 •	 provide	a	protection	buffer	during	times	of	elevated	jet	fuel	prices;	and
	 	 •	 	to	continually	and	dynamically	transact	a	minimum	amount	of	hedging	in	the	financial	markets,	to	ensure	that	hedging	prices	

are averaged into the market and that large hedges are not transacted at single points in time, which may represent the peak 
of the market.

   The Group manages its jet fuel price risk exposures using derivative financial instruments. All derivative contracts are 
market‑to‑market and are cash settled. The Group’s risk policy permits the organisation to manage its jet fuel price risk exposures 
using the underlying products such as International Crude Exchange (ICE) Brent Crude Oil, ICE Gas Oil 0,5%s, Gas Oil, Western 
Texas Intermediate (WTI), FOB ARAB Gulf 0,5%s and Jet Kerosene (North West Europe) NWE. It is SAA’s policy to hedge 
between 40% and 60% of its jet fuel price risk exposures on a 12‑month rolling basis.

 Sensitivity analysis
   The Group sensitivity analysis would include the sensitivity of annual financial statements to currency risk based on US$, which 

carries a greater impact on the Group, the interest rate risk sensitivity to LIBOR and JIBAR, the other price risk sensitivity mainly 
driven by the price per barrel of oil‑based commodity derivatives.

   The following sensitivity analysis was determined based on the 12‑month horizon reasonable possible change at year‑end. 
Management has determined the reasonable possible change using market input and historical data. The 12‑months were considered 
appropriate as the Group only publishes its results annually. For internal reporting to FRIC, a one‑month horizon is utilised.

Notes to the annual financial statements (continued)



South African Airways   104              AnnuAl RepoRt 2010

46. RISk MANAGEMENT (continued)

 Derivative financial instruments 31 March 2010

Currency Commodity price derivatives

Foreign
 currency
 amount

Carrying 
amount

Loss 
impact 

‑19%
US$

Profit 
impact 

+19%
US$

Loss 
impact 

‑33% 
Brent

Profit 
impact 

+33% 
Brent

’000 R 000 R 000 R 000 R 000 R 000

ICe Brent commodity 
derivatives
  Asian call 8 772 63 887 (11 896) 11 896 (59 448) 349 089

ICe Gas oil commodity 
derivatives ‑35% +35%
  Asian call 111 805 (150) 150 (805) 39 817
  Forward exchange contracts 262 262 (3 400) 3 400 – –
  European call options 10 979 10 979 (10 694) 60 168 – –

75 933 (26 140) 75 614 (60 253) 388 906

 Derivative financial instruments 31 March 2009

Currency Commodity price derivatives

Foreign
 currency
 amount

Carrying 
amount

Loss 
impact 

‑19%
US$

Profit 
impact 

+19%
US$

Loss 
impact 

‑27% 
Brent

Profit 
impact 

+27% 
Brent

’000 R 000 R 000 R 000 R 000 R 000

ICe Brent commodity 
derivatives
  Asian call 3 300 31 389 (5 989) 5 989 (26 703) 46 926
  Collar (2 507) 23 848 (4 504) 4 504 (33 196) 38 830

ICe Gas oil commodity 
derivatives ‑36% +36%
  Fixed swaps 6 674 (63 490) (11 993) 11 993 (7 864) 7 864
  Forward exchange contracts 4 588 43 640 (167 065) 167 065 – –
  European call options 10 124 96 302 (58 056) 58 056 – –

131 689 (247 607) 247 607 (67 763) 93 620
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46. RISk MANAGEMENT (continued)

 non‑derivative financial instruments 31 March 2010

Currency Interest rate

Foreign
 currency
 amount

Carrying 
amount

Profit
(loss)

impact

Profit
(loss)

impact

Profit
(loss)

impact

Profit
(loss)

impact

’000 R 000 R 000 R 000 R 000 R 000

uS$‑denominated financial 
instruments

‑19%
US$

+19%
US$

‑110 bps
US$

+110 bps
US$

Secured borrowing – LIBOR 
floating debt 148 104 1 078 711 200 856 (200 856) 189 012 (188 411)
Accounts payable 144 393 1 051 691 195 824 (195 824) – –

Total financial liabilities 292 497 2 130 402 396 680 (396 680) 189 012 (188 411)

Defeasance deposit 16 698 121 626 (22 646) 22 646 (1 341) 1 341
Call deposit 113 832 829 098 (154 377) 154 377 (9 144) 9 144

Total financial assets 130 530 950 724 (177 023) 177 023 (10 485) 10 485

 non‑derivative financial instruments 31 March 2009

Currency Interest rate

Foreign
 currency
 amount

Carrying 
amount

Profit
(loss)

impact

Profit
(loss)

impact

Profit
(loss)

impact

Profit
(loss)

impact

’000 R 000 R 000 R 000 R 000 R 000

uS$‑denominated financial 
instruments

‑19%
US$

+19%
US$

‑97 bps
US$

+97 bps
US$

Secured borrowing – LIBOR 
floating debt 192 769 1 833 705 17 873 (17 873) 12 905 (17 905)
Accounts payable 14 322 135 236 25 735 (25 735) – –

Total financial liabilities 207 091 1 968 941 43 608 (43 608) 12 905 (17 905)

Defeasance deposit 36 667 348 796 (65 887) 65 887 (3 400) 3 400
Call deposit 59 000 561 235 (106 016) 106 016 (5 470) 5 470

Total financial assets 95 667 910 031 (171 903) 171 903 (8 870) 8 870
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46. RISk MANAGEMENT (continued)

non‑derivative financial instruments 31 March 2010

Impact on other components  
of equity in Rand

Rand million

Foreign 
currency 
amount 

’000

Carrying
 amount 

R 000

+11%
 ‑11%

 Euro/US$ 
R 000

+10%
 ‑10% 

GBP/US$ 
R 000

Denominated in Euro and GBP(1)

Accounts payable – Euro 36 811 362 191 29 279 –
Accounts payable – GBP 22 701 251 044 – 16 617

613 235 29 279 16 617

non‑derivative financial instruments 31 March 2009

Impact on other components  
of equity in Rand

Rand million

Foreign 
currency 
amount 

’000

Carrying
 amount 

R 000

+11% 
‑11%

 Euro/US$ 
R 000

+10%
 ‑10% 

GBP/US$ 
R 000

Denominated in Euro and GBP(1)

Accounts payable – Euro 8 812 113 838 12 523 –
Accounts payable – GBP 686 9 509 – 1 046

123 347 12 523 1 046

(1) The Group does not incur any interest on accounts payable.
 

 Lease commitments
   The Group lease commitments are denominated in US$ and with a floating LIBOR rate linked component. Therefore, these are 

exposed to both interest rate risk and foreign currency risk. This is considered to be a major unrecognised exposure which is 
estimated to amount to US$148‑million with interest rates from 2% to 5% LIBOR as per lease contracts.

 Foreign defined benefit obligations
   The Group is also exposed to foreign currency risk relating to its foreign defined benefit obligations. The Germany Pension 

Fund obligation is denominated in Euro and the UK pension obligation is denominated in GBP. Any movement is currency 
based on abovementioned and reasonable possible changes in USD and GBP would further impact the Group exposure to 
foreign currency risk.
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2010 2009

Rand million R 000 R 000

47. DIRECTORS’ EMOLUMENTS FOR SAA SUBSIDIARIES
executive directors’ emoluments

tulca (pty) limited – trading as Mango
Mr n Bezuidenhout
Salary 1 592 1 202
Variable pay 1 455 –

3 047 1 202

SAA technical (pty) limited
Mr CR else(2)

Salary – 1 362
Allowance – 42
Retirement fund contributions – 129
Restructuring bonus – 376
Termination benefits – 92
Retention premium – (22)

– 1 979

Mr SAH poprawa(3)

Salary 1 196 248
Allowance 449 216
Retirement fund contributions 160 34
Retention premium 314 79

2 119 577

Airchefs (pty) limited

All executives of Airchefs (Pty) Limited are shareholder representatives from SAA (Pty) Limited 
and consequently emoluments are paid by Airchefs (Pty) Limited with the exception of:

Mr pJ Bekker(1)

Salary 1 147 953

(1) PJ Bekker is Acting CEO of Airchefs. He was appointed on 2 October 2009.
(2)  CR Else was on the Executive Committee as well as the CEO of SAA Technical (Pty) Limited  

for the financial year 2008/09. He resigned on 4 February 2009.
(3)  SAH Poprawa was appointed as acting CEO of SAA Technical (Pty) Limited on 18 May 2009.

All executives of SAA City Centre (Pty) Limited are shareholder representatives from SAA  
(Pty) Limited and consequently emoluments are paid by SAA City Centre (Pty) Limited with  
the exception of:

SAA City Centre (pty) limited
Mr tFB lehasa
Salary 976 712
Retirement fund contributions 93 103
Allowance 100 158

1 169 973

Notes to the annual financial statements (continued)



South African Airways   108              AnnuAl RepoRt 2010

2010 2009

Rand million R 000 R 000

47. DIRECTORS’ EMOLUMENTS FOR SAA SUBSIDIARIES (continued)
non‑executive directors’ emoluments

tulca (pty) limited – trading as Mango
Dr C Wiese 355 328
Mr P Krusche 62 77
Mr R Wally 119 83
Adv F du Plessis 80 69
Mr T Adams 80 39
Adv L Nkosi‑Thomas(1) 27 –

723 596

SAA technical (pty) limited
Mr B Modise(2) – 10
Mr T Daka(3) 300 –

300 10

Airchefs (pty) limited
Mr B Modise(2) – 10
Ms MM Whitehouse 222 10

222 20

SAA City Centre (pty) limited
Mr IAM Semenya(4) – 20
Mr BF Mohale(1) 160 –

160 20

(1) Appointed 28 September 2009.
(2)  Resigned 28 September 2009.
(3)  Appointed 4 November 2009.
(4)  Resigned 13 September 2009.
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